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Corporate Profile

Shirble Department Store Holdings (China) Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited 
liability on 5 November 2008. The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are principally engaged in the 
operation of department stores in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

The Group is a one of the leading and long established Shenzhen-based department store chains. As of 31 December 2011, 
the group owned and operated 16 department stores, of which 11 are within Shenzhen, two are located in Changsha and 
Shanwei, respectively and three are located in Dongguan. Most of the Group’s stores have similar exterior and interior designs 
including layouts, colour schemes and decors, thereby enhancing customers’ awareness of the brand “ ”.

A broad range of merchandise is offered in the stores, including footwear, textiles, apparel, cosmetics, children’s and 
households’ goods, electrical appliances, daily consumer products and household necessities, which enables the Group to 
capture a wide and diverse range of customers. The Group’s department stores principally target the mid-market segment, 
aiming to offer its customers with a wide range of quality merchandise and customer-oriented services, as well as a 
convenient and comfortable “one-stop” shopping environment. It also caters for the higher-end segment of the retail market 
for certain categories of products by offering well-known international and domestic branded products in its stores, so as to 
capture the demand of customers with higher consumption power. It is believed that this market position enables the Group 
to capture high growth potential in the PRC retail sector.
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Financial Highlights

A summary of the results and assets, liabilities and equity of the Group for the last five financial years is set out 

below:

Operating Results

Year ended 31 December

RMB’000 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

Turnover 1,433,586 1,279,619 1,148,030 1,079,940 1,004,464

Profit from operations 95,043 260,966 138,341 104,416 100,421

Profit before tax 114,999 267,466 174,832 108,721 107,184

Profit attributable to equity shareholders 

 of the Company 71,632 200,082 140,304 89,516 100,747

Earnings per share (RMB per share) 

 – Basic and diluted 0.03 0.1 0.07 0.05 0.05

Assets, Liabilities and Equity

At 31 December

RMB’000 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

Total assets 2,939,650 2,457,413 1,269,343 1,244,494 1,078,023

Total liabilities 1,384,481 926,369 1,007,122 831,950 754,995

Total equity 1,555,169 1,531,044 262,221 412,544 323,028

Direct sales

Concessionaire sales

Income from reversal of 
long-aged pre-paid gift 
cards

GROss sALEs PROCEEDs - BY CAtEGORY
RMB (million)

2011

1,171.1
1,109.8

21.3

2010

1,014.4 1,035.2

0
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Financial Highlights

2010

12.5%15.1%

24.4%41.7%

3.2%3.1%

GROss sALEs PROCEEDs - BY PRODuCt CAtEGORY

Electronics and home appliances

Clothes, apparel and bedding

Children’s goods

Sporting and stationery goods

Food and beverages

Daily necessities and cosmetic goods

Income from reversal of long-aged 

pre-paid gift cards

Turnover

Other operating revenue

Other net (loss)/income

Direct sales

Commission from concessionaire sales

Rental income

Income from reversal of long-aged 

pre-paid gift cards

2011

10.6%15.2%

25.1%42.6%

2.8%2.8%

0.9%

tuRnOvER AnD OthER REvEnuE
RMB (million)

tuRnOvER BY CAtEGORY
RMB (million)

2011

1,433.6

111.2

(40.7) 2010

1.4

1,279.6

181.4

0

1,014.4

219.9

45.3

2010

1,171.1

198.1

43.1

2011

21.3
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Financial Highlights

2010

1,109.8
1,035.2

2011

17.9%

21.2%

20102011

172.9

141.4

14.8%
13.9%

2010

71.6

200.1

2011

5.0%

15.6%

95.0

2011 2010

6.6%

261.0

20.4%

GROss PROfit AnD MARGin Of DiRECt 
sALEs
RMB (million)

COnCEssiOnAiRE sALEs AnD 
COMMissiOns As A PERCEntAGE Of 
COnCEssiOnAiRE sALEs
RMB (million)

Gross profit of direct sales

Margin of direct sales (%)

Concessionaire sales

Commission rate (%)

PROfit fROM OPERAtiOns AnD 
OPERAtinG MARGin
RMB (million)

Profit from operations

Operating margin (%)

nEt PROfit AnD nEt PROfit MARGin
RMB (million)

Profit for the year

Net profit margin (%)
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Chairman’s Statement

I would like to refer to the announcements of the Company dated 30 March 2012, 30 April 2012, 31 May 2012 and 

12 June 2012 on the delay in the publication of 2011 annual result. The delay was principally due to (a) the time 

required for the Group to provide the auditors of the Company (“Auditors”) with additional information on certain 

transactions engaged by the Group in 2011, (b) the time required by the Audit Committee to review and investigate 

the transactions qualified by the Auditors in the audited accounts of the Group, and (c) the time required for Moore 

Stephens to conduct an investigation on the qualified transactions and prepare the Moore Stephens Review Report. 

The Directors have worked closely with the Auditors and provided such information as required for the purpose 

of completion of the relevant auditing procedures, albeit that the Auditors do not consider that the information is 

sufficient for the purpose of expressing an unqualified opinion in respect of certain transactions entered into by 

Shirble Department Store (Shenzhen). A qualified opinion is issued by the Auditors in respect of the transactions.

Nevertheless, the Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors who are the members of the Audit 

Committee) consider that the fundamentals of the Group remained strong with the turnover and the total gross 

proceeds received from its customers increased in 2011.

MARkEt AnALYsis AnD BusinEss REviEw

In 2011, the Group focused on the business expansion in the second- and third-tier cities in Guangdong Province 

and the establishment of an operational platform to support the growth. Despite a general slowdown in the growth 

of the PRC economy, the Group’s total gross sales proceeds recorded a growth of 12.3% reaching RMB2,302.2 

million in 2011 from RMB2,049.6 million in 2010. Turnover increased by 12.0% to RMB1,433.6 million in 2011 from 

RMB1,279.6 million in 2010. Due to (a) the increase in the administrative expenses and the operating costs (mainly 

rental expenses and personnel costs) incurred for the department stores opened in 2010 and 2011 at a faster pace 

than the increase in sales in 2011; (b) the decrease in other revenue and (c) the increase in the personnel cost, 

provision for tendering deposit and the impairment loss on the prepayments for the acquisition of a property in 

Haifeng County, Guangdong Province, the PRC, the profit attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company 

declined to RMB71.6 million in 2011 from RMB200.1 million in 2010. 

In May 2011, the Group entered into an agreement to acquire a property in Shajing, Bao’an District, Shenzhen 

for the purchase price of RMB262.5 million. The property is expected to have GFA of 35,000 sq. m. The Group’s 

original plan was to open a new department store at the property in 2013. In March 2012, however, in view of the 

construction progress and based on further assessment of the latest status of the project by the executive Director 

and senior management of the Group, the Group decided to terminate the acquisition and the vendor agreed to, 

and has refunded the amount of the purchase price to the Group.

In June 2011, the Group expanded its department store network through the acquisition of the operating rights of 

two department stores in Dongguan City for the purchase price of RMB29.0 million. The two department stores have 

an aggregate GFA of 17,598 sq. m. The two department stores, namely the Changfu Store and the Liaobu Store, 

were open in December 2011. These department stores are very close to the road transportation hub of Dongguan 

City.
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Chairman’s Statement

In September 2011, the Group opened the Liansheng Store in Dongguan City with gross floor area (“GfA”) of 

12,877 sq. m. Together with the Changfu Store and the Liaobu Store, the opening of three department stores 

in Dongguan City enables the Group to capture the business opportunity in one of the key cities in Guangdong 

Province. 

In December 2011, the Group entered into an agreement to acquire a property in Shanwei City, Haifeng County for 

the purchase price of RMB168.0 million. The property consists of a three-storey commercial building with GFA of 

18,933.38 sq. m. The business expansion into Dongguan City and Shanwei City is part of the Group’s strategy to 

open new department stores in the second- and third-tier cities in Guangdong Province, the PRC.

In 2011, the Group completed its first-stage renovation plan for selected department stores, focusing mainly on 

the enhancement of their ancillary facilities. The second-stage renovation plan for other department stores of the 

Group is in progress. The renovation plan is important in enhancing the recognition of the brand of the Group and 

improving the shopping experience of the customers.

As of 31 December 2011, the Group owned and operated a total of 16 department stores, including 11 department 

stores in Shenzhen, one in Shanwei City, one in Changsha City and three in Dongguan City. The aggregate GFA of 

the 16 department stores is 239,159 sq. m.

In 2011, the Group continued to promote its VIP customer programme. The Directors believe that the implementation 

of a new computerised system could also provide a platform to enhance the communications with the Group’s VIP 

customers, which would enhance the customers’ loyalty. As of 31 December 2011, the Group had 614,000 VIP 

customers, representing an increase of 22.8% from 500,000 customers as of 31 December 2010. Sales from these 

VIP customers accounted for 63.2% of the Group’s total gross sales proceeds.

In order to capture the new business opportunities from customers in the PRC looking for lifestyle products, in 

January 2012, the Group established SMART Lifestyle Specialty Store, a high-end supermarket with GFA of 2,600 

sq. m. in Shenzhen.
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Chairman’s Statement

BusinEss OutLOOk

Looking ahead, the Directors are cautiously positive on the continuous economic development in the PRC in 2013 

and believe that the PRC government will continue the implementation of favourable economic policies to sustain 

the growth in the domestic consumption in the PRC, which could facilitate the continuous growth of the retail sector 

in the PRC amid the international economic uncertainties.

Continue expansion into second- to third-tier cities in Guangdong Province

The Group targets to open not less than four department stores by the end of 2012 to increase the Group’s 

total GFA to approximately 365,000 sq. m. These department stores are planned to be located at Shanwei City, 

Dongguan City and Shenzhen. In view of the economic growth in the second- and third-tier cities in Guangdong 

Province and leveraging the brand recognition of the existing department stores of the Group in Shenzhen, the 

Group intends to establish a network of department stores in these regions. In December 2011, the Group acquired 

a property in Shanwei City, Haifeng County, and a new department store was opened within the property in 

November 2012. In the near future, the Group will continue to expand into the neighboring regions of Guangdong 

Province in order to increase its market share in these regions.

upgrade of the information technology system

The Group has commenced the upgrade of its information technology system, with the first stage encompassing the 

basic infrastructure, enhancement of finance and business intelligence modules, logistics functions and the point-of-

sale management functions. The trial operation of the system has begun in October 2012. The Directors expect that 

the overall operational procedures and management efficiency will be improved after completion of the upgrade.

Enhancement of the distribution network and logistics system

The Group has enhanced its distribution capability and services by leasing a new distribution centre in Shenzhen 

in April 2012. The distribution centre, together with the upgrade of the information technology logistics module, will 

help to improve the inventory management and control systems and increase the operational efficiency of the Group.

strengthening of the internal control procedures and recruitment of new management teams

The Group recruited new experienced management teams at each operational level starting from December 2011. 

The Group will continue to recruit new management teams as part of the improvement measures of the internal 

control procedures. The Directors believe that the new management could bring expertise in the relevant areas to 

support the business development of the Group.
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Chairman’s Statement

COnCLusiOn

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”), I would like to take this opportunity to express 

my sincere gratitude to all management and employees, business partners and customers of the Group for their 

continuous support. In addition, I would like to thank all of the Company’s shareholders and investors for their 

ongoing support. We are all very excited about the Group’s growth, and we are confident that the Group will make 

further progress and deliver good value to shareholders as a result of the continuing economic growth in the PRC.

YAnG Xiangbo

Chairman

5 December 2012
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Management Discussion and Analysis

finAnCiAL REviEw

total gross sales proceeds

The Group’s total gross sales proceeds (representing the sum of revenue from direct sales, total sales proceeds 

from concessionaire sales within the department store and reversal of deferred income in respect of long-

aged unredeemed pre-paid cards) grew to RMB2,302.2 million in 2011, representing an increase of 12.3% from 

RMB2,049.6 million in 2010. The increase was mainly attributable to the inclusion of the full-year performance of 

the Shajing Store and the Minzhi Store, the sales contribution from the three department stores in Dongguan City 

opened in 2011 and the recognition of proceeds of RMB21.3 million from pre-paid cards which Directors consider 

the likelihood of redemption for such pre-paid cards was remote.

Revenue from direct sales amounted to RMB1,171.1 million in 2011, while total sales proceeds from concessionaire 

sales amounted to RMB1,109.8 million, and income from reversal of long-aged pre-paid gift sales amounted to 

RMB21.3 million, accounting for 50.9%, 48.2% and 0.9%, respectively of the Group’s total gross sales proceeds.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The following table sets forth the Group’s total gross sales proceeds divided by the principal product categories:

Year ended 31 December

2011 2010

RMB million % RMB million %

Electronics and home appliances 243.6 10.6 255.4 12.5

Clothes, apparel and bedding 577.5 25.1 500.7 24.4

Children’s goods 65.1 2.8 65.3 3.2

Sporting and stationery goods 65.2 2.8 63.9 3.1

Food and beverages 980.1 42.6 854.5 41.7

Daily necessities and cosmetic goods 349.4 15.2 309.8 15.1

Others 21.3 0.9 – –

2,302.2 100.0 2,049.6 100.0
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Management Discussion and Analysis

turnover

The Group’s turnover amounted to RMB1,433.6 million in 2011, representing an increase of 12.0% as compared 

to RMB1,279.6 million in 2010. The increase was principally due to the growth in turnover generated from direct 

sales and reversal of deferred income in respect of pre-paid cards for which Directors considered the likelihood of 

redemption was remote.

Direct sales increased by 15.4% to RMB1,171.1 million in 2011 from RMB1,014.4 million in 2010, principally due 

to the opening of the three department stores in Dongguan City in 2011 and the continuous increase in the sales of 

three department stores in Changsha, Longzhu and Huahaoyuan. Direct sales as a percentage of the Group’s total 

turnover was 81.7% in 2011 as compared to 79.3% in 2010.

Commission from concessionaire sales decreased by 9.9% to RMB198.1 million in 2011 from RMB219.9 million 

in 2010. The decrease was principally due to reduction in commission rate as a result of additional promotional 

activities and the slight inclination to supermarket sections at the three new Dongguan stores during the year. 

The commission rate of concessionaire sales was 17.9% as compared to 21.2% in 2010. Commission from 

concessionaire sales as a percentage of the Group’s total turnover was 13.8% in 2011 as compared to 17.2% in 

2010.

Rental income decreased slightly by 4.8% to RMB43.1 million in 2011 from RMB45.3 million. Rental income as a 

percentage of the Group’s total turnover was 3.0% as compared to 3.5% in 2010.

Income from reversal of long-aged pre-paid cards represented the reversal of deferred income in respect of long-

aged pre-paid cards of RMB21.3 million for which Directors considered the likelihood of redemption was remote. No 

such income was recognised in 2010.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

From the second half of 2012, the Group will conduct a review on the level of usage of the prepaid cards to ensure 

timely recognition of income twice a year. The prepaid cards balances that have not been used for a prolonged 

period will be recognised as income after being approved by the chief executive officer. In general, the balances of 

pre-paid cards can be recognised as income when the pre-paid cards have not been used in an extensive period 

or when the management considers that the possibility of subsequent use of the pre-paid cards is reasonably low. 

The management of the Group will conduct analysis based on the historical records of the pre-paid card usage 

to determine the possibility of its subsequent use and then the balances may be recognised as income or other 

appropriate accounting treatment may be made accordingly. The Group has also standardised the management 

of value-added tax (“vAt”) filing treatment for prepaid cards sold by the Group. The Group was advised that VAT 

obligation will be incurred at the time when pre-paid cards were sold or when the customers use the pre-paid cards 

for purchase at the Group’s department stores. In practice, the Group issues invoices for bulk-purchase prepaid 

cards and upon payment of goods by retail customers using prepaid cards, and VAT filing will be made monthly in 

accordance to the invoices issued. In terms of the accounting treatment of the prepaid card purchases, the Group 

adopts a prudent approach by making provision for the VAT according to the accumulated balance of the pre-paid 

cards sold by the Group.

Other operating revenue

Other operating revenue decreased by 38.7% to RMB111.2 million in 2011 from RMB181.4 million in 2010. The 

decrease was mainly due to less revenue earned after more stringent internal control imposed as a result of the new 

government policies imposed during the year.

Other net (loss)/income

Other net loss amounted to RMB40.7 million in 2011 as compared to other net income of RMB1.4 million in 2010 

which was mainly attributable to the impairment loss on prepayment for acquisition of a property in Haifeng and 

provision for tendering deposit. Please refer to notes 17(b)(iv) and 17(c)(i) for details.

Purchases of and changes in inventories

Purchase of and changes in inventories amounted to RMB998.2 million in 2011, representing an increase of 14.3% 

as compared to RMB873.0 million in 2010, which was in line with the increase in turnover from direct sales. As a 

percentage of turnover from direct sales, purchases of and changes in inventories was 85.2% in 2011 as compared 

to 86.1% in 2010.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Personnel costs

Personnel costs increased by 36.4% to RMB134.3 million in 2011 from RMB98.5 million in 2010, primarily due 

to the increase in headcounts for the three newly opened Dongguan stores, as well as the recognition of full year 

directors’ remuneration of the Company and personnel costs of Shajing and Minzhi stores opened in second half of 

2010.

Depreciation and amortisation

Depreciation increased by 27.0% to RMB39.6 million in 2011 from RMB31.2 million in 2010, primarily attributable to 

the increase in leasehold improvements and machinery for the new stores.

Operating lease rental expense

Operating lease rental expense increased by 25.1% to RMB135.7 million in 2011 from RMB108.5 million in 2010. 

This increase was mainly attributable to inclusion of whole-year rental expenses of Shajing and Minzhi stores which 

were opened in the second half of 2010, the rental expenses of the new Shenzhen headquarter and the Dongguan 

store which will be opened in 2012.

Other expenses

Other expenses, which mainly comprised utility expenses, advertising, marketing, promotion and related expenses, 

other tax expenses, bank charges and maintenance expenses, increased by 12.1% to RMB101.3 million in 2011 

from RMB90.3 million in 2010. This was primarily due to the increase in number of stores in 2011.

Profit from operations

As a result of the reasons mentioned above, the Group’s profit from operations decreased by 63.6% to RMB95.0 

million in 2011 from RMB261.0 million in 2010, mainly as a result of the increase in operating costs for the stores 

opened in 2010 and 2011 which outpaced the increment in sales during the year as well as the impairment loss 

recognised for the acquisition of a property in Haifeng and provision for tendering deposit.

finance income

Finance income increased significantly by 171.1% to RMB22.2 million in the year ended 31 December 2011 from 

RMB8.2 million in 2010 which was primarily attributable to the full year interest earned from bank deposit of net 

proceeds received from the initial public offering of the shares in November 2010.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

finance costs

Finance costs increased by 34.1% to RMB2.3 million in 2011 from RMB1.7 million in 2010 was primarily attributable 

to the increase in interest paid for the outstanding bank borrowings.

income tax expense

Income tax expense amounted to RMB43.4 million, representing a decrease of 35.6% from RMB67.4 million in 

2010. The effective tax rate applicable to the Group was 24%. In addition, pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income 

Tax Law, the Group is liable to withholding taxes on dividends distributed by subsidiaries established in China. The 

applicable tax rate for the Group is 5%.

Profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

As a result of the aforementioned, profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company decreased by 64.2% 

from RMB200.1 million in 2010 to RMB71.6 million in the year ended 31 December 2011.

tRADE AnD OthER RECEivABLE

As of 31 December 2011, the Group’s trade and other receivable was RMB567.8 million, representing an increase 

of RMB416.2 million from RMB151.6 million as of 31 December 2010. The amount mainly represented the 

prepayments for decoration works to be carried out for new stores of the Group in Dongguan, Haifeng and Meizhou 

and amounted to RMB88.9 million; the amount of RMB224.5 million paid for the acquisition of property, plant 

and equipment located in Shenzhen and Haifeng and the prepayments to a number of suppliers for procurement 

of supermarket goods which amounted to RMB152.5 million. Certain amounts of prepayment and deposits was 

refunded to the Group subsequent to the reporting period. Please refer to the paragraphs under “Post Balance 

Sheet Events” for details.

LiQuiDitY AnD finAnCiAL REsOuRCEs

As of 31 December 2011, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents amounted to RMB1,303.3 million, decreased by 

RMB432.7 million from RMB1,736.0 million as of 31 December 2010. The cash and cash equivalents, which were 

in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi, were deposited with banks in Hong Kong as short-term deposits for interest 

income and banks in the PRC.

As of 31 December 2011, the Group’s outstanding bank borrowing amounted to RMB243.2 million (2010: Nil). The 

borrowings are denominated in Hong Kong dollars of fixed interest rate of 1.104% per annum. The gearing ratio 

of the Group expressed as a percentage of interest-bearing bank loans over the total assets was 8.3% as of 31 

December 2011. The Group will continue to review its cashflow position and review the bank borrowings when 

necessary.



Shirble Department Store holDingS (China) limiteD • aNNUaL rEPOrT 2011

16

Management Discussion and Analysis

net current assets and net assets

The net current assets of the Group as of 31 December 2011 were RMB1,171.6 million, representing decrease 

of RMB92.3 million. The net assets of the Group as of 31 December 2011 increased to RMB1,555.2 million, 

representing an increase of 1.6%.

Pledge of assets

As of 31 December 2011, RMB430.2 million was pledged to bank.

fOREiGn EXChAnGE EXPOsuRE

The Group mainly operates in PRC with most of its transactions settled in RMB. Certain of the Group’s cash and 

bank balances are denominated in Hong Kong dollars and the Company pays dividends in Hong Kong dollars which 

expose the Group to foreign exchange risks arising from the translation of Hong Kong dollars against RMB. In 2011, 

the Group recorded a net foreign exchange loss of RMB0.7 million. The Group has not used any forward contracts, 

currency borrowings or other means to hedge its foreign currency exposure.

EMPLOYEEs

As of 31 December 2011, the total number of employees of the Group was 3,012. The Group’s remuneration policy 

is determined with reference to market conditions and the performance, qualifications and experience of individual 

employees.

COntinGEnt LiABiLitiEs

As of 31 December 2011, the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities.

usE Of nEt PROCEEDs

On 17 November 2010, the shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and the 

Group raised net proceeds of approximately HKD1,313.4 million (after deducting underwriting fees and related 

expenses). Up to 31 December 2011, approximately RMB40.0 million out of net proceeds was used for the opening 

of a department store in Shanwei, Guangdong Province, and approximately RMB80.3 million was used for the 

opening of three new stores in Dongguan, Guangdong Province.
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Directors and Senior Management

DiRECtORs

Executive Directors

Mr. YAnG Xiangbo, Executive Chairman, acting Chief Executive Officer and a member of Remuneration Committee

Mr. YANG Xiangbo, aged 49, was appointed as a Director on 5 November 2008. Mr. YANG is also a director 

and chairman of Shenzhen Shirble Department Store Co., Ltd. (“shirble Department store (shenzhen)”) and 

Shenzhen Shirble Chain Store Limited Liability Company (“shirble Chain store”), a director of Shirble Department 

Store (Hong Kong) Limited (“shirble Department store (hong kong)”) and Shirble Department Store Investment 

Limited (“shirble hong kong”), and an executive director of Shirble Mingxing Trading Company Limited (“shirble 

Mingxing trading”), Changsha Shirble Apparel Company Limited (“shirble Apparel”), Shenzhen Xiangzhixuan 

Trading Company Limited (“shirble Xiangzhixuan”), Shenzhen Ruizhuo Trading Company Limited (“shirble 

Ruizhuo”) and Shenzhen Yuzhixiang Trading Company Limited (“shirble Yuzhixiang”). Mr. YANG is the founding 

investor and is responsible for formulating the overall business development strategies and providing the overall 

management directions of the Group. From 1984 to 1990, Mr. YANG was engaged in trading of products including 

daily necessities and construction materials in Guangzhou and Shenzhen. In 1990, Mr. YANG established Shirble 

Holdings Limited (which is not part of the Group). From 1992 to late 1995, Mr. YANG operated a department store 

in Shenzhen named Dajiangnan Shopping Mall. Mr. YANG ceased to operate Dajiangnan Shopping Mall in late 

1995. From 1992 to 2006, Mr. YANG was a director of Haerbin Hatou Investment, which has been listed on the 

Shanghai Stock Exchange since 1994, the principal business of which is the provision of electricity and heat. In late 

1995, through his savings, Mr. YANG established Shirble Department Store (Shenzhen) with the first department 

store in Shenzhen opened in January 1996. Part of the equity interest in Shirble Department Store (Shenzhen) was 

held by Haerbin Hatou Investment during the period between February 2000 and August 2006. Mr. YANG served 

as a director of China Merchants Bank from 1993 to 1995 and a director of China Minsheng Bank from 1995 to 

2003. Mr. YANG has been a member of the eighth, ninth and tenth sessions of the National Committee of the 

Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference. In 1993, Mr. YANG was granted a honorary doctor’s degree in 

engineering from Haerbin Institute of Technology. Mr. YANG is the father of Mr. YANG Ti Wei and the uncle of Mr. 

ZHU Bijiang, both being members of the senior management team. Mr. YANG is a director of Shirble Department 

Store Limited (“shirble Bvi”) and Xiang Rong Investment Limited (“Xiang Rong investment”), both being the 

Company’s substantial shareholders.

independent non-executive Directors

Ms. ZhAO Jinlin, the Chairperson of the Audit Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee

Ms. ZHAO Jinlin, aged 43, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 18 June 2010. Ms. ZHAO 

obtained a bachelor’s degree in mechanical engineering from the Xian Jiaotong University in 1989, a master’s degree 

in accountancy from the Southwestern University of Finance and Economics in 1995 and a doctor’s degree in 

accountancy from the Jinan University in 2005. From 1995 to 2006, Ms. ZHAO worked in the Local Tax Bureau of 

Shenzhen and was responsible for providing guidance on tax collection and tax policies. Since 2006, Ms. ZHAO has 

been engaged in teaching and research work at the Faculty of Economics of the Shenzhen University, specialising 

in finance management and taxation management, and is now a professor in accounting and an instructor of 

postgraduate students. From 2006 to 2007, Ms. ZHAO provided financial advice to a factory in Shenzhen. Ms. 

ZHAO has also been an academic committee member of the China International Taxation Research Institute since 

August 2008, a committee member of the Shenzhen International Taxation Research Institute since March 2004 and 

a committee member of the Shenzhen Local Taxation Research Institute since March 2004.
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Mr. ChEn fengliang, the Chairperson of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee
Mr. CHEN Fengliang, aged 38, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 18 June 2010. Mr. 
CHEN obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics from the Inner Mongolia University in 1995. From 1995 to 1998, 
Mr. CHEN was a planning officer in the planning department of the Yike Zhao League branch of The Agricultural 
Bank of China. From 1998 to 2001, Mr. CHEN studied at the Graduate School of the People’s Bank of China 
and obtained a master’s degree in economics in 2001. From 2001 to 2003, Mr. CHEN was the secretary to the 
president’s office of China Eagle Securities Company Limited. From 2003 to 2005, Mr. CHEN was a manager of 
risk control of China Eagle Asset Management Company Limited. Since 2006, Mr. CHEN has been a director of 
investment of Shanghai Sino-V Asset Management Company Limited.

Mr. JiAnG hongkai, the Chairperson of the Nomination Committee and members of the Audit Committee and 
the Remuneration Committee
Mr. JIANG Hongkai, aged 46, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director appointed on 18 June 2010. 
Mr. JIANG obtained a bachelor of science degree in chemistry from South China Normal School in 1986. From 
1986 to 1994, Mr. JIANG was a high school teacher. In 1994, Mr. JIANG became qualified as a lawyer in China after 
passing an examination required for admission as a PRC lawyer. From 1994 to 2003, Mr. JIANG worked as a lawyer 
in Guangdong Jihe Law Firm. Since 2003, Mr. JIANG has been working as a lawyer in the King & Capital (Shenzhen) 
Law Firm (formerly known as the Shenzhen branch of King & Capital Law Firm).

sEniOR MAnAGEMEnt

Mr. YAnG ti wei, aged 25, is the Group’s Executive Vice President and Chief Administrative Officer. Mr. YANG Ti 
Wei joined the Group in June 2009 and is principally responsible for the overall strategic development, operational 
and logistics management, information technology infrastructure planning and coordination of marketing and 
promotional activities of the Group. Mr. YANG Ti Wei is a director of Shirble Department Store (Shenzhen), and 
a supervisor of Shirble Chain Store, Changsha Shirble Department Store Limited Liability Company (“shirble 
Department store (Changsha)”), Shirble Mingxing Trading, Shirble Xiangzhixuan, Shirble Ruizhuo, Shirble 
Yuzhixiang and Shirble Apparel. Mr. YANG Ti Wei obtained a bachelor’s degree in business management from the 
University of Surrey in 2010. Mr. YANG Ti Wei is the son of Mr. YANG Xiangbo.

Mr. Li kuansen, aged 37, is the Group’s Vice President and Chief Operating Officer. Mr. LI joined the Group in 
February 2012 and is responsible for operations, procurement, marketing and supply chain of the Group. He has 
previously worked in Walmart China and Renrenle Commercial Group Co., Ltd. and has over sixteen years of 
experience in managing the business operation of supermarkets in the PRC.

Mr. ChEn ZhiGang, aged 34, is the Group’s Vice President and Chief People Officer. Mr. CHEN joined the Group 
in December 2011 and is responsible for human resources, administration and government affairs of the Group. He 
has previously worked in B&Q China and Walmart China and has over ten years of experience of all-rounded human 
resources management in multinational companies.

Ms. wAn Yu foon, aged 52, is the Group’s Vice President. Ms. WAN joined the Group in July 2011 and is 
responsible for the daily management of the SMART specialty store of the Group. She has previously worked in 
Campbell Soup Far East Limited, Lucullus Food & Wines Company Limited and City Super Limited and has more 
than 28 years of retail industry experience in China and Hong Kong. Ms. WAN obtained a bachelor’s degree in 
business administration from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 1983 and a master’s degree in business 
administration from The City Polytechnic of Hong Kong (now known The City University of Hong Kong) in 1992.
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Ms. ChAn Chore Man, Germaine, aged 32, the Chief Financial Officer, Company Secretary and Investor 
Relationship Manager of the Company. Ms. CHAN is responsible for overseeing the overall financial and corporate 
governance matters of the Group. Ms. CHAN obtained a bachelor’s degree in accounting from the Hong Kong 
University of Science and Technology in 2002. Prior to joining us in July 2010, Ms. CHAN has over five years of 
experience in the investment banking sector and two years of experience in the accounting and tax department at 
Ernst and Young. Ms. CHAN has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since 
2006.

Mr. Pi QuBin, age 35, the Chief Development Officer. Mr. PI joined the Group in August 2012. Prior to joining the 
Group, he was employed at China Resources Vanguard Co., Ltd as Director of Development for Southern District. 
He has accumulated over 11 years experience in property acquisition and project development.

Mr. iP wai Man, aged 44, the Group’s Chief Information Officer. Mr. IP joined the Group in February 2011 and is 
responsible for providing technology leadership in development and implementation of the information operation 
platform of the Group. Mr. IP has previously worked in Tse Sui Luen Jewellery Company Limited and City Super 
Limited and has over twenty years of experience in the IT sector of which fifteen years are within the retail industry. 
Mr. IP obtained his bachelor’s degree in Physics from The University of Hong Kong in 1990 and a master’s degree 
in business administration from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2009. Mr. IP is a certified SAP solution 
consultant and a member of Project Management Institution with the credential of Project Management Professional.

Mr. wAnG XinRu, aged 39, is the Group’s Senior Director of Procurement. Mr. WANG joined the Group in February 
2012 and is responsible for procurement business of the Group. He has previously worked in Walmart Business 
Information (Shenzhen) Co. Ltd. and Tesco China Co. Ltd. and has over thirteen years of experience in the area of 
procurement in multinational companies.

Ms. huAnG Bihui, aged 40, the Director of Finance. Ms. HUANG is principally responsible for overseeing all the 
accounting, finance and budget matters of Shirble Department Store (Shenzhen). In January 1996, Ms. HUANG 
joined Shirble Department Store (Shenzhen) as a supervisor of the finance department and was subsequently 
promoted to a finance manager before becoming the Director of Finance in 2005. In 2009, Ms. HUANG received a 
master’s degree in business administration from the Shanghai University of Finance and Economics.

Mr. Zhu Bijiang, aged 39, the Director of Asset Procurement. Mr. ZHU is responsible for procurement of assets 
for all the department stores. He is also a director of Shirble Chain Store and an executive director of Shirble 
Department Store (Changsha). Mr. ZHU graduated from a four-year part-time course on laws organised by Tongji 
University in 2006. Mr. ZHU joined Shirble Department Store (Shenzhen) in August 1995 as a procurement manager 
and has been promoted to be the Director of Procurement since January 2008 and became the Director of Asset 
Procurement Since April 2012. Mr. ZHU is a nephew of Mr. YANG.

Mr. hE Ge, aged 42, the Deputy Director of Procurement specialised in the sourcing, procurement, management of 
concessionaire counters and product planning of supermarket items for all the department stores. Mr. HE graduated 
from a four-year part-time course on business administration from the Ningxia University in 2006. Mr. HE joined 
Shirble Department Store (Shenzhen) in July 1995 as a procurement officer and was subsequently promoted to be a 
deputy manager of the procurement department before becoming the Deputy Director of Procurement since January 
2005.
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Ms. Liu Lixin, aged 54, the Director of Corporate Affairs. Ms. LIU is principally responsible for the management 
of corporate affairs for the Group. Ms. LIU graduated from a two-year full-time course in chemistry from the Anhui 
Suzhou Normal School in 1980, and a further two-year course in chemistry from the Xinjiang Education Institute in 
1991. Ms. LIU joined Shirble Department Store (Shenzhen) in June 1995 and has worked as an administration officer 
and assistant of the general manager of Shirble Department Store (Shenzhen) and the Deputy Director of Business 
Operation before being promoted to the Director of Corporate Affairs since April 2012.

Mr. YEunG tak wah, age 54, the Director of Design & Construction. Mr. YEUNG joined the Group in April 2012. 
Prior to joining the Group, he was employed at Wal-Mart as the facilities managing director and was the head of 
the engineering and real estate department at Shanghai Commercial Bank Limited, Hong Kong, during the period 
between August 2009 and February 2011. He was also the general manager for the engineering, facilities and design 
departments of Park’n’Shop, Hong Kong. He has accumulated over 26 years of experience in the engineering field 
and is a member of Hong Kong Institution of Engineers and the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors.

Ms. Ou Guo Ping, age 42, the Director of Store Operations. Ms. OU joined the Group in February 2012. Prior to 
joining the Group, she was employed at Wal-mart as senior project manager in new business model and project 
construction department. She was also the head of fresh food section at Wal-mart. She has accumulated over 15 
years of experience in retail management, including shopping mall operational management, restructuring, new store 
opening and the development of new business models.
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The Board is pleased to present the report on the affairs of the Company, together with the consolidated financial 

statements and auditor’s report, for the year ended 31 December 2011.

PRinCiPAL ACtivitiEs

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability on 5 November 2008 as an exempted 

company with limited liability under the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of 

the Cayman Islands.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries are the operation of department stores in the PRC.

REsuLts

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2011 are set out in the consolidated statement of 

comprehensive income on page 46 of this report.

PROPOsED finAL AnD sPECiAL DiviDEnDs

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of RMB0.0062 in cash per share (2010: RMB0.0041) for 

the year ended 31 December 2011 and a special dividend of RMB0.0221 per share (2010: Nil) of the Company. 

Upon the approval being obtained in the forthcoming annual general meeting, the above final and special dividends 

will be paid to shareholders whose name appear on the register of members of the Company at close of business on 

7 February 2013. The proposed final and special dividends will be paid in Hong Kong dollars, and will be calculated 

by reference to the middle rate published by the People’s Bank of China for the conversion of RMB to Hong Kong 

dollars as of 30 January 2013.

PROPERtY, PLAnt AnD EQuiPMEnt

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment during the year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated 

financial statements.

shARE CAPitAL

Details of the movements in share capital during the year are set out in note 24(b) to the consolidated financial 

statements.

REsERvEs

As at 31 December 2011, distributable reserves of the Company included the Company’s retained earnings 

amounted to RMB5,464,000 and the Company’s share premium amounted to RMB894,338,000. By passing an 

ordinary resolution of the Company, dividends may also be declared and paid out of share premium account or 

any other fund or account which can be authorized for this purpose in accordance with the Companies Law of 

the Cayman Islands. Details of the movements in reserves of the Company and the Group during the year are set 

out in note 24(a) to the consolidated financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity, 

respectively.
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ChARitABLE DOnAtiOns

The Group did not make any charitable donations for the year ended 31 December 2011.

PRE-EMPtivE RiGhts

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of association and the laws of the 

Cayman Islands do not impose any limitations on such rights.

DiRECtORs

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report are as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. YANG Xiangbo (Chairman)

Madam YANG Xiaomei (retired on 17 November 2011)

independent non-executive Directors:

Ms. ZHAO Jinlin

Mr. CHEN Fengliang

Mr. JIANG Hongkai

Pursuant to Article 83(3) of the Articles, the Directors shall have the power from time to time and at any time to 

appoint any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an addition to the existing 

Board. Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting of 

Shareholders after his appointment and be subject to re-election of such meeting and any Director appointed by the 

Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of the 

Company and shall then be eligible for re-election. Any Director appointed pursuant to Article 83(3) of the Articles 

shall not be taken into account in determining which particular Directors or the number of Directors who are to retire 

by rotation.

Pursuant to Article 84 of the articles of association of the Company, at each annual general meeting one-third of the 

Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than 

one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual 

general meeting at least once every three years and shall then be eligible for re-election.

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association and the Code on Corporate Governance Practices 

contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the The Stock Exchange of Hong 

Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), Mr. YANG Xiangbo, Mr. Chen Fengliang and Mr. Jiang Hongkai will retire at the 

forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. All retiring Directors, being eligible, offer themselves for re-

election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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DiRECtORs’ sERviCE COntRACts

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract, together with supplement, with the Company for 

an initial term of three years commencing on the 17 November 2010. The service contract shall continue thereafter 

and may only be terminated in accordance with the provisions therein contained by either party giving to the 

other not less than three months’ prior notice in writing. Mr. YANG Xiangbo will receive an annual Director’s fee of 

HK$1,440,000 under the service contract.

The three independent non-executive Directors have signed new letters of appointment for a term of three years 

commencing from 18 June 2011. The annual fee for each independent non-executive Directors is HK$300,000.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has entered or has proposed to enter into any service agreements 

with the Company or any of its subsidiaries (other than contracts expiring or determinable by the employer within 

one year without payment of compensation other than statutory compensation).

REtiREMEnt sChEMEs

Employees of the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC and Hong Kong are required to participate in defined 

contribution retirement schemes. Particulars of these retirement plans are set out in note 6(b) to the financial 

statements.

DiRECtORs’ AnD ChiEf EXECutivEs’ intEREsts AnD shORt POsitiOns in shAREs, 
unDERLYinG shAREs AnD DEBEntuREs Of thE COMPAnY AnD its AssOCiAtED 
CORPORAtiOns

As at 31 December 2011, the interests of the directors of the Company in the shares of the Company and its 

associated corporations as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the Securities and 

Futures Ordinance (the “sfO”); or as otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 

Limited (the “stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed 

Companies (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules were as follows:

(a) Long positions in shares of the Company

name of director Capacity number of shares

Percentage 

of shareholding

Mr.YANG Xiangbo1 Interest in a controlled corporation 1,662,487,500 66.6%

Note:

(1) Mr. YANG Xiangbo is the beneficial owner of all the issued share capital of Xiang Rong Investment, which in turn owns 

the entire issued share capital of Shirble BVI and is deemed to be interested in the 1,662,487,500 shares held by Shirble 

BVI.
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(b) Long positions in the shares of associated corporations

name of director

name of associated 

corporations Capacity

number 

of shares

Percentage 

of shareholding

Mr. YANG Xiangbo Shirble BVI Interest in a controlled 

 corporation

50,000 100%

Mr. YANG Xiangbo Xiang Rong Investment Beneficial owner 100 100%

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2011, none of the directors or chief executives of the Company 

had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its 

associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept by 

the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange 

pursuant to the Model Code; nor had there been any grant or exercise of rights of such interests for the year ended 

31 December 2011.

suBstAntiAL shAREhOLDERs’ intEREsts AnD shORt POsitiOns in shAREs AnD 
unDERLYinG shAREs Of thE COMPAnY

As at 31 December 2011, so far as is known to any Director or chief executive of the Company, the following 

persons (other than a Director or chief executive of the Company), had interests or short positions in the shares or 

underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.

Long position in the shares of the Company

name Capacity

number 

of shares

Percentage 

of shareholding

Shirble BVI Beneficial owner 1,662,487,500 66.6%

Xiang Rong Investment Interest in a controlled corporation 1,662,487,500 66.6%

Homey Enterprises Limited1 Beneficial owner 150,000,000 6.0%

Note:

(1) Madam YANG Xiaomei is the beneficial owner of all the issued share capital of Homey Enterprises Limited which holds 

150,000,000 shares and is deemed to be interested in the shares held by Homey Enterprises Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2011, the Directors are not aware of any person (other than a Director 

or chief executive of the Company) who had any interests or short positions in shares or, underlying shares of the 

Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.
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shARE OPtiOn sChEME

The Company adopted a Share Option Scheme (the “scheme”) pursuant to the resolutions of the shareholders of 

the Company passed on 30 October 2010:

A summary of the Scheme is as follows:

1. The purpose of the Scheme is to recognise and acknowledge the contributions that the eligible participants 

have made or may make to the business development of the Group. Apart from the determination of the 

subscription price, the Directors will have an absolute discretion to impose performance targets on the option 

holders before any option that can be exercised with reference to the objectives of the Share Option Scheme. A 

consideration of HK$1.0 will be payable upon acceptance of the offer.

2. The eligible participants of the Scheme are:

(i) any executive, non-executive or independent non-executive Director;

(ii) any employee of the Group; and

(iii) any customer, supplier, agent, business or joint venture partner, consultant, distributor, promoter, service 

provider, adviser or contractor to any member of the Group.

3. The maximum number of shares may be granted under the Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the issued share 

capital of the Company (i.e. 250,000,000 shares) as at 17 November 2010 (the “Listing Date”).

4. Unless approved by shareholders, no option may be granted to any eligible participants which if exercised 

in full would result in the total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the share options 

already granted or to be granted to such eligible participant (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding 

share option) in the 12-month period up to and including the date of such new grant exceeding 1% of the total 

number of shares in issue as at the date of such new grant.

5. An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Scheme at any time during the period to be 

notified by the Board to the grantee save that such period shall not be more than 10 years from the business 

day on which the option is deemed to have been granted in accordance with the terms of the Scheme. There is 

no minimum period for which an option must be held before it can be exercised.

6. An offer is deemed to be accepted when the Company receives from the eligible participants the offer letter 

signed by the eligible participants specifying the number of shares in respect of which the offer is accepted 

and a remittance to the Company of HK$1.00 as consideration for the grant of option. Such remittance is not 

refundable in any circumstances. 
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7. The subscription price in respect of each share under the Scheme shall, subject to any adjustments made as 

described below, be a price determined by the Board and notified to the eligible participant and shall be no less 

than the highest of: (i) the nominal value of a Share; (ii) the closing price of each share as stated in the Stock 

Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of offer to the eligible participant, which must be a day on which 

licensed banks are open for business in Hong Kong and the Stock Exchange is open for business of dealing in 

securities (a “trading Day”); and (iii) the average closing price of each share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s 

daily quotations sheets for the five (5) consecutive Trading Days immediately preceding the date of offer to the 

eligible participant.

8. The Scheme will remain in force until 29 October 2020.

Since the date of adoption of the Scheme and up to the date of this report, no options have been granted under the 

Scheme.

REMunERAtiOn POLiCY

The employees’ and Directors’ remuneration is determined with reference to salaries paid by comparable companies, 

experience, responsibilities and performance of the Group. In addition to the fees, salaries, housing allowances, 

other allowances, benefits in kind or bonuses, the Company has conditionally adopted the Scheme pursuant to 

which the participants, including the Directors, may be granted options to subscribe for the shares.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and emoluments of the five highest paid individuals in the Group are set out in 

notes 8 and 9 to the financial statements.

DiRECtORs’ intEREst in COMPEtinG BusinEss

As at 31 December 2011, none of the Directors or their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had 

any interest in a business, which competes or may compete with the business of the Group.

As disclosed in the prospectus of the Company dated 5 November 2010 (the “Prospectus”), the Controlling 

Shareholders (as defined in the Prospectus) and the executive Directors (collectively, the “Covenantors”) have 

entered into a deed of non-competition in favor of the Company with effect from the Listing Date. The Covenantors 

have provided the Group with written confirmations that they and their associates (other than members of the Group) 

have fully complied with the deed of non-competition for the year ended 31 December 2011.

The independent non-executive Directors have conducted an annual review on the Covenantors’ compliance with 

the deed of non-competition, the options, the pre-emptive rights or first rights of refusals provided by the Controlling 

Shareholders (as defined in the Prospectus) on their existing or future competing businesses.
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MAnAGEMEnt COntRACts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of 

the Company were entered into or existed during the year.

DiRECtORs’ RiGht tO ACQuiRE shAREs OR DEBEntuREs

Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in 

Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” and “Share Option Scheme” above, at no time during the year was the 

Company and any of its subsidiaries of the Company and its associated corporations a party to any arrangement to 

enable the Directors or chief executive or any of their spouse or children under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by 

means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

ARRAnGEMEnts tO PuRChAsE shAREs

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any 

arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in the Company or 

any other body corporate.

COnnECtED tRAnsACtiOns

Details of the significant related party transactions, undertaken in the ordinary course of business are set out in note 

28(a) to the financial statements. The transactions stated below constitute continuing connected transactions as 

defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Lease agreement with Luhe County shirble inn (“shirble inn”)

Pursuant to a lease agreement dated 1 June 2004 and a supplemental agreement dated 1 March 2010 entered into 

between Shirble Chain Store and Shirble Inn, Shirble Chain Store has agreed to lease the property with a total area 

of 2,227 sq. m. located at the 1st Floor and 2nd Floor of Shirble Inn from 3 June 2004 until 31 December 2012 as 

the Group’s Luhe store. The annual rental is fixed at RMB198,000.

Shirble Inn is ultimately controlled by Mr. YANG Xiangbo, an executive Director and a controlling shareholder (as 

defined in the Listing Rules) (“Controlling shareholder”). Hence, Shirble Inn is an associate of Mr. YANG Xiangbo, 

being a connected person of the Company. Thus, Shirble Inn is a connected person of the Company.

Lease agreements with shenzhen Guozhan investment Development Co., Ltd (“shenzhen 
Guozhan”)

Pursuant to a lease agreement dated 9 October 2009, Shirble Department Store (Shenzhen) leased part of the 

Shenzhen Distribution Centre of 7,500.43 sq. m. from Shenzhen Guozhan for the period from 15 September 2009 

to 31 December 2012 for the Group’s continuous use as distribution centre. The monthly rental is RMB33 per sq. m., 

i.e. an annual rental of RMB2,970,000.



Shirble Department Store holDingS (China) limiteD • aNNUaL rEPOrT 2011

28

Directors’ Report

In addition, pursuant to another lease agreement and a supplemental agreement both dated 29 June 2009, Shirble 

Department Store (Shenzhen) leased from Shenzhen Guozhan a property of 13,298.93 sq. m. located at the building 

complex situated at Shangbu North Road, Bagualing Zone 7-1, Futian District, Shenzhen, the PRC. The property is 

part of the Group’s Shenzhen Distribution Centre. The lease periods are set forth below:

Area Period Monthly rental

(sq. m.) (RMB)

3,556.07 1 January 2009 to 31 December 2012 117,350.31

9,742.86 1 April 2009 to 31 December 2012 321,514.38

total 438,864.69

Shenzhen Guozhan is owned as to 20% by Mr. ZHU Huayue, Mr. YANG Xiangbo’s brother-in-law and as to 80% by 

Ms. ZHU Bihui, Mr. YANG Xiangbo’s niece. Hence, Shenzhen Guozhan is a connected person of the Company under 

the Listing Rules.

Lease agreements with shenzhen Ruizhuo investment Development Co., Ltd (“Ruizhuo investment”)

1. Lease of part of the Shenzhen Distribution Centre

Pursuant to a lease agreement and a supplemental agreement both dated 29 June 2009, Shirble Department 

Store (Shenzhen) leased from Ruizhuo Investment a property of 3,345.82 sq. m. located at the building complex 

situated at Shangbu North Road, Bagualing Zone 7-1, Futian District, Shenzhen, the PRC. The property is part 

of the Group’s Shenzhen Distribution Centre. The lease periods are set forth below:

Area Period Monthly rental

(sq. m.) (RMB)

1,695.63 1 January 2004 to 29 February 2008 and 

 1 December 2008 to 31 December 2012 55,955.79

277.43 1 January 2004 to 31 December 2012 9,155.19

1,372.76 1 July 2002 to 31 December 2012 56,283.16

total 121,394.14

The aggregate annual rental payable pursuant to the lease of part of the Shenzhen Distribution Centre is 

RMB1,457,000.

2. Lease of a commercial property as a tobacco sales counter

Pursuant to a lease agreement dated 12 January 2010, Shirble Chain Store leased from Ruizhuo Investment 

a property of 39.02 sq. m. located at Bao’an Road, Luohu District, Shenzhen, China for the period from 10 

January 2010 to 9 January 2013 at a monthly rental of RMB1,678, i.e. an annual rental of RMB20,134. The 

property is used as a tobacco sales counter of the Group’s Hongbao store.
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Ruizhuo Investment is owned in equal shares by Mr. ZHU Bijiang, who is a member of the Group’s senior 
management team and a nephew of Mr. YANG Xiangbo, and Ms. ZHU Bihui, who is a niece of Mr. YANG Xiangbo. 
Hence, Ruizhuo Investment is a connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules.

All of the above transactions involve lease of properties from entities controlled by Mr. YANG Xiangbo or his 
associates. The continuing connected transactions represented by the lease agreements with Shirble Inn, Shenzhen 
Guozhan and Ruizhuo Investment should be aggregated and treated as if they were one transaction pursuant to 
Rule 14A.25 of the Listing Rules.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the aggregate annual rental paid under the lease agreements with Shirble 
Inn, Shenzhen Guozhan and Ruizhuo Investment was amounted to RMB9,703,000 which was within the applicable 
annual cap of RMB9,914,000.

The above constitute continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and a waiver from 
strict compliance with the announcement and shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing 
Rules has been granted by the Stock Exchange.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed and confirmed that the above continuing connected 
transactions were:

(i) carried out in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Company;

(ii) carried out on normal commercial terms; and

(iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the 
interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

PAst COnnECtED tRAnsACtiOns

Shirble Department Store (Shenzhen) entered into certain transactions with Shenzhen Tangming Logistic Co., 
Ltd. (“tangming”), Shenzhen Hengda Investment Development Co., Ltd. (“hengda investment”) and Shenzhen 
Guozhan Investment Development Co., Ltd. (“shenzhen Guozhan”). These transactions constituted connected 
transactions and should have been disclosed pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Cash advance to tangming, hengda investment and shenzhen Guozhan and the reasons for 
making the cash advances

During the period between January 2011 and March 2012, Shirble Department Store (Shenzhen) had made 19 
interest-free and short-term cash advances in the aggregate amount of RMB72.5 million to Tangming, Hengda 
Investment and Shenzhen Guozhan. The purpose of these cash advances was to provide working capital to 
Tangming, Hengda Investment and Shenzhen Guozhan, upon their requests, against cheques drawn in favour of 
Shirble Department Store (Shenzhen). All of the cash advances were fully returned to the Group within two weeks 
of each cash advance. As of the date of this report, none of Tangming, Hengda Investment and Shenzhen Guozhan 
had any amount due to any member of the Group and there were no occurrences of dishonoured cheques received 
from the connected persons (as defined in the Listing Rules). 

The executive Director and the senior management of the Group confirm that the reason for making these cash 
advances was that the Group had excessive cash balance at that time. Given that all of the cash advances were 
made following the receipt and deposit of current-dated cheques (except for four transactions of RMB150,000.0, 
RMB26,287.5, RMB182,139.6 and RMB6,000,000.0 which were made after the receipt but shortly before the 
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deposit of the relevant cheques) drawn in favour of Shirble Department Store (Shenzhen) and that all these 
companies were connected persons (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company, the executive Director and 
the senior management of the Group considered that the risk of recoverability to the Group was not significant. The 
executive Director and the senior management of the Group, in view of the connected relationship, considered that 
such advances do not have any material adverse impact on the business operations of the Group.

Each cash advance was made against cheque(s) drawn by the payees of the cash advances and the Company had 
ensured that the connected persons (as defined in the Listing Rules) have sufficient bank balances for honouring the 
cheques and as such, the executive Director and the senior management of the Group believed that there was no 
change in the cash position of the Group and there was no need to charge any interest. Because of this opinion and 
the low credit risk as assessed by the executive Director and the senior management of the Group, there was no 
interest (which is a parameter of the level of risk that the lender may be exposed to for the non-payment of the loan 
or advance) charged on the amount of cash advances. Based on the current deposit interest rate, the Company 
would have earned bank interest in the amount of RMB795.4 if the cash advances were deposited in its bank 
accounts at the relevant time.

The executive Director and the senior management of the Group considered the cash advances, which were made 
against current-dated cheques in favour of Shirble Department Store (Shenzhen), were made on normal commercial 
terms and would not have any material adverse impact on the cash position of the Group. More importantly, the 
executive Directors and the senior management of the Group considered that there was no risk involved in the cash 
advances and hence, no interest should be charged on the amount. Based on the then prevailing interest rate, the 
amount of interest foregone would be minimal and as such, the executive Director and the senior management 
of the Group were of the view that the cash advances were insignificant to the business operations of the Group. 
Hence, the executive Directors and the senior management of the Group did not consult the compliance advisers 
and the legal advisers nor disclose the transaction on the misunderstanding that such short-term cash advances 
would not constitute connected transactions for the Company under the Listing Rules. The executive Director and 
the senior management of the Group did not seek the Board’s approval prior to the transactions.

The Audit Committee’s opinion on the cash advances

The Audit Committee has reviewed the bank remittance records of Shirble Department Store (Shenzhen) and noted 
that the payment and deposit records were consistent with the representations of the executive Director. On this 
basis, the Audit Committee concurs with the view of the executive Director that the credit risk involved in the cash 
advance transactions was minimal. The Audit Committee has also reviewed the calculation of the amount of the 
interest foregone and concurs with the view of the executive Director that the amount of interest foregone was 
minimal and as such, the fact that the cash advances was made interest-free could be considered as transactions 
entered into by the Group upon normal commercial terms.

Nevertheless, the Audit Committee does not consider that the cash advances are part of the ordinary course of 
business of the Group and that the cash balance of the Group should not have been used as advances to third 
parties, regardless of their relationship with the Group. These cash advances are different from lines of credit 
provided to the customers of the Group which were provided by the Group after thorough study and assessment.

In light of the above, the Audit Committee considers that there was internal control weakness in cash management 
of the Group. The executive Director has confirmed to the Company no cash advances will be made to any third 
party, other than those relating to the business of the Group.
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internal control measures

The Audit Committee is of the view that the prohibition of future cash advance transaction is reasonable and in 
the best interest of the Company. The Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors who are the 
members of the Audit Committee) confirm that the Company will not make any cash advance in the future and that 
all connected transactions will be conducted in full compliance with the Listing Rules.

The Group has implemented procedures so that prior approvals from the chief financial officer and the company 
secretary of the Company would be required before conducting any related party transactions, transactions of more 
than RMB3.0 million and any other possible transactions which may constitute notifiable transactions (as such term 
is defined under the Listing Rules) and connected transactions (as such term is defined under the Listing Rules).

information on tangming, hengda investment and shenzhen Guozhan

Tangming is a company established in the PRC and is principally engaged in the business of logistics. Tangming 
is wholly-owned by Ms ZHU Bihui, who is a niece of Mr. YANG Xiangbo, the chairman of the Company. Hence, 
Tangming is a connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules.

Hengda Investment is a company established in the PRC and is a property investment company. Hengda Investment 
is ultimately controlled by Mr. YANG Xiangbo and hence, a connected person of the Company under the Listing 
Rules. Hengda Investment had been the shareholder of Shirble Department Store (Shenzhen) before the restructuring 
of the Group.

Shenzhen Guozhan is a company established in the PRC and is a property investment company. Shenzhen Guozhan 
is wholly-owned by Mr. YANG Xiangbo’s brother-in-law and niece. Hence, Shenzhen Guozhan is a connected 
person of the Company under the Listing Rules. Shenzhen Guozhan has entered into another continuing connected 
transaction with the Group to lease part of the Shenzhen distribution center to the Group from 2009 till 2012 as 
disclosed in the Prospectus. 

implications under the Listing Rules

As the advancements to Tangming, Hengda Investment and Shenzhen Guozhan involve advances to entities 
controlled by connected persons of the Company, all the advancements to Tangming, Hengda Investment and 
Shenzhen Guozhan shall be aggregated and treated as if they were one transaction pursuant to Rule 14.22 of the 
Listing Rules.

As the applicable percentage ratios (as defined in the Listing Rules) exceeded 0.1% but is less than 5% in respect 
of the aggregate cash advances to Tangming, Hengda Investment and Shenzhen Guozhan and that the Audit 
Committee considers that these transactions were conducted upon normal commercial terms (for the reasons set 
forth above), the cash advances should have been subject to the reporting and announcement requirements, but 
are exempt from independent Shareholders’ approval under the Rule 14A.66 of the Listing Rules. In addition, as the 
cash advances to Tangming, Hengda Investment and Shenzhen Guozhen constitute connected transactions under 
the Listing Rules, the Company should enter into written agreements with the relevant parties in respect of the 
advances pursuant to Rule 14A.04 of the Listing Rules.

The Company did not enter into written agreements and did not disclose the cash advances to Tangming, Hengda 
Investment and Shenzhen Guozhan pursuant to the Listing Rules at the time of the transactions reaching the 
required thresholds under Rule 14A.32 of the Listing Rules. Hence, this failure constitutes a breach of Rule 14A.04, 
Rule 14A.63 and Rule 14A.66 of the Listing Rules. The Stock Exchange has indicated to the Company that it 
reserves the right to take further action against the Company and/or its Directors in respect of the breach of the 
Listing Rules. The Stock Exchange has also indicated to the Company that it reserves the right to require the cash 
advances to be subject to the approval of the independent Shareholders and hence, the failure of obtaining such 
approval at the time of the transactions would also constitute a breach of Rule 14A.48 of the Listing Rules in such 
event.
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PuRChAsE, sALE OR REDEMPtiOn Of ListED shAREs Of thE COMPAnY

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Company repurchased 5,000,000 ordinary shares on the Stock 
Exchange at an aggregate purchase price of HK$5.1 million (equivalent to RMB4.2 million) pursuant to the general 
mandate granted by the shareholders at the annual general meeting held on 14 April 2011. The repurchases were 
effected by the Directors for the enhancement of shareholders’ value. All the shares repurchased during the year 
have been cancelled upon delivery of the share certificates.

Details of the repurchase were as follows: 

Month/Year
number of shares 

repurchases highest price paid Lowest price paid total consideration
hk$ hk$ hk$

09/2011 5,000,000 1.16 0.93 5,129,180

Same as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the 
Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31 December 2011.

MAJOR CustOMERs AnD suPPLiERs

As the Group is principally engaged in retail sales, none of its customers and suppliers accounted for more than 5% 
of its turnover in year ended 31 December 2011. None of the Directors or shareholders who owned 5% or more of 
the issued shares capital of the Company as of 31 December 2011 or any of their respective associates held any 
interest in any of the five largest customers and suppliers of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2011.

BAnk LOAns AnD OthER BORROwinGs

As of 31 December 2011, the Group had the bank loans and other borrowings amounted to RMB243,210,000 
(2010: Nil). Particulars of the bank loans and other borrowings are set out in note 22 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

suffiCiEnCY Of PuBLiC fLOAt

Based on the information that is publicly available and within the knowledge of the Directors at the latest practicable 
date prior to the publication of this annual report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the 
Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31 December 2011 and at any time up to the latest practicable date prior 
to the publication of this report.

DiRECtORs’ intEREsts in COntRACts

Save as disclosed under the “Connected Transactions” section above, no Director had a material interest, whether 
directly or indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the Company or any of its 
subsidiaries was a party during the year.
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COntROLLinG shAREhOLDER’s intEREsts in siGnifiCAnt COntRACts

Saved as disclosed in note 28 to the financial statements with the section headed “Related Party Transactions” 

of this report below, at no time during the year had the Company or any of its subsidiaries, and the Controlling 

Shareholders or any of its subsidiaries entered into any contract of significance or any contract of significance for 

the provision of services by the Controlling Shareholders or any of its subsidiaries to the Company or any of its 

subsidiaries.

CORPORAtE GOvERnAnCE REPORt

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in the “Corporate Governance Report” under 
this annual report.

POst BALAnCE shEEt EvEnts

For details of the post balance sheet events, please refer to note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

After the reporting date, the Directors proposed a final dividend of RMB15,469,000 and a special dividend of 

RMB55,139,000 on 5 December 2012. Further details are disclosed in note 24(d) to the consolidated financial 

statements.

tAXAtiOn Of hOLDERs Of shAREs

(a) hong kong

The purchase, sale and transfer of shares registered in the Company’s Hong Kong branch register of members 

will be subject to Hong Kong stamp duty. The current rate charged on each of the purchaser and seller (or 

transferee and transferor) is 0.1% of the consideration or, if greater, the fair value of the shares being bought/

sold or transferred (rounded up to the nearest HK$’000). In addition, a fixed duty of HK$5.00 is currently 

payable on an instrument of transfer of shares.

Profits from dealings in the share arising in or derived from Hong Kong may also be subject to Hong Kong 

profits tax.

(b) Cayman islands

Under the present Cayman Islands laws, transfers and other dispositions of shares in the Company are exempt 

from Cayman Islands stamp duty.

(c) Consultation with professional advisers

Intending holders and investors of the Company’s shares are recommended to consult their professional 

advisers if they are in any doubt as to the taxation implications (including tax relief) of subscribing for, 

purchasing, holding, disposing of or dealing in shares. It is emphasized that none of the Company or its 

Directors or officers will accept any responsibility for any tax effect on, or liabilities of, holders of shares in the 

Company resulting from their subscription for, purchase, holding, disposal of or dealing in such shares.
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AuDitOR

The consolidated financial statements were audited by KPMG who will retire at the forthcoming annual general 

meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

YAnG Xiangbo

Chairman

5 December 2012



Shirble Department Store holDingS (China) limiteD • aNNUaL rEPOrT 2011

35

Corporate Governance Report

CORPORAtE GOvERnAnCE PRACtiCEs

The Company has applied the principles and code provisions set out in the Code on Corporate Governance Practice 
(the “Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

In the opinion of the Directors, except for the deviations as disclosed in this report, the Company has complied with 
the Code to the Listing Rules for year ended 31 December 2011.

BOARD Of DiRECtORs

As at 31 December 2011, the Board comprises one Executive Director, namely Mr. YANG Xiangbo (Chairman), and 
three independent Non-executive Directors, namely Ms. ZHAO Jinlin, Mr. CHEN Fengliang and Mr. JIANG Hongkai. 
Pursuant to Article 84 of the articles of association of the Company, at each annual general meeting one-third of 
the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less 
than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an 
annual general meeting at least once every three years and shall then be eligible for re-election. The biographical 
details of the Directors are set out in the “Directors and Senior Management” section on pages 17 to 20 of this 
annual report. All independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a specific term of three years, but they are 
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting pursuant to the Company’s Articles of 
Association. 

In accordance with A.2.1 of the Listing Rules, the roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer should 
be separate and should not be performed by the same individual. Madam YANG Xiaomei was the Chief Executive 
Officer of the Company from 1 January 2011 to 17 November 2011. Mr. YANG Xiangbo is the Chairman of the Board 
and has become the acting Chief Executive Officer since the retirement of Madam YANG Xiaomei on 17 November 
2011. The Board considers that the internal control procedures are not adequate for the rapid business expansion 
of the Group, particularly following the retirement of the chief executive officer of the Group. The Group is in the 
process of recruiting a chief executive officer who will also be appointed as an executive Director and will oversee 
all operations of the Group. The recruitment is in final stage. An offer letter has been issued to a candidate who has 
extensive experience in retail business in China. The candidate is expected to join the Group by the end of 2012.

The Board is responsible for overall management and control of the Company including formulation and approval 
of overall strategies, material transactions, business plans and other significant financial and operational matters 
to enhance the value to shareholders. The Board has delegated the responsibilities for day-to-day operations and 
management of the Group’s business to the senior management of the Company.

In accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the Company has received annual confirmation of independence 
from the three independent non-executive Directors. The Company considers all the independent non-executive 
Directors are independent. Each of the independent non-executive Directors is appointed for a term of one year from 
18 June 2011.

MODEL CODE fOR sECuRitiEs tRAnsACtiOns

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code of conduct regarding the Directors’ securities transactions. 
Having made specific enquiries of all the Directors, the Company confirmed that they have complied with the Model 
Code for the year ended 31 December 2011.
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AuDitORs’ REMunERAtiOn

The Independent Auditor’s Report of the Company’s auditor, KPMG, in respect of the audit of the Group’s financial 
statements for the year is set out on pages 43 to 45 of this report.

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Auditors’ remuneration was RMB6,000,000 in respect of provision of 
audit services to the Group.

DiRECtORs’ REsPOnsiBiLitiEs

The directors have acknowledged their responsibilities for preparing the financial statements of the Company for the 
year ended 31 December 2011.

AuDit COMMittEE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Code, the Company has set up an audit committee. The audit committee 
comprises three Independent non-executive Directors, namely, Ms. ZHAO Jinlin, Mr. CHEN Fengliang and Mr. JIANG 
Hongkai. Ms. ZHAO Jinlin is the Chairman of the audit committee and possesses relevant accounting expertise. 
None of the members of the audit committee is a former partner of the Company’s existing external auditor.

The primary responsibilities of the audit committee are to review and supervise the Group’s financial reporting 
process and internal control system, monitor the relationship with the Company’s external auditor and the integrity of 
the financial statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Audit Committee had reviewed the interim and annual results and 
the effectiveness of the internal control system of the Group. The Audit Committee also reviewed the audit findings 
discovered in the course of audit and internal control review. The Audit Committee believes the accuracy and 
existence of the commercial substances of the transactions as listed in the section headed “Response from the 
Directors” as the audit committee members consider that the transactions were entered into under normal business 
practice of the Group and in the ordinary course of business of the Group. Nevertheless, the Audit Committee 
agrees that the internal control procedures has to be improved, and has appointed Moore Stephens to advise on the 
Group’s internal control procedures. The Audit Committee has reviewed the recommendations from Moore Stephens 
and the latest implementation status and confirms that all of the measures have been implemented by the Group 
in full except for the appointments of the chief executive officer, executive Director and an additional independent 
non-executive Director. For further details, please refer to the paragraph headed “Improvement in Internal Control 
Measures” in this section.

REMunERAtiOn COMMittEE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Code, the Company has set up a remuneration committee with majority 
members being Independent non-executive Directors. The remuneration committee comprises three members, 
namely Mr. CHEN Fengliang (Chairperson) and Mr. JIANG Hongkai, both being independent non-executive Directors; 
and one executive Director, namely Mr. YANG Xiangbo.

The primary responsibilities of remuneration committee are to provide recommendation to the Board on the 
remuneration package of Directors and senior management and establish formal and transparent procedures for 
developing such remuneration policy and structure.

The Remuneration Committee held two meetings during the year to discuss remuneration-related matters. All 
members of the Remuneration Committee had also deliberated on matters relating to the salary adjustment of the 
executive director and independent non-executive directors.
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nOMinAtiOn COMMittEE

The Company has set up a nomination committee with all members being independent non-executive Directors. The 
Nomination Committee comprises two members, namely Mr. JIANG Hongkai (Chairperson) and Ms. ZHAO Jinlin, 
both being independent non-executive Directors.

The primary responsibilities of the nomination committee are to review the composition of the Board regularly, assess 
the independence of independent non-executive Directors and make recommendation to the Board on relevant 
matters relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

In the selection process, the Nomination Committee considers the candidates for the appointment based on their 
integrity, previous working experiences, qualifications and relevant experiences to the Group’s business.

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Nomination Committee reviewed the above matters and make 
recommendation to the Board of the appointment of Mr. YANG Xiangbo as the Acting Chief Executive Officer after 
the retirement of Madam YANG Xiaomei.

fREQuEnCY Of MEEtinGs AnD AttEnDAnCE

The attendance record of each of the Directors for the Board and committee meetings held during the year is set 
out below:

number of attendance/number of meetings

name of Director Board
Audit 

Committee
Remuneration 

Committee
nomination 
Committee

Executive Director
YANG Xiangbo (Chairman) 13/13 n/a 1/2 n/a
YANG Xiaomei (Chief Executive Officer) 8/12 n/a n/a 0/1
 (retired on 17 November 2011)

independent non-executive 
 Directors
ZHAO Jinlin 11/13 2/2 n/a 1/1
CHEN Fengliang 13/13 2/2 2/2 n/a
JIANG Hongkai 13/13 2/2 2/2 1/1

COMMuniCAtiOn with shAREhOLDERs AnD invEstORs

The Company believes that effective communication with shareholders is essential for good investor relations and 
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies. Therefore, the Company always seeks 
to provide relevant information through various channels including the press and analysts conferences, roadshows 
and forums organized by leading investment banks in order to enhance the transparency and communication with 
the investing public.

The Company also maintains a website at www.shirble.net/shirblecorp, where up-to-date information and updates 
on the Company’s financial information, business development and other information are available for public access.

The general meetings of the Company provide a platform for communication between the Board and the 
shareholders. The Board of Directors will normally attend the annual general meetings and other shareholders’ 
meetings of the Company to answer questions raised at the meetings.



Shirble Department Store holDingS (China) limiteD • aNNUaL rEPOrT 2011

38

Corporate Governance Report

iMPROvEMEnt in intERnAL COntROL MEAsuREs

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to ensure that sound and effective internal controls are maintained to 
safeguard the shareholders’ investment and the Company’s assets and review the effectiveness of the internal 
control system annually. Procedures have been designed to facilitate effective and efficient operations, ensure 
reliability of financial reporting, identify and manage potential risks, safeguard assets of the Group and compliance 
with applicable laws and regulations.

In view of the qualified opinion of the Auditors set forth below and the internal control weaknesses identified, the 
Audit Committee agrees that improvement in the internal control procedures would need to be implemented as soon 
as possible.

Moore Stephens are appointed to advise on the Group’s internal control procedures, and have provided to the 
Group and the Audit Committee a list of internal control improvement measures in response to the internal control 
weaknesses identified. 

The Audit Committee has reviewed the list and the latest implementation status and confirms that all of the 
measures have been implemented by the Group in full except for the appointments of the chief executive officer, 
executive Director and an additional independent non-executive Director. Moore Stephens also confirm that the 
existence of the new internal control improvement measures as detailed in the Moore Stephens Review Report have 
been implemented by the Group after the year end.

In light of the above and taking into consideration the recommendations of Moore Stephens, the Board has 
implemented, and the Audit Committee supports such implementation decision, the following improvement 
measures:–

(i) Establishment of internal audit department and legal department

An internal audit department was established by the Group in July 2012 to conduct independent and objective 

review and assessment in order to bring a systematic approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of 

risk management, control and governance processes. The internal audit department will report directly to the 

Audit Committee of the Board.

The Group established a legal department in February 2012. The responsibilities of the legal department 

include reviewing terms of agreements and contracts to ensure that all rights and obligations, including terms 

of prepayments and termination, of the Group are clearly set forth therein. The legal department will ensure 

that agreements are dated accordingly and that all attachments and appendices to agreements are properly 

annexed. The legal department will also be responsible for maintaining the documentation record in relation 

to major transactions entered into by the Group. The Group would obtain legal advice during the process of 

contracts drafting, if necessary, in order to safeguard the interests of the Group.
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(ii) Appointment of additional independent non-executive Director

The Company will appoint an additional independent non-executive Director who is experienced in assisting 

companies to protect and enhance enterprise value to enhance the composition of the Board. The candidate is 

currently an independent non-executive director of a Hong Kong listed company and is a member of the Hong 

Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Australia Institute of Public Accountants and Hong Kong Institute 

of Directors. The Company will issue a further announcement pursuant to Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules 

as soon as possible after the appointment which will be effective on the business day following the date of 

resumption of trading of the Shares on the Stock Exchange. Immediately after the appointment, the Board will 

have five Directors, four of them will be independent non-executive Directors.

(iii) Recruitment of new management teams and chief executive officer and executive Director

The Group has employed new senior management team in the areas of shop opening, logistics and overall 

business planning for the purpose of strengthening the internal control in these areas. The Group will recruit 

a chief executive officer who will also be appointed as an executive Director and will oversee all operations of 

the Group. The candidate has extensive experience in retail business in the PRC. The recruitment is in the final 

stage. An offer letter has been issued to the candidate in July 2012 and the candidate is expected to join the 

Group by the end of 2012.

(iv) standardisation of transaction approval procedures

The Group has also enhanced its internal control procedures for potential transactions to ensure that 

each transaction is approved by relevant departments and to minimize any potential risks. The Group has 

prepared a detailed written internal control manual that includes procedures for proper initiation, monitoring, 

authorisation and completion of transactions. The internal control manual has been circulated to all relevant 

staff. The procedures were implemented in July 2012. The agreements or contracts in respect of any potential 

transaction will be drafted and negotiated by the responsible department of the Company. Capital expenditure 

budget would be prepared for each transaction and approved before entering into any formal agreements. The 

draft agreements will then be reviewed and approved by the Company’s legal department and the relevant 

departmental directors at various levels depending on the amount of consideration in the agreement before the 

agreement is signed by the Company. The finance department will conduct assessments on the transactions 

and will make appropriate accounting treatment and disclosures. The records of the signed agreements will be 

kept by the legal department, the finance department and the responsible department. Approval documents, 

such as meeting minutes, would be properly documented and maintained. The sponsorship or service fees 

made pursuant to supplier service agreements will be clearly stipulated in the provisions of the agreements 

in accordance with the relevant policies and regulations relating to fees payable by suppliers to large-scale 

retailers issued by the PRC government.



Shirble Department Store holDingS (China) limiteD • aNNUaL rEPOrT 2011

40

Corporate Governance Report

(v) Establishment of formal tendering procedures

The Group has implemented a new set of selection procedures for all contractors, including decoration 

constructors, by way of tender since July 2012. The new procedures introduced general contractor and 

specialist contractor prequalification assessment procedures. The Group would invite contractors for review 

which would be conducted according to the generally accepted industry guidelines. The contractors would be 

classified into two to three levels in accordance to the project size, requirements of specialised contractors, 

and financial standing. The Group would issue an invitation to tender to no less than three selected contractor 

but the number of contractors shall not exceed eight for each project. The invitation for tender would set forth 

the detailed product and service requirements including specific materials to be used and completion time. 

The launched bids would be reviewed by at least three staff of the Group, including staff from the engineering 

department, supervision department and assistant to vice president. The bids would be reviewed and analysed 

in terms of the tender price, specifications for the project, requirements for specialised projects and whether 

there are serious errors or omissions. The Group would select the contractor based on the established and 

objective principles. The tender process is supervised by a registered professional engaged by the Group. 

The Group will only enter into formal contracts with contractors after the bidding process when the formal 

lease agreement or sale and purchase agreement has been entered into for future projects. In addition, the 

assessment procedures would be properly documented (including the basis on selection of each contractor, 

copies of the qualification of the contractors, etc.) to support the decision of the Group as suggested by Moore 

Stephens.

(vi) standardisation of property transactions procedures

The Group has implemented new procedures for entering into formal property acquisition agreement in July 

2012. The Group would conduct thorough due diligence (including obtaining legal advice and performing 

background searches on counterparties) on the properties before entering into any formal agreement for future 

acquisitions. The due diligence work would include the review of construction plan of the properties and on-

site inspection to ensure that the designs in the detail construction plans and the floor plans will be suitable for 

the requirement of the Group. Capital expenditure budget would be prepared for each property transaction and 

approved before entering into any formal agreements. Written documentations will be prepared throughout the 

transaction process and any decision-making (including board meetings) and approvals process will also be 

documented. The structural design plan will be submitted to the Board for approval. The approved structural 

design plan will then be submitted to the vendor. The final agreement will be signed only when the approved 

structural plan has been accepted by the vendor and approved by the relevant government authorities. The final 

agreement would be approved by the Group’s legal department to ensure that the terms are reasonable and 

in the interests of the Group, in particular terms relating to recoverability risks for non-delivery. Development 

stages and milestones would be stated in the agreement and progress will be monitored by the Group’s 

newly employed chief development officer, who is required to report to the chief executive officer and senior 

management of the Company on a weekly basis to ensure that the projects proceed as scheduled, to prevent 

unreasonable delay in completion of project. The chief development officer will comply with the procedures 

set out in the internal control manual, which would include procedures of the proper initiation, monitoring, 

authorisation  and completion of transactions.
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(vii) Establishment of cash management policy

The Company has established a cash management policy since June 2012, pursuant to which all cash payment 

over RMB500,000 will be prohibited. For cash payments under or equivalent to the amount of RMB500,000, 

the approvals from the chief executive director, the chief operating officer and the procurement director or the 

engineering director or any other departmental director (depending on the nature of the relevant transaction) 

would be required. The Company will ensure that the current policy on cash management will be properly 

executed by all department stores. In addition, expenses of the Company will be separately settled through its 

bank accounts so that all transactions can be recorded and tracked.

(viii) Establishment of prepayment approval procedures and enhancement of payment approval 
procedures

The Group has implemented the following approval procedures for transactions with prepayments and 

enhanced its payment approval procedures since June 2012. Payment (including prepayments) requests would 

be prepared in formal requisition and approval forms and the forms together with supporting documents will be 

submitted to relevant personnel for approval. All payments (excluding prepayments) will be approved by finance 

department and vice presidents and/or chief executive director according to the amount and nature of the the 

transaction. For prepayments under RMB3.0 million, approvals from the procurement director, financial director 

and the chief operating officer would be required prior to execution of relevant agreements. All prepayments 

between RMB3.0 million and RMB5.0 million would require additional approval from the chief financial officer. 

For prepayments over RMB5.0 million, additional approvals must be sought from the chief executive officer 

and a majority of the Directors before the signing of the agreements. The approval procedures will be subject 

to annual review by the Board to ensure that appropriate levels of approvals have been obtained for each 

transaction.

(ix) update of enterprise resources management system

The Group is in the process of updating its enterprise resources management system and conducting trainings 

for various departments on the new enterprise resources management system. The trial operation of the 

enterprise resources management system has begun in October 2012. The updated system includes modules 

on supplier management which provide efficient update to the supplier information and standing and detect 

vendors of same name in the supplier database. The system would also allow a signatory function to distinguish 

reviewed information. The procurement department will monitor the updated enterprise resources management 

system regularly.

(x) Possible notifiable transactions approval procedures

In May 2012, the Group has implemented various procedures so that prior approvals from the chief financial 

officer and the company secretary of the Company would be required before conducting any related party 

transactions, transactions of more than RMB3.0 million and any other possible transactions which may 

constitute notifiable transactions (as defined under the Listing Rules) and connected transactions (as defined 

under the Listing Rules).
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(xi) Appointment of retainer financial advisers

Quam Capital Limited is and will remain as the compliance adviser of the Company until the publication of the 

annual report for the year ended 31 December 2011. The Company has engaged Quam Capital Limited as 

retainer financial adviser for one year upon the expiry of the compliance adviser engagement. The Company 

undertakes to consult Quam Capital Limited and/or appropriate advisers from time to time in respect of 

compliance issues including but not limited to the requirements under Chapter 14 and Chapter 14A of the 

Listing Rules and the continuing obligations of the Company under Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules.

(xii) Continuous training provided to Directors

The Directors have received updated training materials on directors’ duties from the Company’s legal advisers in 

August 2012, and will attend additional training on directors’ duties conducted by the Company’s legal advisers 

so that the Directors will be updated on their duties and the requirements under the Listing Rules before the 

end of December 2012. In addition, the Directors will attend 20 hours of training per year. The Company will 

disclose the training attended and the number of hours involved in its annual report as required by the Listing 

Rules.

further recommendations of Moore stephens

The implementation of the internal control measures will be monitored by the internal audit department and 

the new chief executive officer of the Group. The Group has engaged Moore Stephens to conduct a two-

week review. Moore Stephens will submit a written report in March 2013 on the Group’s internal control 

measures. The review by Moore Stephens will include an assessment on the overall sufficiency of the Group’s 

internal control procedures. The internal audit department and the new independent non-executive Director 

will periodically report their review and findings on the Group’s internal controls to the Audit Committee of the 

Board.

The Company will announce the results of the internal control review conducted by Moore Stephens in March 

2013. In the future, Moore Stephens (or other independent internal control advisers) will continue to conduct 

periodic reviews, the results of which will be published in the Company’s interim and annual reports accordingly.

The Audit Committee is of the view that the above new measures are sufficient, reasonable and are 

implemented in the interest of the Group as a whole based on their review of the issues identified by the 

Auditors and the preliminary findings on the Group’s internal control weaknesses conducted by Moore 

Stephens.
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To the shareholders of

shirble Department store holdings (China) Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Shirble Department Store Holdings (China) Limited (the 

“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 46 to 105, which comprise the consolidated and 

company statements of financial position as at 31 December 2011, the consolidated statement of comprehensive 

income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then 

ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DiRECtORs’ REsPOnsiBiLitY fOR thE COnsOLiDAtED finAnCiAL stAtEMEnts 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give 

a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International 

Accounting Standards Board and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for 

such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AuDitOR’s REsPOnsiBiLitY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. This report 

is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept 

liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute 

of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and 

perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from 

material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation 

of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 

reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 

consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 

opinion.
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BAsis fOR QuALifiED OPiniOn 

(i) Prepayments and deposits 

As described in note 17(b) to the consolidated financial statements, the Group recorded prepayments and 

deposits with a total balance of RMB512,330,000 as at 31 December 2011. The total balance includes 

payments of RMB55.3 million, RMB256.5 million and RMB152.5 million which are accounted for and disclosed 

as prepayment and deposits for the decoration work on two department stores of the Group, the purchases of 

three properties (a distribution centre and properties in Shenzhen and Haifeng) and goods respectively.

During the course of our audit, it came to our attention that the decoration work on two department stores and 

the construction work of the distribution centre and Shenzhen property have not commenced. It also came to 

our attention that a certain individual was either director or legal representative for three of the seven entities 

which were the counterparties to these transactions, that certain amount of these sums was paid in cash and 

that, in the case of the Haifeng property, the payment were being made to individuals and entities other than 

the developer and that the agreed purchase price of RMB168.0 million was RMB68.0 million in excess of the 

contract price registered with the relevant government bureaux and RMB32.0 million in excess of the valuation 

of the property carried out by a qualified valuer. In addition, we noted that during 2011, gross payments to the 

above-mentioned suppliers totalled RMB296.9 million compared to RMB33.4 million of goods received and that 

further payments totalling RMB110.0 million were made by the Group to the relevant suppliers in January 2012, 

increasing the balance of prepayments to these suppliers to RMB262.5 million.

As disclosed in note 17(b), subsequent to the year-end date, the contract for the decoration work on 

department stores, the letter of intent for purchase of the distribution centre, and the contract for purchase of 

Shenzhen property were terminated and refunds of the related prepayments and deposits were received from 

the respective entities. The Group also recovered the above-mentioned total amount of RMB262.5 million paid 

by the Group from the relevant suppliers in March 2012 and, as disclosed in note 5, the Group has recorded an 

impairment loss of RMB32.0 million on the purchase of the Haifeng property.

There is insufficient evidence available to us to ascertain the nature of the above-mentioned payments made 

by the Group during the year. We are therefore unable to satisfy ourselves that these payments were properly 

accounted for and disclosed in the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the substance of their 

nature.

(ii) Advances from suppliers

Included in “Advances from suppliers” in note 21 to the financial statements are amounts received by the Group 

totalling RMB69.6 million. During the course of our audit, it came to our attention that these amounts were 

received close to the financial reporting date, and that subsequent to the year-end date RMB63.6 million of this 

amount was recorded as having been returned to the suppliers.

There is insufficient evidence available to us to ascertain the nature of the above-mentioned receipts by the 

Group during the year. We are therefore unable to satisfy ourselves that these receipts were properly accounted 

for and disclosed in the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the substance of their nature.
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QuALifiED OPiniOn ARisinG fROM LiMitAtiOn Of AuDit sCOPE

In our opinion, except for the effects of such adjustments, if any, as might have been determined to be necessary 

had we been able to satisfy ourselves as to the nature of the above-mentioned and any other similar transactions 

during the year ended 31 December 2011, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the 

state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 December 2011 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows 

for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly 

prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building

10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

5 December 2012
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Year ended 31 December

2011 2010

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

turnover 4 1,433,586 1,279,619

Other operating revenue 5 111,232 181,400

Other net (loss)/income 5 (40,696) 1,387

Purchase of and changes in inventories 6(c) (998,197) (872,969)

Personnel costs 6(b) (134,342) (98,482)

Depreciation and amortisation 6(c) (39,620) (31,204)

Operating lease rental expense 6(c) (135,663) (108,476)

Other expenses (101,257) (90,309)

Profit from operations 95,043 260,966

Finance income 22,241 8,204

Finance costs (2,285) (1,704)

Net finance income 6(a) 19,956 6,500

Profit before tax 6 114,999 267,466

Income tax expense 7(a) (43,367) (67,384)

Profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders 

 of the Company 71,632 200,082

Other comprehensive income for the year

Exchange differences on translation of financial

 statements of overseas subsidiaries 11 208 93

total comprehensive income for the year 71,840 200,175

Earnings per share

Basic and diluted (RMB) 12 0.03 0.10

The notes on pages 51 to 105 form part of these financial statements.
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At 31 December

2011 2010
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 13 311,494 232,978
Intangible assets 14 31,885 –
Deferred tax assets 23 42,756 36,243

386,135 269,221

Current assets
Inventories 16 252,291 215,538
Trade and other receivables 17 567,769 151,587
Held-to-maturity investments 18 – 85,093
Pledged deposit 19 430,152 –
Cash and cash equivalents 20 1,303,303 1,735,974

2,553,515 2,188,192

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 21 1,104,581 893,569
Interest-bearing borrowings 22 243,210 –
Income tax payables 7(c) 34,149 30,757

1,381,940 924,326

net current assets 1,171,575 1,263,866

total assets less current liabilities 1,557,710 1,533,087

non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities 23 2,541 2,043

2,541 2,043

nEt AssEts 1,555,169 1,531,044

CAPitAL AnD REsERvEs
Share capital 24(b) 213,908 214,318
Reserves 24(c) 1,341,261 1,316,726

tOtAL EQuitY 1,555,169 1,531,044

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 5 December 2012.

YAnG Xiangbo

Director

The notes on pages 51 to 105 form part of these financial statements.
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At 31 December

2011 2010

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

non-current assets

Investment in subsidiaries 15 107,380 107,380

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 17 627,462 67,951

Held-to-maturity investments 18 – 85,093

Pledged deposit 19 430,152 –

Cash and cash equivalents 20 374,232 996,431

1,431,846 1,149,475

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 21 74,524 30,476

Interest-bearing borrowings 22 243,210 –

317,734 30,476

net current assets 1,114,112 1,118,999

nEt AssEts 1,221,492 1,226,379

CAPitAL AnD REsERvEs

Share capital 24(b) 213,908 214,318

Reserves 24(c) 1,007,584 1,012,061

tOtAL EQuitY 1,221,492 1,226,379

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 5 December 2012.

YAnG Xiangbo

Director

The notes on pages 51 to 105 form part of these financial statements.
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Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

share

capital

share

premium

Capital

redemption

reserve

Merger

reserve

statutory

reserves

translation

reserve

Retained

earnings

total

equity

Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(note 24(b)) (note 24(c)(i)) (note 24(b)(vi)) (note 24(c)(ii)) (note 24(c)(iii)) (note 24(c)(v))

At 1 January 2010 107,380 – – – 55,515 – 99,326 262,221

Profit for the year – – – – – – 200,082 200,082

Other comprehensive

 income – – – – – 93 – 93

Total comprehensive

 income for the year – – – – – 93 200,082 200,175

Arising from

 the Reorganisation (107,372) – – 107,372 – – – –

Issuance of shares

 by initial public

 offering, net of 

 issuance costs 24(b)(iv) 53,580 1,055,068 – – – – – 1,108,648

Capitalisation issue 24(b)(v) 160,730 (160,730) – – – – – –

Dividends to

 equity shareholders 24(d) – – – – – – (40,000) (40,000)

Appropriation to reserves 24(c)(iii) – – – – 20,660 – (20,660) –

At 31 December 2010 214,318 894,338 – 107,372 76,175 93 238,748 1,531,044

1 January 2011 214,318 894,338 – 107,372 76,175 93 238,748 1,531,044

Profit for the year – – – – – – 71,632 71,632

Other comprehensive

 income – – – – – 208 – 208

Total comprehensive

 income for the year – – – – – 208 71,632 71,840

Dividends to

 equity shareholders 24(d) – – – – – – (43,500) (43,500)

Purchase of own shares: 24(b)(vi)

 – par value paid (410) – – – – – – (410)

 – premium paid – – – – – – (3,805) (3,805)

 – transfer between reserves – – 410 – – – (410) –

Appropriation to reserves 24(c)(iii) – – – – 5,746 – (5,746) –

At 31 December 2011 213,908 894,338 410 107,372 81,921 301 256,919 1,555,169

The notes on pages 51 to 105 form part of these financial statements.
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Year ended 31 December

2011 2010
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

Operating activities
Profit for the year 71,632 200,082
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 6(c) 39,620 31,204
Net finance income 6(a) (19,956) (6,500)
Net gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 5 (78) (14)
Impairment loss on prepayments for
 acquisition of a property in Haifeng 5 32,000 –
Provision for tendering deposit 5 10,000 –
Foreign exchange loss – 5,155
Income tax expense 7(a) 43,367 67,384

176,585 297,311
Change in inventories (36,753) (38,127)
Change in trade and other receivables (175,002) 352,258
Change in trade and other payables 208,727 44,792
Advances to related parties 28(a) (66,511) –
Repayments from related parties 28(a) 66,511 –
Receipt in advance from a third party 17(d) 70,000 –
Repayment of receipt in advance to a third party 17(d) (70,000) –
Interest paid – (1,704)
Income tax paid 7(c) (45,990) (72,243)

net cash generated from operating activities 127,567 582,287

investing activities
Payment for the purchase of property, plant and equipment (392,890) (146,108)
Payment for the purchase of intangible assets (32,186) –
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 519 305
Proceeds from disposal of held-for-trading investments – 306
Payment for the purchase of held-to-maturity investments – (85,330)
Proceeds from sale of held-to-maturity securities 85,093 –
Interest received 13,675 7,571

net cash used in investing activities (325,789) (223,256)

financing activities
Proceeds from initial public offering, net of issuance expenses – 1,099,294
Proceeds from new-bank loans 243,210 –
Repayment of interest-bearing borrowings – (132,032)
(Increase)/decrease in pledged deposits (430,152) 136,532
Payment for repurchase of shares (4,215) –
Dividend paid (43,500) (40,000)

net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities (234,657) 1,063,794

net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (432,879) 1,422,825
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 1,735,974 317,914
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 208 (4,765)

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 20 1,303,303 1,735,974

The notes on pages 51 to 105 form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2011

1 COMPAnY BACkGROunD AnD BAsis Of PREPARAtiOn

1.1 General information and basis of presentation

Shirble Department Store Holdings (China) Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman 

Islands as an exempted company with limited liability on 5 November 2008 under the Companies Law, 

Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands.

Pursuant to a reorganisation (the “Reorganisation”) of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred 

to as the “Group”) to rationalise the Group’s structure in preparation for the listing of the Company’s shares 

on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), the Company 

became the holding company of the subsidiaries now comprising the Group. Details of the Reorganisation 

are set out in the prospectus of the Company dated 5 November 2010 (the “Prospectus”). The Company’s 

shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on 17 November 2010.

Since all entities which took part in the Reorganisation were under common control of a group of ultimate 

shareholders, the Group is regarded as a continuing entity resulting from a reorganisation of entities under 

common control. These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis that the current 

group structure had been in existence at the beginning of the earliest period presented. Accordingly, 

the consolidated results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2010 include the results of the 

Company and its subsidiaries with effect from 1 January 2010 or, if later, since their respective dates of 

incorporation as if the current group structure had been in existence throughout the year presented. All 

material intra-group transactions and balances have been eliminated on consolidation.

1.2 Basis of preparation

(a) Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs), which collective term includes all applicable 

individual International Financial Reporting Standards, International Accounting Standards (IASs) 

and related Interpretations, issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), and 

the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These consolidated financial 

statements also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing 

of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. A summary of the significant accounting 

policies adopted by the Group is set out below.

The IASB has issued certain new and revised IFRSs that are first effective or available for early 

adoption for the current accounting period of the Group and the Company. For the purpose of 

these consolidated financial statements, the Group has adopted at the beginning of the earliest year 

presented, all the IFRSs that have been issued and effective for the entire year, except for any new 

standards or interpretations that are not yet effective for the accounting year ended 31 December 

2011. The revised and new accounting standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective for 

the accounting year ended 31 December 2011 are set out in note 31.
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1 COMPAnY BACkGROunD AnD BAsis Of PREPARAtiOn (continued)

1.2 Basis of preparation (continued)

(b) Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”), rounded to the nearest 

thousand, unless otherwise stated. They are prepared on the historical cost basis except for financial 

instruments classified as held for trading investments that are stated at fair values (see note 2(c)(i)).

(c) Use of estimates and judgments

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management 

to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies 

and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated 

assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be 

reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgments 

about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual 

results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 

estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that 

period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future 

periods.

Judgments made by management in the application of IFRSs that have significant effect on the 

consolidated financial statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed as 

follows:

(i) Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, 

less applicable variable selling expenses. These estimates are based on the current market 

condition and the historical experience of distributing and selling products of similar nature. They 

could change significantly as a result of competitor’s actions in response to severe economic 

cycles or other changes in market conditions. Management will reassess the estimations at each 

reporting date.

(ii) Impairment losses on trade and other receivables

Impairment losses on trade and other receivables are assessed and provided based on 

management’s regular review of ageing analysis and evaluation of collectability. A considerable 

level of judgment is exercised by the management when assessing the credit worthiness and 

past collection history of each individual customer. Any increase or decrease in the impairment 

losses for bad and doubtful debts would affect the profit or loss in future years.
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1 COMPAnY BACkGROunD AnD BAsis Of PREPARAtiOn (continued)

1.2 Basis of preparation (continued)

(c) Use of estimates and judgments (continued)

(iii) Depreciation and amortisation

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful 

lives, after taking into account the estimated residual value. The intangible assets of the Group 

is entry rights related to the stores. The amortisation period of entry rights is based on 20 years 

which is over the lease term of the related store. The management periodically reviews changes 

in customer preferences and industry conditions, assets retirement activity and residual values 

to determine adjustments to estimated remaining useful lives and depreciation and amortisation 

rates. Actual economic lives may differ from estimated useful lives. Periodic reviews could result 

in a change in depreciable lives and therefore depreciation expenses in future periods.

(iv) Impairment losses of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are reviewed periodically to assess whether 

impairment losses exist. In determining whether an impairment exists, the Group has to exercise 

judgement particularly in assessing whether the carrying value of an assets can be supported by 

the net present value of future cash flows which are estimated based upon the continued use of 

the asset; and the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in preparing cash flow projections 

including, whether these cash flow projections are discounted using an appropriate rate. Change 

in assumptions selected by management to determine the level of impairment, including the 

discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the cash flow projections, could materially affect 

the net present value used in the impairment test.

(v) Recognition of income taxes and deferred tax assets

Determining income tax provision involves judgment on the future tax treatment of certain 

transactions. The management carefully evaluates tax implications of transactions and tax 

provisions are set up accordingly. The tax treatment of such transactions is reconsidered 

periodically to take into account all changes in tax legislations. Deferred tax assets are 

recognised in respect of temporary deductible differences. As those deferred tax assets can only 

be recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against 

which the unused tax credits can be utilised, management’s judgment is required to assess 

the probability of future taxable profits. Management’s assessment is constantly reviewed and 

additional deferred tax assets, where applicable, are recognised if it becomes probable that 

future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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(a) subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group has the power to govern 

the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing 

control, potential voting rights that presently are exercisable are taken into account.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated financial statements from the date 

that control commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions and any 

unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated in preparing the 

consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated 

in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less 

impairment losses (see note 2(h)).

(b) foreign currency

(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the currency 

that best reflects the economic substance of the underlying events and circumstances relevant to the 

entity (the “functional currency”). The financial statements are presented in Renminbi (the “presentation 

currency”).

(ii) Foreign currency transactions

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the foreign exchange rates at the 

transaction dates.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign 

exchange rates ruling at the reporting date. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or 

loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency 

are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Non-monetary assets 

and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated using the 

foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was determined.
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(b) foreign currency (continued)

(iii) Financial statements of foreign operations

The results of foreign operations are translated into Renminbi at the exchange rates approximating 

the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Assets and liabilities are translated 

into Renminbi at the closing foreign exchange rates at the reporting date. The resulting exchange 

differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated separately in equity in 

the translation reserve.

(c) financial instruments

(i) Non-derivative financial assets

The Group initially recognises loans and receivables and deposits on the date that they are 

originated. All other financial assets (including assets designated at fair value through profit or loss) 

are recognised initially on the trade date at which the Group becomes a party to the contractual 

provisions of the instrument.

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 

asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in 

a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are 

transferred. Any interest in transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the Group is 

recognised as a separate asset or liability.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial 

position when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to 

settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group has the following non-derivative financial assets: financial assets at fair value through profit 

or loss, held-to-maturity financial assets, loans and receivables, and cash and cash equivalents.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

A financial asset is classified at fair value through profit or loss if it is classified as held for trading or is 

designated as such upon initial recognition. Financial assets are designated at fair value through profit 

or loss if the Group manages such investments and makes purchase and sale decisions based on 

their fair value in accordance with the Group’s documented risk management or investment strategy. 

Upon initial recognition attributable transaction costs are recognized in profit or loss as incurred. 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value, and changes therein are 

recognised in profit or loss.
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(c) financial instruments (continued)

(i) Non-derivative financial assets (continued)

Held-to-maturity financial assets

If the Group has the positive intent and ability to hold debt securities to maturity, then such financial 
assets are classified as held-to-maturity. Held-to-maturity financial assets are recognised initially at fair 
value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition held-to-maturity 
financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any 
impairment losses. Any sale or reclassification of a more than insignificant amount of held-to-maturity 
investments not close to their maturity would result in the reclassification of all held-to-maturity 
investments as available-for-sale, and prevent the Group from classifying investment securities as 
held-to-maturity for the current and the following two financial years.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
in an active market. Such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable 
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition loans and receivables are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.

Loans and receivables comprise trade and other receivables.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits with original maturities of three 
months or less.

(ii) Non-derivative financial liabilities

The Group initially recognises financial liabilities on the trade date at which the Group becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled 
or expired.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial 
position when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to 
settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group has the following non-derivative financial liabilities: loans and borrowings and trade and 
other payables.

Such financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction 
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method.

(iii) Share capital

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary 
shares and share options are recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.
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(d) Property, plant and equipment

(i) Recognition and measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and 

accumulated impairment losses (see note 2(h)).

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of 

self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly 

attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended use, and the costs of 

dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located and capitalised 

borrowing costs (see note 2(p)). Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related 

equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment.

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted 

for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

(ii) Subsequent costs

The cost of replacing a component of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the 

carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the 

component will flow to the Group and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the 

replaced component is derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and 

equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

(iii) Depreciation

Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual value. Significant components of 

individual assets are assessed and if a component has a useful life that is different from the remainder 

of that asset, that component is depreciated separately.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis 

over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of property, plant and equipment. Buildings 

held for own use which are situated on leasehold land are depreciated over the shorter of the 

unexpired term of the lease and their estimated useful lives, ranging from 55 to 59 years after the date 

of completion.
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(d) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

(iii) Depreciation (continued)

The estimated useful lives of other property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Buildings 55 – 59 years

Machinery and equipments 5 – 10 years

Electronic and other equipments 3 – 10 years

Motor vehicles 5 – 10 years

Leasehold improvements 10 years or the remaining term of any

non-renewable lease, whichever is shorter

Others 5 – 10 years

No depreciation is provided for assets under construction until such time as the relevant assets are 

completed and available for intended use. Assets under construction are transferred to the relevant 

category of property, plant and equipment upon the completion of their respective construction.

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and 

adjusted if appropriate.

(iv) Construction in progress

Construction in progress represents primarily leasehold improvements, machinery and equipment, 

which are stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses (see note 2(i)). Cost includes all direct 

costs relating to the construction of the assets and installation.

(v) Disposal

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by 

comparing the proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment and 

are recognised net within other net income in the profit or loss.

(e) intangible assets

The Group’s intangible assets are entry rights paid prior to starting up a store. When the entry rights is 

paid to the previous tenant, it is classified within intangible assets and is amortised using the straight-line 

method over a period of 20 years which is over the lease term, and is tested for impairment at each 

balance sheet date, or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may 

not be recoverable.
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(f) Operating lease charges

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the 

term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised as an integral part of the total lease expense, 

over the term of the lease.

(g) inventories

Inventories comprise merchandise purchased for resale and are measured at the lower of cost and net 

realisable value.

The cost of inventories is based on the first-in, first-out principle, and includes goods purchase cost and 

other direct costs.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable 

variable selling expenses. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses 

of inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of 

any reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories 

recognised as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

(h) impairment of assets

(i) Non-derivative financial assets

A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting date 

to determine whether there is objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is impaired if 

objective evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, 

and that the loss event had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can 

be estimated reliably.

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired can include default or delinquency by a debtor, 

restructuring of an amount due to the Group on terms that the Group would not consider otherwise, 

indications that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy, the disappearance of an active market for a 

security. In addition, for an investment in an equity security, a significant or prolonged decline in its fair 

value below its cost is objective evidence of impairment.
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(h) impairment of assets (continued)

(i) Non-derivative financial assets (continued)

Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investment securities

The Group considers evidence of impairment for loans and receivables and held-to-maturity 

investment securities at both a specific asset and collective level. All individually significant 

receivables and held-to-maturity investment securities are assessed for specific impairment. All 

individually significant loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investment securities found not 

to be specifically impaired are then collectively assessed for any impairment that has been incurred 

but not yet identified. Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investment securities that are not 

individually significant are collectively assessed for impairment by grouping together receivables and 

held-to-maturity investment securities with similar risk characteristics.

In assessing collective impairment the Group uses historical trends of the probability of default, timing 

of recoveries and the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for management’s judgment as to whether 

current economic and credit conditions are such that the actual losses are likely to be greater or less 

than suggested by historical trends.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the 

difference between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows 

discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. Losses are recognised in profit or loss and 

reflected in an allowance account against loans and receivables. Interest on the impaired asset 

continues to be recognised. When a subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to 

decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.

(ii) Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred 
tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of 
impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An 
impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its related cash-generating unit 
(CGU) exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less 
costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that 
cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates 
cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or 
CGU.
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(h) impairment of assets (continued)

(ii) Non-financial assets (continued)

The Group’s corporate assets do not generate separate cash inflows and are utilised by more than 

one CGU. Corporate assets are allocated to CGUs on a reasonable and consistent basis and tested 

for impairment as part of the testing of the CGU to which the corporate asset is allocated.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs 

are allocated to reduce the carrying amounts of the assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata 

basis.

Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications 

that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a 

change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed 

only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would 

have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

(iii) Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, 

the Group is required to prepare an interim financial report in compliance with IAS 34, Interim financial 

reporting, in respect of the first six months of the financial year. At the end of the interim period, the 

Group applies the same reversal criteria as it would at the end of the financial year.

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in respect of goodwill, available-for-sale equity 

securities and unquoted equity securities carried at cost are not reversed in a subsequent period. This 

is the case even if no loss, or a smaller loss, would have been recognised had the impairment been 

assessed only at the end of the financial year to which the interim period relates. Consequently, if the 

fair value of an available-for-sale equity security increases in the remainder of the annual period, or in 

any other period subsequently, the increase is recognised in other comprehensive income and not in 

profit or loss.
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(i) Employee benefits

(i) Short-term employee benefits

Salary, annual bonuses and cost of non-monetary benefits are measured on an undiscounted basis 

and are expensed as the related service is provided.

(ii) Defined contribution retirement plan

Obligations for contributions to local government defined contribution retirement schemes pursuant 

to the relevant labour rules and regulations in the PRC and the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund 

Scheme Ordinance are recognised as an expense in profit or loss as incurred.

(j) Provisions and contingent liabilities

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive 

obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be 

required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows 

at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 

to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be 

estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow 

of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the 

occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities 

unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

(k) Revenue

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Provided it is probable 

that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can be 

measured reliably, revenue is recognised in the profit or loss as follows:

(i) Direct sales

Revenue from direct sales is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, 

net of returns and trade discounts. Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards 

of ownership have been transferred to the buyer, recovery of the consideration is probable, the 

associated costs and possible return of goods can be estimated reliably, there is no continuing 

management involvement with the goods, and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably.
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(k) Revenue (continued)

(i) Direct sales (continued)

Sales of goods that result in award credits for customers under the Group’s customer loyalty 

programme, are accounted for as multiple element revenue transactions and the fair value of the 

consideration received or receivable is allocated between the goods sold and the award credits 

granted. The consideration allocated to the award credits is measured by reference to the fair value 

of the cash coupons for which they could be redeemed. Such consideration is not recognised as 

revenue at the time of the initial sale transaction, but is deferred and recognised as revenue when the 

award credits are redeemed and the Group’s obligations have been fulfilled.

(ii) Commission from concessionaire sales

Commission from concessionaire sales is recognised upon the sales of the concessionaire’s goods by 

the relevant stores.

(iii) Rental income from operating leases

Rental income from subleased shop premises under operating leases is recognised in profit or loss 

in equal instalments over the period covered by the lease term, except where an alternative basis is 

more representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset. Lease 

incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the aggregate net lease 

payments receivable. Contingent rentals are recognised as income in the accounting period in which 

they are earned.

(iv) Promotion, administration and management income

Promotion, administration and management income are recognised according to the underlying 

contract terms with suppliers and concessionaries and as the services are provided accordingly.

(v) Credit card handling fees

Credit card handling fees is recognised when the relevant service is rendered.

(vi) Pre-paid gift cards

Pre-paid gift cards sold are recognised as liabilities in the statement of financial position initially. 

Revenue from pre-paid gift cards is recognised in the profit or loss as follows:

• When goods are delivered to customers and other criteria set out in note 2(k)(i) are met;

• Long-aged pre-paid gift cards are recognised as revenue if the management considered the 

likelihood of redemption is remote.
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(l) finance income and costs

Finance income comprises gains on the disposal of held-for-trading investments, interest income and 

foreign currency gains. Interest income is recognised as it accrues, using the effective interest method.

Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings. All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or 

loss or capitalised using the effective interest method (see note 2(p)).

Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis.

(m) income tax expense

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in profit or loss 

except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in other comprehensive income or equity, in 

which case it is recognised in other comprehensive income or equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or 

substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous 

years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable temporary differences respectively, 

being the differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purpose 

and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent 

that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be utilised, are 

recognised. Future taxable profits that may support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from 

deductible temporary differences include those that will arise from the reversal of existing taxable temporary 

differences, provided those differences relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, 

and are expected to reverse either in the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible temporary 

difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax assets can be carried back or 

forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining whether existing taxable temporary differences 

support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those 

differences are taken into account if they relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, 

and are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the expected manner of realisation or 

settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively 

enacted at the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.
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(m) income tax expense (continued)

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at each reporting date and is reduced to the 

extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow the related tax 

benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient 

taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are recognised when the liability to pay 

the related dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements therein, are presented separately from 

each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax 

assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group has the legally enforceable right to set 

off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following additional conditions are met:

– in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Company or the Group intends either to settle on a 

net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously, or

– in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax 

authority on either:

– the same taxable entity, or

– different taxable entities, which, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred 

tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered, intend to realise the current tax 

assets and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and settle simultaneously.

(n) Dividends

Dividends are recognised as a liability in the period in which they are declared.

(o) Earnings per share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS 

is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the 

weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is determined 

by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of 

ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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(p) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in profit or loss in the year in which they are incurred, except to the extent 

that they are capitalised as being directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an 

asset which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a qualifying asset commences when 

expenditures for the asset are being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities that are 

necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing 

costs is suspended or ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset 

for its intended use or sale are interrupted or completed.

(q) segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the financial statements, 

are identified from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive 

management for the purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s 

various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the 

segments have similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products and 

services, the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the products or provide the 

services, and the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not individually 

material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

The directors consider that the Group operates in a single business segment, i.e., operation and 

management of department stores in the PRC. Accordingly, no segmental analysis is presented.

The information reported to the Chairman of the Company, who is the Group’s chief operating decision 

maker for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of performance, is prepared based on the 

overall operation of department stores in the PRC, which is the only operating and reporting segment 

of the Group. All revenues from external customers during the year are generated in the PRC and all 

significant operating assets of the Group are located in the PRC.
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2 suMMARY Of siGnifiCAnt ACCOuntinG POLiCiEs (continued)

(r) Related parties

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or the Company’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the company are members of the same group (which means that each parent, 

subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a 

member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or 

an entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 

management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to influence, or 

be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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3 ChAnGEs in ACCOuntinG POLiCiEs

The IASB has issued a number of amendments to IFRSs and new Interpretation that are first effective for the 

current accounting period of the Group.

Of these, the following developments are relevant to the Group’s financial statements:

• IaS 24 (revised 2009), related party disclosures

• Improvements to IFrSs (2010).

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for the current accounting 

period.

The impacts of other developments are discussed below:

• IaS 24 (revised 2009) revises the definition of a related party. as a result, the Group has re-assessed the 

identification of related parties and concluded that the revised definition does not have any material impact 

on the Group’s related party disclosures in the current and previous period. IAS 24 (revised 2009) also 

introduces modified disclosure requirements for government-related entities. This does not impact the 

Group because the Group is not a government-related entity.

• Improvements to IFrSs (2010) omnibus standard introduce a number of amendments to the disclosure 

requirements in IFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures. These amendments do not have any material 

impact on the classification, recognition and measurements of the amounts recognised in the financial 

statements in the current and previous periods.
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4 tuRnOvER

Turnover mainly represents direct sales, commission from concessionaire sales, rental income and income from 

reversal of unused prepaid card. The amount of each significant category of revenue recognised is as follows:

Year ended 31 December

2011 2010

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

Direct sales 1,171,117 1,014,400

Commission from concessionaire sales 198,075 219,886

Rental income (i) 43,143 45,333

Income from reversal of long-aged pre-paid gift cards (ii) 21,251 –

1,433,586 1,279,619

(i) The rental income from the leasing of shop premises is analysed as follows:

Year ended 31 December

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Sublease rental income 33,076 39,080

Contingent rental income 10,067 6,253

43,143 45,333

(ii) The amount represented the reversal of long-aged pre-paid gift cards for which the directors considered 

the likelihood of redemption was remote (2010: Nil).
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5 OthER OPERAtinG REvEnuE AnD OthER nEt (LOss)/inCOME

Year ended 31 December

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Other operating revenue

Promotion administration and management income 89,775 167,284

Credit card handling fees 19,623 13,488

Others 1,834 628

111,232 181,400

Other net (loss)/income

Net gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 78 14

Impairment loss on prepayments for acquisition

 of a property in Haifeng (see note 17(b)(iv)) (32,000) –

Provision for tendering deposit (see note 17(c)(i)) (10,000) –

Others 1,226 1,373

(40,696) 1,387

6 PROfit BEfORE tAX

Profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

(a) net finance income

Year ended 31 December

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Net gain on disposal of held-for-trading investments – (155)

Interest income (22,241) (8,049)

Finance income (22,241) (8,204)

Interest expenses 2,285 1,704

Finance costs 2,285 1,704

Net finance income (19,956) (6,500)
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6 PROfit BEfORE tAX (continued)

(b) Personnel costs

Year ended 31 December

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Wages, salaries, and other benefits 128,628 94,322

Contribution to defined contribution plans 5,714 4,160

134,342 98,482

Personnel costs include directors’ remuneration (see note 8).

The Group participates in pension funds organised by the PRC government. According to the respective 

pension fund regulations, the Group is required to pay annual contributions for the years ended 31 

December 2010 and 2011. The Group remits all the pension fund contributions to the respective social 

security offices, which are responsible for the payments and liabilities relating to the pension funds. The 

Group has no obligation for payment of retirement and other post-retirement benefits of employees other 

than the contributions described above.

The Group also operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the 

“MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance for all of its employees employed 

by the Company in Hong Kong. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employee’s basic 

salaries and are charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as they become payable 

in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from 

those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully 

with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

(c) Other items

Year ended 31 December

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Purchase of and changes in inventories 998,197 872,969

Depreciation and amortisation 39,620 31,204

Operating lease rental expense 135,663 108,476

Net foreign exchange loss 658 5,954

Auditor’s remuneration 6,000 1,533
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7 inCOME tAX EXPEnsE

(a) income tax expense in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income 
represents:

Year ended 31 December

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Current tax expense

– current year 48,920 70,734

– over provision in respect of prior years (1,581) –

47,339 70,734

Deferred tax expense

Origination and reversal of temporary differences (3,972) (3,350)

43,367 67,384

(i) Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands, the Group is not subject to any income 

tax in the Cayman Islands.

(ii) No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax was made for the subsidiaries located in Hong Kong as these 

subsidiaries did not have assessable profits subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax during the year. The 

payments of dividends by Hong Kong companies are not subject to any Hong Kong withholding tax.

(iii) Shenzhen Shirble Department Store Co., Ltd. (“Shirble Department Store (Shenzhen)”) and Shenzhen 

Shirble Chain Store Limited Liability Company (“Shirble Chain Store”) were entitled to a preferential 

income tax rate of 15% according to Regulations on Special Economic Zones in Guangdong Province 

(Approved for implementation at the 15th Meeting of the Standing Committee of the Fifth National 

People’s Congress on 26 August 1980). On 16 March 2007, the Fifth Plenary Session of the Tenth 

National People’s Congress passed the Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC (“New EIT Law”) which 

took effect on 1 January 2008. According to the New EIT Law and its relevant regulations issued in 

December 2007, the income tax rates applicable to Shirble Department Store (Shenzhen) and Shirble 

Chain Store are 24% for 2011 and 25% for 2012 onwards, respectively.

(iv) The applicable income tax rate is 25% for Changsha Shirble Department Store Limited Liability 

Company (“Shirble Department Store (Changsha)”), Changsha Shirble Apparel Co., Ltd. (“Shirble 

Apparel”), Shenzhen Shirble Mingxing Trading Co., Ltd. (“Shirble Mingxing Trading”), Shenzhen 

Xiangzhixuan Trading Co., Ltd. (“Shirble Xiangzhixuan”), Shenzhen Ruizhuo Trading Company Limited 

(“Shirble Ruizhuo”), Shenzhen Yuzhixiang Trading Company Limited (“Shirble Yuzhixiang”), Dongguan 

Shirble Department Store Co., Ltd (“Shirble Dongguan”) and Shanwei Shirble Department Store Co., 

Ltd (“Shirble Shanwei”).
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7 inCOME tAX EXPEnsE (continued)

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit at applicable tax rate:

Year ended 31 December

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Profit before tax 114,999 267,466

Notional tax on profit before taxation, calculated at

 the respective rates applicable to PRC subsidiaries 22,533 60,724

Over-provision in respect of prior year’s tax expenses (1,581) –

Withholding tax on dividends declared by the

 Group’s PRC subsidiaries 1,750 4,460

Deferred tax liabilities on expected profits distribution

 by the Group’s PRC subsidiaries (note 23(b)) 2,541 2,043

Tax effect of unused tax losses not recognised 6,400 –

Non-deductible expenses 11,724 157

43,367 67,384

(c) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of financial position represents:

Year ended 31 December

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Balance at beginning of the year 30,757 32,266

Provision for income tax for the year 47,339 70,734

Release of deferred tax liabilities upon distribution of

 dividend of PRC subsidiaries 2,043 –

Income tax paid during the year (45,990) (72,243)

Balance at the end of the year 34,149 30,757
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8 DiRECtORs’ REMunERAtiOn

Details of directors’ remuneration are as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2011
 

fee

Basic 
salaries,

allowances
and other

benefits
Discretionary

bonus

Contributions
to retirement

benefit
schemes total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

name of directors
Executive directors
Mr. YANG Xiangbo – 1,192 77 10 1,279
Madam YANG Xiaomei * – 567 – 9 576

Independent non-executive
 directors
ZHAO Jinlin 248 – – – 248
CHEN Fengliang 248 – – – 248
JIANG Hongkai 248 – – – 248

744 1,759 77 19 2,599

* Madam Yang Xiaomei was retired as an executive director, chief executive officer of the Company and a member of the 
nomination committee of the Board with effect from 17 November 2011.

Year ended 31 December 2010
 

Fee

Basic 
salaries,

allowances
and other

benefits
Discretionary

bonus

Contributions
to retirement

benefit
schemes Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
     

name of directors
Executive directors
Mr. YANG Xiangbo – 151 – – 151
Madam YANG Xiaomei – 1,091 – – 1,091

Independent non-executive
 directors
ZHAO Jinlin 130 – – – 130
CHEN Fengliang 130 – – – 130
JIANG Hongkai 130 – – – 130

     

390 1,242 – – 1,632
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8 DiRECtORs’ REMunERAtiOn (continued)

An analysis of directors’ remuneration by the number of directors and remuneration range is as follows:

Year ended 31 December

2011 2010

number of Number of

individuals individuals

Nil to HKD1,000,000 4 4

HKD1,000,000 to HKD1,500,000 1 1

9 inDiviDuALs with hiGhEst EMOLuMEnts

The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the year include one director of the Company (2010: 

One), whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented in note 8. Details of remuneration paid to the 

remaining four highest paid individuals of the Group are as follows:

Year ended 31 December

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Basic salaries, allowances and other benefits 4,653 1,965

Discretionary bonus 282 202

Contributions to retirement benefits schemes 20 18

4,955 2,185

The emoluments of the five (2010: five) individuals with the highest emoluments are within the following bands:

2011 2010

number of Number of

individuals individuals

Nil – HKD1,000,000 4 4

HKD1,000,000 – HKD1,500,000 1 1
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10 PROfit AttRiButABLE tO EQuitY shAREhOLDERs Of thE COMPAnY

The consolidated profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company includes a profit of RMB9,578,000 

(2010: loss of RMB8,034,000) which has been dealt with in the financial statements of the Company.

Reconciliation of the above amount to the Company’s profit for the year:

Year ended 31 December

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Amount of consolidated profit/(loss) attributable to equity shareholders

 dealt with in the Company’s financial statements 9,578 (8,034)

Dividends from a subsidiary in respect of the previous

 financial year, approved and paid during the year – 40,000

Dividends from a subsidiary attributable to the

 current year declared during the year 33,250 18,385

The Company’s profit for the year (note 24(a)) 42,828 50,351

11 OthER COMPREhEnsivE inCOME

Tax effect relating to each component of other comprehensive income

2011 2010

tax Tax

Before-tax (expense)/ net-of-tax Before-tax (expense)/ Net-of-tax

amount benefit amount amount benefit amount

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Exchange differences on

 translation of financial

 statements of overseas

 subsidiaries 208 – 208 93 – 93

Other comprehensive

 income 208 – 208 93 – 93
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12 BAsiC AnD DiLutED EARninGs PER shARE

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit attributable to equity shareholders of the 

Company of RMB71,632,000 (2010: RMB200,082,000) and the weighted average of 2,498,560,504 ordinary 

shares (2010: 1,952,054,795) in issue during the year, calculated as follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

2011 2010

number Number

of share of shares

Issued ordinary shares/shares issued upon incorporation 2,500,000,000 1

Issuance of shares upon the Reorganisation – 99,999

Effect of shares issued on initial public offering (see Note 24(b)(iv)) – 77,054,795

Effect of capitalisation issue (see Note 24(b)(v)) – 1,874,900,000

Effect of cancellation of repurchased shares (see Note 24(b)(vi)) (1,439,496) –

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

 for year ended 31 December 2,498,560,504 1,952,054,795

The weighted average number of shares in issue during the year ended 31 December 2010 was based on the 

assumption that the 1,875,000,000 shares before the listing of shares on the Stock Exchange were in issue, as 

if such shares had been outstanding through the year presented.

There were no dilutive potential ordinary shares throughout the years, and therefore, the basic and diluted 

earnings per share are the same.
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13 PROPERtY, PLAnt AnD EQuiPMEnt

the Group

Machinery furniture

and and other Motor Leasehold Construction

Buildings equipment equipment vehicles improvements Others in progress total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Cost:

At 1 January 2010 69,944 50,400 33,949 9,935 264,207 2,311 – 430,746

Additions – 19,963 2,725 1,928 701 17 45,764 71,098

Disposals (307) (37) (27) – – – – (371)

Transferred from construction

 in progress – – – – 45,764 – (45,764) –

At 31 December 2010 69,637 70,326 36,647 11,863 310,672 2,328 – 501,473

Additions – 12,610 13,049 4,442 64,350 20 23,805 118,276

Disposals – (313) (387) – (83) – – (783)

Transferred from construction

 in progress – – – – 9,559 – (9,559) –

At 31 December 2011 69,637 82,623 49,309 16,305 384,498 2,348 14,246 618,966

Accumulated depreciation:

At 1 January 2010 (3,641) (35,327) (25,073) (5,610) (166,866) (854) – (237,371)

Charge for the year (1,119) (2,059) (3,057) (1,268) (23,253) (448) – (31,204)

Disposals 30 33 17 – – – – 80

At 31 December 2010 (4,730) (37,353) (28,113) (6,878) (190,119) (1,302) – (268,495)

Charge for the year (1,095) (6,115) (1,385) (1,260) (29,015) (449) – (39,319)

Disposals – 10 332 – – – – 342

At 31 December 2011 (5,825) (43,458) (29,166) (8,138) (219,134) (1,751) – (307,472)

net book value:

At 31 December 2010 64,907 32,973 8,534 4,985 120,553 1,026 – 232,978

At 31 December 2011 63,812 39,165 20,143 8,167 165,364 597 14,246 311,494
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14 intAnGiBLE AssEts

Entry rights

RMB’000

Cost:

At 1 January 2011 –

Addition 32,186

At 31 December 2011 32,186

Accumulated amortisation:

At 1 January 2011 –

Charge for the year (301)

At 31 December 2011 (301)

net book value:

At 31 December 2011 31,885

At 31 December 2010 –

15 invEstMEnt in suBsiDiARiEs

the Company

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Unlisted shares, at cost 107,380 107,380
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15 invEstMEnt in suBsiDiARiEs (continued)

As of 31 December 2011, the Company has direct and indirect interests in the following subsidiaries, all of 
which are private companies. The particulars of these subsidiaries are set out below:

name of company

Place of 
incorporation/ 
operating

Percentage of
equity attributable

to the Company
Authorised/
issued and

paid-up capital Principal activitiesDirect indirect

Shirble Department Store
 Investment Limited
 (“Shirble Hong Kong”)

Hong Kong 100% – HKD10,000/

HKD1

Investment holding

Shirble Department Store 
 (Hong Kong) Limited

Hong Kong – 100% USD1,200/
USD1,200

Investment holding

Shirble Department
 Store (Shenzhen) (Note(i))

the PRC – 100% HKD460,000,000/
HKD460,000,000

Operation and
 management of 

 department stores

Shirble Chain Store (Note(ii)) the PRC – 100% RMB10,000,000/
RMB10,000,000

Operation and
 management of 

 department stores

Shirble Department
 Store (Changsha) (Note(ii))

the PRC – 100% RMB30,000,000/
RMB30,000,000

Operation and
 management of 

 department stores

Shirble Apparel (Note(ii)) the PRC – 100% RMB100,000/
RMB100,000

Selling merchandise
 and apparels

Shirble Mingxing Trading 
 (Note(ii))

the PRC – 100% RMB100,000/
RMB100,000

Selling merchandise

Shirble Xiangzhixuan (Note(ii)) the PRC – 100% RMB100,000/
RMB100,000

Selling merchandise

Shirble Ruizhuo (Note(ii)) the PRC – 100% RMB100,000/
RMB100,000

Selling merchandise

Shirble Yuzhixiang (Note(ii)) the PRC – 100% RMB1,000,000/
RMB1,000,000

Selling merchandise

Shirble Dongguan (Note(ii)) the PRC – 100% RMB30,000,000/
RMB30,000,000

Operation and
 management of 

 department stores

Shirble Shanwei (Note(ii)) the PRC – 100% HKD230,000,000/
HKD230,000,000

Operation and
 management of 

 department stores

Notes:

(i) This entity is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in the PRC.

(ii) These entities are limited liability companies established in the PRC.
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16 invEntORiEs

the Group

At 31 December

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Carrying amount of Merchandise for resale 255,007 215,538

Write down of inventories (2,716) –

252,291 215,538

The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an expense is as follows:

Year ended 31 December

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Carrying amount of inventories sold 995,481 872,969

Write down of inventories 2,716 –

998,197 872,969

17 tRADE AnD OthER RECEivABLEs

the Group the Company

2011 2010 2011 2010

Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade receivables (a) 18,037 4,107 – –

Leased deposits 34,626 24,115 5,081 –

Interest receivables 9,385 819 9,385 –

Other receivables (c) 10,463 17,971 – 8,287

Prepaid rental 13,392 7,980 – –

Amounts due from subsidiaries – – 544,996 57,965

Prepayments and deposits (b) 480,330 96,595 68,000 1,699

Amounts due from related

 parties (note 28(b)) 1,536 – – –

567,769 151,587 627,462 67,951

All of the trade and other receivables, apart from deposits for lease of premises with a carrying amount of 

RMB34,626,000 at 31 December 2011 (2010: RMB24,115,000), are expected to be recovered or recognised 

as expenses or assets within one year.
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17 tRADE AnD OthER RECEivABLEs (continued)

(a) Retail sales to individual consumers are usually settled in cash, by debit card or by credit card. The Group 

has a policy of allowing a credit period ranging from 0 to 60 days to its corporate customers depending on 

the customers’ relationship with the Group, their credit worthiness and settlement records.

An ageing analysis of trade receivables of the Group is as follows:

At 31 December

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within three month 17,562 4,107

Over three months but within one year 475 –

18,037 4,107

(b) Breakdown of prepayments and deposits of the Group is as follows:

At 31 December

2011 2010

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

Prepayments for decoration (i) 88,896 38,612

Prepayments for acquisition of a distribution centre (ii) 41,250 41,250

Prepayments for acquisition of a property in Shenzhen (iii) 131,250 –

Prepayments for acquisition of a property in Haifeng (iv) 84,000 –

Prepayments to third parties/suppliers (v) 166,934 16,733

512,330 96,595

Provision of impairment loss on prepayments

 for acquisition of a property in Haifeng (iv) (32,000) –

Total 480,330 96,595

(i) The balance includes payments of RMB55.3 million made to two decoration companies as 

prepayments for the decoration work of two department stores of the Group. The prepayments 

represent 70.0% of the contract amount of the decoration work. The contracts for the decoration 

work were terminated by mutual agreement between the parties and the prepayments of RMB55.3 

million were refunded from the respective decoration companies subsequent to the year-end date 

because of the delay in delivery/acquisition of properties of two department stores and the new 

implementation of the contractors selection procedures.
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17 tRADE AnD OthER RECEivABLEs (continued)

(b) Breakdown of prepayments and deposits of the Group is as follows: (continued)

(ii) The balance represents a prepayment for purchase of a distribution centre from a developer. As the 

Directors have assessed the risk involved in the non-delivery of the distribution centre and a more 

suitable alternative had been provided to the Board, the Board decided to terminate the relevant non-

binding letter of intent for purchase of the distribution centre and the prepayment of RMB41.25 million 

was refunded from the developer in March 2012. No construction work has been commenced.

(iii) The balance represents a prepayment for purchase from the developer of a three-storey commercial 

property located in Shenzhen. The prepayments represent 50.0% of the consideration under the sale 

and purchase agreement. The contract for purchasing the three-storey commercial property was 

terminated by mutual agreement between the parties due to increased costs for modifications of 

internal structural designs according to the Group’s requirements, and the prepayment of RMB131.25 

million was refunded from the developer in March 2012.

(iv) The balance represents a prepayment for purchase of a property located in Haifeng from a developer, 

Haifeng Wanye Property Development Co., Ltd. (“Haifeng Wanye”). In accordance with the sale and 

purchase agreement signed between Haifeng Wanye and the Company dated 28 December 2011 

(“Haifeng Sale and Purchase Agreement”), the consideration for the property is RMB168.0 million.

After signing the Haifeng Sale and Purchase Agreement, Shanwei Shirble and Haifeng Wanye 

negotiated and agreed to reduce the amount of the first instalment from RMB89.0 million to RMB84.0 

million. The Haifeng Sale and Purchase Agreement does not provide for the specific terms for 

adjustments to the amount of the first instalment. In the circumstances, the payment of RMB84.0 

million was settled by the Group, of which RMB16.0 million was paid to Haifeng Wanye in the PRC 

and the remaining balance of RMB68.0 million was paid by the Company in Hong Kong to three 

individuals and one company in their respective bank accounts in Hong Kong in accordance with 

the instructions of Haifeng Wanye. The payment arrangement was made in accordance with the 

Haifeng Sale and Purchase Agreement, the terms of which has been approved by the Board. The 

Directors confirm that the payments made to Haifeng Wanye’s nominated persons were made in strict 

compliance with the Haifeng Sale and Purchase Agreement, and upon the request made by, Haifeng 

Wanye.

On 1 April 2012, the Group made a further payment of RMB79.0 million (which includes RMB11.0 

million as partial settlement of 2nd installment and RMB68.0 million, being the same amount originally 

paid  in offshore) to Haifeng Wanye in the PRC, and Haifeng Wanye refunded RMB68.0 million to the 

Group through the three offshore individuals and one offshore company during the period from 11 

April 2012 to 13 April 2012. In July 2012, the Group made a further payment of RMB68.0 million to 

Haifeng Wanye. Up to the date of these financial statements, net payments of RMB163.0 million has 

been made by the Group to Haifeng Wanye for the acquisition of the property located in Haifeng. 

Pursuant to the Haifeng Sale and Purchase Agreement, the remaining balance of RMB5.0 million is 

expected to be made in around December 2012 when the building ownership certificate is issued.
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17 tRADE AnD OthER RECEivABLEs (continued)

(b) Breakdown of prepayments and deposits of the Group is as follows: (continued)

The consideration for the property stated in the form submitted to the government authorities on 22 
March 2012 was RMB100.0 million which is RMB68.0 million less than the consideration set forth 
in the Haifeng Sale and Purchase Agreement. The Directors were told by Haifeng Wanye that the 
arrangements were intended to be made for Haifeng Wanye’s tax consideration purpose. Because the 
arrangement did not expose the Group to any additional payment obligation, the Group followed the 
requests made by Haifeng Wanye. At that time, the Group sought verbal legal advice from its PRC 
legal advisers and was advised that the consideration for the property registered with the government 
authorities should be the same as the consideration stipulated in the Haifeng Sale and Purchase 
Agreement. The PRC legal advisers also advised that there would be no legal or tax consequence 
for the Group if, upon full payment of the consideration of RMB168.0 million by the Group to Haifeng 
Wanye, all the subsequent documents to be submitted to local government authorities and the related 
certificates to be issued, would reflect the total amount of consideration of RMB168.0 million. Upon 
settlement of RMB163.0 million, the online registration documents which reflect a total consideration 
of RMB168.0 million was re-submitted on 1 August 2012. Pursuant to the Haifeng Sale and Purchase 
Agreement, the remaining balance of RMB5.0 million is expected to be made in around December 
2012, which is the expected issuance date of the building ownership certificate.

Prior to entering into the transaction, the Board has appointed an independent property valuer, 
Property Valuer A, to conduct a valuation of the property in Haifeng County. According to the 
valuation report prepared by Property Valuer A, the valuation of the property in Haifeng County as 
of 30 November 2011 was RMB170.0 million. The Directors understand that the valuation method 
used in the report prepared by Property Valuer A is by comparing the market value or the estimated 
amount for which a property should exchange in an arm’s-length transaction of other properties in 
the surrounding area of the property in Haifeng County. Hence, the valuation is essentially based on a 
comparison of the comparable properties considered to be appropriate by Property Valuer A.

During the course of the audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 
December 2011, the Auditors requested the appointment of another property valuer for a second 
opinion on the value of the property in Haifeng County. In order to support and expedite the process, 
the Directors appointed Property Valuer B on 3 April 2012. Property Valuer B, among a few other 
independent property valuers, was introduced to the Company through the Auditors. The valuation 
report of Property Valuer B was provided on 25 May 2012 and stated that the valuation as of 31 
December 2011 was RMB136.0 million. Based on the valuation report by Property Valuer B, the 
difference of RMB32.0 million was recognised as an impairment loss on prepayments for acquisition 
of the property in Haifeng County. The Directors understand that the valuation method used in the 
report prepared by Property Valuer B is by comparing the the market value or the estimated amount 
for which a property should exchange in an arm’s-length transaction of other similar properties in 
Guangdong (including Haifeng County, Foshan City and Tianhe District) – an area which is much larger 
than the area selected by Property Valuer A.

The Company will continue to proceed with the Haifeng Sale and Purchase Agreement.

(v) The balance included payments of RMB152.5 million made to three entities as prepayments for 
purchase of goods at 31 December 2011. Additional RMB110.0 million prepayments were made by 
the Group to two of these three entities in January 2012. All of these prepayments were refunded 

from these three entities in March 2012.
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17 tRADE AnD OthER RECEivABLEs (continued)

(c) Breakdown of other receivables is as follows:

As at 31 December

2011 2010

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

Other receivables 20,463 17,971

Provision for tendering deposit (i) (10,000) –

10,463 17,971

(i) In December 2011, the Group paid RMB10.0 million as a deposit for the tendering of a project 

in Dongguan, PRC to the local government. The Group’s tender has been accepted by the local 

government, but details of the terms of the agreement is still under negotiation and formal agreement 

is yet to be entered into. In view of the uncertainty of the project, a provision has been made.

(d) RMB70 million was received from Dongguan Tongqi Trading Co., Ltd. (“Tongqi”) during the period from 29 

November 2011 and 20 December 2011, which were subsequently returned to Tongqi by the Group on 29 

December 2011 and 30 December 2011.

RMB30 million was received from Shenzhen Taida Hongyuan Trading Co., Ltd (“Taida Hongyuan”) on 20 

January 2012, which were subsequently returned to Taida Hongyuan by the Group on 14 March 2012.

18 hELD-tO-MAtuRitY invEstMEnts

the Group and the Company

At 31 December

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Held-to-maturity investments – 85,093

As at 31 December 2010, the balance represents investment in unlisted f ixed-rate bank note of 

HKD100,000,000 which was due on 24 June 2011.

19 PLEDGED DEPOsits

Bank deposits of RMB430,152,000 (2010: Nil) as at 31 December 2011 were pledged to secure the Group’s 

and the Company’s bank loans (see note 22).
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20 CAsh AnD CAsh EQuivALEnts

the Group the Company

2011 2010 2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Deposit with banks within 

 three months of maturity – 90,000 – –

Fixed deposits with banks 350,000 – – –

Cash at banks and on hand 953,303 1,645,974 374,232 996,431

1,303,303 1,735,974 374,232 996,431

21 tRADE AnD OthER PAYABLEs

the Group the Company

2011 2010 2011 2010

Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Amounts due to related 

 parties (see note 28(b)) (i) 2,959 5,480 – –

Advances received from

 customers 413,903 389,859 – –

Trade payables (ii) 347,448 278,054 – –

Rental payables 102,553 86,959 – –

Other taxes payables 53,668 49,213 – –

Deferred income 31,665 24,834 – –

Accrued wages and salaries 15,650 12,888 609 –

Amounts due to subsidiaries – – 71,627 28,405

Advances from third parties (iii) 69,637 – – –

Other payables and accruals 67,098 46,282 2,288 2,071

1,104,581 893,569 74,524 30,476

(i) Amounts due to related parties at 31 December 2010 and 2011 are unsecured, interest-free and repayable 

on demand.
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21 tRADE AnD OthER PAYABLEs (continued)

(ii) An ageing analysis of trade payables of the Group is as follows:

At 31 December

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within three months 254,333 220,866

Over three months but within one year 63,356 44,244

Over one year 29,759 12,944

347,448 278,054

(iii) RMB69.6 million advances from 57 entities were received by the Group as of 31 December 2011. From 

March 2012 to September 2012, RMB63.6 million were returned by the Group to 42 out of these 57 

entities. Among these 57 entities, 39 are suppliers of the Group.

22 intEREst-BEARinG BORROwinGs

the Group and the Company

At 31 December

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Current

Secured bank loans 243,210 –

At 31 December 2011, the bank loans were denominated in Hong Kong dollar and subject to an annual interest 

rate of 1.104%. The bank loans of the Group were secured by the pledged deposits of RMB430,152,000 (see 

note 19).
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23 DEfERRED tAX AssEts AnD LiABiLitiEs

(a) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised

(i) The Group

The components of deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised in the consolidated statement of 

financial position and the movements during the year are as follows:

Accrued

expenses, Depreciation undistributed

deferred on property, profits

revenue plant and of PRC total

and others equipment subsidiaries deferred tax

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Deferred tax arising from:

At 1 January 2010 20,992 9,858 – 30,850

Credited/(charged) to 

 consolidated statement of 

 comprehensive income 4,056 1,337 (2,043) 3,350

At 31 December 2010 25,048 11,195 (2,043) 34,200

Credited/(charged) to 

 consolidated statement of 

 comprehensive income 4,948 1,565 (2,541) 3,972

Release upon distribution of 

 dividend – – 2,043 2,043

At 31 December 2011 29,996 12,760 (2,541) 40,215

(ii) Reconciliation to the statement of financial position

At 31 December

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Net deferred tax assets recognised on the 

 statement of financial position 42,756 36,243

Net deferred tax liabilities recognised on 

 the statement of financial position (2,541) (2,043)

40,215 34,200
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23 DEfERRED tAX AssEts AnD LiABiLitiEs (continued)

(b) Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

Pursuant to the New EIT Law in the PRC, 10% withholding tax is levied on foreign investors (5% for foreign 
investors who are registered in Hong Kong provided they meet certain criteria) in respect of dividend 
distributions arising from a foreign investment enterprise’s profit earned after 1 January 2008. As of 31 
December 2011, deferred tax liabilities of RMB2,541,000 (31 December 2010: RMB2,043,000) have 
been recognised in respect of the tax that would be payable on the distribution of the retained profits of 
the Group’s PRC subsidiaries. Deferred tax liabilities of RMB12,787,986 have not been recognised, in 
respect of the remaining retained profits generated by its PRC entities subsequent to 31 December 2007 
amounting to RMB255,759,729, because the directors do not intend to declare dividends out of such 
retained profits to overseas companies in the foreseeable future.

(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised

As at 31 December 2011, the Group’s certain subsidiaries have not recognised deferred tax assets in 
respect of cumulative tax losses carried forward of RMB25,688,763 (2010: RMB7,772,578) which will 
expire within 5 years under the current tax legislation. The cumulative tax losses have not been recognised 
as a deferred tax asset as it is not probable that future taxable profits against which the losses can be 
utilised will be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity.

24 CAPitAL, REsERvEs AnD DiviDEnDs

(a) Movements in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of each component of the Group’s 
consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of the changes in 
the Company’s individual components of equity between the beginning and the end of the year are set out 
below:

the Company

Capital
share share redemption Contributed Retained total

capital premium reserve surplus earnings equity
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(note 24(b)) (note 24(c)(i)) (note 24(b)(vi)) (note 24(c)(iv))

At 1 January 2010 – – – – – –
Total comprehensive income for 
 the year 10 – – – – 50,351 50,351
Arising from the reorganisation 8 – – 107,372 – 107,380
Issuance of shares upon initial public 
 offering, net of issuance costs 24(b)(iv) 53,580 1,055,068 – – – 1,108,648
Capitalisation issue 24(b)(v) 160,730 (160,730) – – – –
Dividends to equity shareholders 24(d) – – – – (40,000) (40,000)

At 31 December 2010 214,318 894,338 – 107,372 10,351 1,226,379

At 1 January 2011 214,318 894,338 – 107,372 10,351 1,226,379
Total comprehensive income for 
 the year 10 – – – – 42,828 42,828
Purchase of own shares: 24(b)(vi)
 – par value paid (410) – – – – (410)
 – premium paid – – – – (3,805) (3,805)
 – transfer between reserves – – 410 – (410) –
Dividends to equity shareholders 24(d) – – – – (43,500) (43,500)

At 31 December 2011 213,908 894,338 410 107,372 5,464 1,221,492
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24 CAPitAL, REsERvEs AnD DiviDEnDs (continued)

(b) share capital

The share capital of the Group as at 1 January 2010 represents the aggregate amount of paid-in capital 
of all the companies comprising the Group at the respective dates, after elimination of investments in 
subsidiaries.

Pursuant to the Reorganisation, the Company became the holding company of the Group. The share 
capital of the Group as at 31 December 2010 represents the issued capital of the Company at the 
reporting date.

Movements in the authorised share capital and issued and fully paid share capital of the Company during 
the year are as follows:

Authorised issued and fully paid

nominal nominal
number of value of number of value of

ordinary ordinary ordinary ordinary
shares shares shares shares

Note (thousand) hkD’000 (thousand) hkD’000

At 1 January 2010 (i) 3,800 380 1 –
Issuance of new share 
 upon the reorganisation (ii) – – 99 10
Increase in authorised share
 capital on 18 June 2010 (iii) 14,996,200 1,499,620 – –
Issuance of shares upon
 initial public offering (iv) – – 625,000 62,500
Capitalisation issue (v) – – 1,874,900 187,490

At 31 December 2010 15,000,000 1,500,000 2,500,000 250,000

RMB equivalent (’000) 1,276,350 214,318

Authorised issued and fully paid

nominal nominal
number of value of number of value of

ordinary ordinary ordinary ordinary
shares shares shares shares

Note (thousand) hkD’000 (thousand) hkD’000

At 1 January 2011 15,000,000 1,500,000 2,500,000 250,000
Cancellation of
 repurchased share (vi) – – (5,000) (500)

At 31 December 2011 15,000,000 1,500,000 2,495,000 249,500

RMB equivalent (’000) 1,276,350 213,908
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24 CAPitAL, REsERvEs AnD DiviDEnDs (continued)

(b) share capital (continued)

(i) The Company was incorporated in Cayman Islands on 5 November 2008 with an authorised share 

capital of HKD380,000 divided into 3,800,000 shares of HKD0.10 each. On the same date, one share 

was subscribed by Codan Trust Company (Cayman) Limited which was subsequently transferred to 

Mr. YANG Xiangbo. On the same date, an additional 914 shares was allotted and issued to Mr. YANG 

Xiangbo, 60 shares were allotted and issued to Madam YANG Xiaomei and 25 shares were allotted 

and issued to Mr. LI Zuolin.

(ii) On 5 August 2009, Shirble Department Store (Shenzhen) acquired all the equity interest of Shirble 

Chain Store amounting to RMB10,000,000, which was previously held by Shenzhen Ruizhuo 

Investment Development Co., Ltd. (“Ruizhuo Investment”) and Shenzhen Hengda Investment 

Development Co., Ltd.(“Hengda Investment”), at a consideration of the same amount. Accordingly, 

the share capital of Shirble Chain Store was eliminated in preparing the consolidated statement of 

financial position from that date.

On 9 December 2009, the Company, Shirble Hong Kong and Shirble Department Store Limited 

(“Shirble BVI”) entered into a share exchange agreement pursuant to which Shirble BVI transferred the 

entire equity interest in Shirble Department Store (Shenzhen) to Shirble Hong Kong, a wholly owned 

subsidiary of the Company, in exchange for 87,751 ordinary shares of HKD0.10 each issued by the 

Company. The transfer was approved by the relevant PRC government authorities on 11 March 2010.

On 15 June 2010, a share exchange agreement was entered into whereby Homey Enterprises Limited 

(“Homey Enterprises”) and Kwan Mei Enterprise Limited (“Kwan Mei Enterprise”) transferred to Xiang 

Rong Investment Limited (“Xiang Rong Investment”) their shareholding in Shirble BVI, in consideration 

of Xiang Rong Investment paying an aggregate amount equal to the par value of the new shares as 

consideration for the Company to allot and issue to Homey Enterprises and Kwan Mei Enterprise 7,940 

new Shares and 3,309 new Shares, respectively.

(iii) Pursuant to the written resolution passed at the board of directors’ meeting on 18 June 2010, the 

authorised share capital of the Company was increased from HKD380,000 to HKD1,500,000,000 

comprising 15,000,000,000 shares of HKD0.10 each.

(iv) On 17 November 2010, 625,000,000 ordinary shares of HKD0.10 each were issued at a price of 

HKD2.20 per share under the initial public offering. Proceeds of HKD62,500,000 (equivalent to 

RMB53,580,000) representing the par value, were credited to the Company’s share capital and the 

excess of the proceeds over the nominal value of the total number of ordinary shares issued after 

offsetting issuance costs of RMB70,099,000, which amounted to RMB1,055,068,000, were credited 

to the share premium account of the Company.
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24 CAPitAL, REsERvEs AnD DiviDEnDs (continued)

(b) share capital (continued)

(v) Pursuant to a written resolution of the then shareholders of the Company passed on 30 October 2010, 

1,874,900,000 shares of HKD0.10 each in the Company were issued at par value on 17 November 

2010 to the Company’s existing shareholders as at 30 October 2010 by way of capitalisation of 

HKD187,490,000 (equivalent to RMB160,730,000) from the share premium account.

(vi) Purchase of own shares

During the year, the Company repurchased its own ordinary shares on the Stock Exchange of Hong 

Kong Limited as follows:

number of share highest Lowest

repurchased price paid price paid Aggregate

shares per share per share price paid

Date/Month/Year hkD hkD hkD’000

09 September 2011 300,000 1.16 1.14 345

12 September 2011 338,000 1.12 1.05 364

14 September 2011 572,000 1.08 1.02 599

15 September 2011 264,000 1.09 1.04 281

16 September 2011 540,000 1.12 1.06 588

19 September 2011 344,000 1.08 1.02 359

20 September 2011 858,000 1.02 0.97 844

21 September 2011 724,000 1.04 0.93 720

22 September 2011 1,060,000 1.00 0.94 1,030

5,000,000 5,130

RMB equivalent (’000) 4,215

The repurchased shares were cancelled and accordingly the issued share capital of the Company was 

reduced by the nominal value of these shares. Pursuant to section 37(3) of the Companies Law of 

the Cayman Islands, an amount equivalent to the par value of the shares cancelled of RMB410,000 

was transferred from retained profits to the capital redemption reserve. The premium paid on the 

repurchase of the shares of RMB3,805,000 was charged to retained profits.
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24 CAPitAL, REsERvEs AnD DiviDEnDs (continued)

(c) Reserves

(i) Share premium

The application of the share premium account is governed by the Companies Law of the Cayman 

Islands. Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the funds in share premium account are 

distributable to shareholders of the Company provided that immediately following the date on which 

the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as 

they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

(ii) Merger reserve

Merger reserve arising from the Reorganisation represents the excess of the paid-in capital of Shirble 
Department Store (Shenzhen) over the consideration paid by the Company, representing the nominal 
value of the shares issued by the Company in exchange thereof.

(iii) Statutory reserves

Statutory reserves were established in accordance with the relevant PRC rules and regulations and 
the articles of association of the companies comprising the Group which are incorporated in the PRC. 
Appropriations to the reserves were approved by the respective boards of directors’ meeting.

For the entity concerned, statutory reserves can be used to make good previous years’ losses, if any, 
and may be converted into capital in proportion to the existing equity interests of investors, provided 
that the balance of the reserve after such conversion is not less than 25% of the entity’s registered 
capital.

(iv) Contributed surplus

Contributed surplus represents the excess of the fair value of the shares of Shirble Hong Kong 
determined on the basis of the consolidated net assets of Shirble Hong Kong at the date of the 
Reorganisation over the nominal value of the shares issued by the Company in exchange thereof.

(v) Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the 
financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting 
policies set out in note 2(c).
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24 CAPitAL, REsERvEs AnD DiviDEnDs (continued)

(d) Dividends

(i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the company attributable to the year:

Year ended 31 December

2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000

Dividend declared and paid – 40,000
Interim dividend declared and paid of RMB1.33 cents 
 per share (2010: Nil) 33,250 –
Final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting period of 
 RMB0.62 cents per share (2010: RMB0.41 cents per share) 15,469 10,250
Special dividend proposed after the reporting period of
 RMB2.21 cents per share (2010: Nil) 55,139 –

103,858 50,250

The final and special dividend proposed after the end of the reporting period has not been recognised 
as liability at the end of the reporting period.

(ii) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the company attributable to the previous financial year, 

approved and paid during the year.

Year ended 31 December

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Final dividend in respect of the previous financial year, approved

 paid during the year, of RMB0.41 cents per share (2010: Nil) 10,250 –

25 finAnCiAL Risk MAnAGEMEnt AnD fAiR vALuEs

Financial assets of the Group include cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, pledged deposits 

and other investments. Financial liabilities of the Group include interest-bearing borrowings and trade and other 

payables.

The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

• credit risk

• liquidity risk

• market risk

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk 

management framework, and developing and monitoring the Group’s risk management policies.
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25 finAnCiAL Risk MAnAGEMEnt AnD fAiR vALuEs (continued)

The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, 

to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management 

policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities. 

The Group, through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and 

constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

(a) Credit risk

Management has a credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis. 

Credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit over a certain amount.

At the reporting date, the maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each 

financial asset in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The credit risk on liquid funds, held-to-maturity investments and pledged deposits is limited because the 

majority of the counterparties are state-owned banks.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk for receivables from non-related parties, as the 

exposure is spread over a large number of counterparties and customers. The Group believes that no 

impairment allowance is necessary in respect of those receivables based on historic default rates as they 

are not past due or past due by up to 30 days.

The Group does not provide any guarantee which would expose the Group to credit risk.

(b) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.

The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have 

sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without 

incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity requirements and its compliance 

with lending covenants, and to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed 

lines of funding from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and long 

term.

The Group had net current assets of RMB1,263,866,000 and RMB1,171,575,000 as at 31 December 

2010 and 2011, respectively. The Group had net cash generated from operating activities amounting to 

RMB582,287,000 and RMB127,567,000 for the years ended 31 December 2010 and 2011, respectively.
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25 finAnCiAL Risk MAnAGEMEnt AnD fAiR vALuEs (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued)

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments and 

excluding the impact of any netting agreement:

31 December 2010

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

Carrying

amount

Total

undiscounted

cash flow

Within

one year

or on

demand

More than

one year but

less than

five years

More than

five years

Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade and other payables 21 893,569 893,569 893,569 – –

31 December 2011

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
 

Carrying

amount

total

undiscounted

cash flow

within

one year

or on

demand

More than

one year but

less than

five years

More than

five years

Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest-bearing borrowings 22 243,210 245,895 245,895 – –

Trade and other payables 21 1,104,580 1,104,580 1,104,580 – –

1,347,790 1,350,475 1,350,475 – –

(c) Market risk

(i) Interest rate risk

Cash and cash equivalents and interest-bearing borrowings are the major types of the Group’s 

financial instruments subject to interest rate risk. Cash and cash equivalents are with fixed interest 

rates of approximately 0.36% per annum as at 31 December 2010 and 2011, respectively.
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25 finAnCiAL Risk MAnAGEMEnt AnD fAiR vALuEs (continued)

(c) Market risk (continued)

(i) Interest rate risk (continued)

The Group’s interest-bearing borrowings and interest rates as at 31 December 2010 and 2011 are set 

as below:

At 31 December

Effective 2011 2010

interest rate RMB’000 RMB’000

Fixed rate borrowings 1.104% 243,210 –

Sensitivity analysis

The Group does not account for any fixed rate borrowings at fair value through profit or loss. 

Therefore a change in interest rates at the reporting date would not affect profit or loss.

(ii) Foreign currency risk

RMB is not freely convertible into foreign currencies. All foreign exchange transactions involving RMB 

must take place through the People’s Bank of China or other institutions authorised to buy and sell 

foreign exchange. The exchange rate adopted for the foreign exchange transactions are the rates of 

exchange quoted by the People’s Bank of China that are determined largely by supply and demand. 

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily through cash and cash equivalents and 

held-to-maturity investments that are denominated in HKD, while all the other operations of the Group 

are mainly transacted in RMB.

The following table demonstrates the Group’s exposure at the reporting dates to currency risk arising 

from recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of 

the entity to which they relate.

At 31 December

2011 2010

hkD’000 HKD’000

Cash 22,496 407,008

Trade and other receivables 485 9,548

Held-to-maturity investments – 100,000

Statement of financial position exposure 22,981 516,556
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25 finAnCiAL Risk MAnAGEMEnt AnD fAiR vALuEs (continued)

(c) Market risk (continued)

(ii) Foreign currency risk (continued)

Foreign exchange sensitivity analysis

A 3 percent strengthening of the RMB against the HKD at 31 December would have decreased the 

profit by the amount shown below. This analysis assumes that the reasonably possible change in 

foreign exchange rates had occurred at the reporting dates and had been applied to each of the 

Group entities’ exposure to currency risk for financial instruments in existence at that date, and that 

all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. (The analysis has been performed on 

the same basis for 2010 and 2011.)

Year ended 31 December

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Profit decrease

 – HKD 503 13,186

A 3 percent weakening of the RMB against the HKD at 31 December would have had the equal but 

opposite effect on the above currency to the amounts shown above. The analysis has been performed 

on the basis that all other variables remain constant.

(d) fair value

The carrying amounts of significant financial assets and liabilities approximate their respective fair values as 

at 31 December 2010 and 2011, respectively.

(e) Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue 

as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other 

stakeholders, by pricing products and services commensurately with the level of risk and by securing 

access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to maintain a balance between 

the higher shareholder returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages 

and security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light 

of changes in economic conditions.

Consistent with industry practice, the Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of debt-to-equity 

ratio. For this purpose, the Group defines debt as total loans and borrowings and equity as total equity 

attributable to equity shareholders of the Company.
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25 finAnCiAL Risk MAnAGEMEnt AnD fAiR vALuEs (continued)

(e) Capital management (continued)

The debt-to-equity ratio at 31 December 2010 and 2011 was as follows:

At 31 December

2011 2010

Debt-to-equity ratio 16% –

26 CAPitAL COMMitMEnts

Acquisition and construction of property, plant and equipment

Capital commitments outstanding at the respective year end but not provided for in the consolidated financial 

statements were as follows:

At 31 December

2011 2010

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

Contracted for (i) 267,434 49,944

Authorised but not contracted for (ii) 221,276 127,950

488,710 177,894

(i) Capital commitment of RMB123.75 million for purchase a distribution centre were cancelled in March 2012 

(see note 17(b)(ii)).

(ii) Contracts related to capital commitments of RMB154.95 million were terminated subsequent to 31 

December 2011:

• Contracts related to capital commitment of RMB23.7 million for decoration work for two stores were 

terminated subsequent to the year end date (see note 17(b)(i)).

• Contracts related to capital commitment of RMB131.25 million for purchase a property in Shenzhen 

were terminated in March 2012 (see note 17(b)(iii)).
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27 OPERAtinG LEAsEs

(a) Leases as lessee

At each reporting date, the total future minimum lease payments of the Group under non-cancellable 

operating leases are payable as follows:

At 31 December

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within 1 year 141,442 146,155

After 1 year but within 5 years 696,643 565,434

After 5 years 1,162,069 1,153,077

2,000,154 1,864,666

The Group leases a number of properties under operating leases in respect of retail shops, offices and 

warehouses. The leases typically run for a period of 7 to 22 years, with an option to renew the lease when 

all terms should be subjected to renegotiation. None of the leases includes contingent rentals.

(b) Leases as lessor

Future minimum lease income under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

At 31 December

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within 1 year 16,558 21,624

After 1 year but within 5 years 25,288 37,971

After 5 years 6,805 11,063

48,651 70,658
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28 RELAtED PARtY tRAnsACtiOns

For the year ended 31 December 2011, transactions with the following parties are considered as related party 

transactions.

name of party Relationship

Ruizhuo Investment Owned in equal shares by
Mr. YANG Xiangbo’s nephew and niece

Hengda Investment Ultimately Controlled by Mr. YANG Xiangbo,
one of the Controlling Shareholders

Shenzhen Guozhan Investment
 Development Co., Ltd.
 (“Shenzhen Guozhan”)

Wholly-owned by Mr. YANG Xiangbo’s
brother-in-law and niece, who is one of the equity

interest holders of Ruizhuo Investment

Luhe County Shirble Inn (“Shirble Inn”) Controlled by Mr. YANG Xiangbo,
one of the Controlling Shareholders

Shirble Property Management (Shenzhen)
 Co., Ltd. (“Shirble Property Management”)

Controlled by Mr. YANG Xiangbo,
one of the Controlling Shareholders

Mr. YANG Xiangbo One of the Controlling Shareholders

Shirble Group (Shenzhen) Property
 Development Co., Ltd.
 (“Shirble Property”)

Controlled by Mr. YANG Xiangbo, one
of the Controlling Shareholders

Ms. ZHU Bihui Mr. YANG Xiangbo’s niece

Shenzhen Tangming Logistic Co., Ltd.
 (“Tangming”)

Wholly-owned by Ms. ZHU Bihui,
who is one of the equity interest

holders of RuiZhuo Investment
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28 RELAtED PARtY tRAnsACtiOns (continued)

(a) significant related party transactions

Particulars of significant transactions between the Group and the above related parties during the years 
ended 31 December 2010 and 2011 are as follows:

Year ended 31 December

2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000

Rental fee paid to
Ruizhuo Investment 1,457 1,477
Shenzhen Guozhan 8,048 8,237
Shirble Inn 198 198

9,703 9,912

The Group entered into lease agreements in respect of certain leasehold properties with related parties of 
the Group for its distribution centre, retail shops, training centre and employee dormitories.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the above related party transactions were conducted 
on terms no less favourable to the Group than terms available to or from independent third parties and in 
the ordinary course of business.

Year ended 31 December

2011 2010
Non-recurring transactions: RMB’000 RMB’000

Advances to
Tangming 54,589 –
Hengda Investment 9,110 30,300
Shenzhen Guozhan 2,812 3,200

66,511 33,500

Repayment of advance from
Tangming (54,589) –
Hengda Investment (9,110) (294,009)
Shenzhen Guozhan (2,812) (64,270)
Mr. YANG Xiangbo – (52,476)
Ruizhuo Investment – (297)

(66,511) (411,052)

Dispose properties to
Ruizhuo Investment – 297

Rental fee paid to
Shirble Property Management – 209
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28 RELAtED PARtY tRAnsACtiOns (continued)

(b) Balances with related parties

At 31 December

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Amounts due to

Ruizhuo Investment 1,132 389

Shirble Property Management 260 260

Shenzhen Guozhan – 4,831

Mr. YANG Xiangbo 1,567 –

2,959 5,480

Amounts due from

Shenzhen Guozhan 1,536 –

The outstanding balances with these related parties are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed 

repayment terms.

(c) transaction with key management personnel

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s 

directors as disclosed in note 8 and certain of the highest paid employees as disclosed in note 9, is as 

follows:

Year ended 31 December

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Short-term employee benefits 6,246 5,406

Post employment benefits 29 71

6,275 5,477

Total remuneration is included in “personnel costs” (see note 6(b)).

29 iMMEDiAtE AnD uLtiMAtE hOLDinG COMPAnY

The directors consider the immediate parent and ultimate controlling party of the Group to be Shirble BVI and 

Xiang Rong Investment, which are incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. Neither of them produces financial 

statements available for public use.



shiRBLE DEPARtMEnt stORE hOLDinGs (ChinA) LiMitED • aNNUaL rEPOrT 2011

104

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2011

30 POst BALAnCE shEEt EvEnt

(a) After the end of the reporting period, the Board of Directors proposed final dividend and special dividend. 
Further details are disclosed in note 24(d).

(b) After 31 December 2011, certain prepayments and deposits amounted to RMB380.3 million has been 
returned to the Group. The details are as follows:

(i) Prepayments in connection with decoration work under the decoration agreements in the amount 
of RMB55.3 million have been returned by two decoration companies upon the termination of the 
relevant decoration agreements. The parties have agreed to terminate the decoration agreements 
because of (a) the delay in the lease and the acquisition of the property in Meizhou as the vendor 
did not obtain the building ownership certificate for certain area of the property; (b) the delay in the 
delivery of the property at Haifeng County due to additional structural modifications to be made by the 
property developer to fulfill the delivery standards and (c) the implementation of the new contractors 
selection procedures. No penalty was imposed for termination of the decoration agreements in view of 
the long-term business relationship between the Group and the relevant decoration companies.

(ii) A deposit of RMB131.25 million for the acquisition of a three-storey commercial property to be 
constructed on a parcel of land located at Shajing, Bao’an District, Shenzhen has been returned to 
the Group as a result of the termination of Shenzhen Sale and Purchase Agreement by the parties. 
After the property developer obtained the relevant land-use right certificate, construction land planning 
permit, construction works planning permit and construction works commencement permit for the 
construction of the property, the Group requested for modifications to the original structural design. 
However, such changes would increase the construction cost of the property developer and hence, 
the property developer requested for an increase in the purchase price. Following various negotiations, 
the Group and the property developer were not able to reach an agreement on the increased 
purchase price and subsequently. In March 2012, both parties agreed to terminate the agreement 
and the property developer returned the deposit of RMB131.25 million with no penalty payable by the 
Group.

(iii) A deposit of RMB41.25 million for the acquisition of a distribution center in Shenzhen was returned to 
the Group. As the Directors have further assessed the risk involved in the nondelivery of the property 
and an alternative property was provided to the Board, the relevant non-binding letter of intent was 
terminated by the Group in writing on 25 March 2012.

(iv) Prepayments to suppliers for procurement of goods in the amount of RMB152.5 million was returned 
to the Group after further negotiations with the suppliers. Shirble Department Store (Shenzhen) had 
entered into one-year contracts (as supplemented by the supplemental procurement contracts) with 
three suppliers (all of which are Independent Third Parties) for the purpose of securing sufficient 
supply (or at more competitive prices) of goods which have significant demand, such as wine and 
food, in the peak seasons. The procurement of goods from the three suppliers in 2011 was made in 
contemplation of the Group’s then proposed expansion plans of the five new department stores in 
total in the fourth quarter of 2011 and the first quarter of 2012, in which one new department store 
commenced business in September 2011, two in December 2011, one in January 2012 and one in 
March 2012. Payments were made by the Group prior to the peak seasons, including the RMB110.0 
million paid in January 2012 pursuant to the terms of the supplemental procurement contracts. Due 
to the market volatility and the fact that the supply and delivery time required by the suppliers did not 
satisfy the requirements of the Group, the suppliers agreed to refund the prepayments. No termination 
agreements were entered into with the three suppliers as the amount has been refunded to the Group. 
However, the Group has stopped procuring goods from these three suppliers since February 2012. 
No penalty was payable by the Group.
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30 POst BALAnCE shEEt EvEnt (continued)

(c) On 15 October 2012, Shanwei Shirble entered into a sale and purchase agreement with an Independent 
Third Party for the acquisition of a property (the “Lufeng Property”) on a parcel of land located in Hongxing 
District, Donghai Town, Lufeng city, PRC at a consideration of RMB206,846,080. The consideration 
was determined on an arm’s length basis following negotiations between the Group and the vendor 
with reference to the market value of the Lufeng Property as of 30 September 2012 appraised by an 
independent property valuer. The consideration will be settled out of the internal financial resources of the 
Group. The Lufeng Property will be used as a new department store.

31 POssiBLE iMPACt Of AMEnDMEnts, nEw stAnDARDs AnD intERPREtAtiOns issuED 
But nOt YEt EffECtivE fOR thE YEAR EnDED 31 DECEMBER 2011

Up to the date of issue of these consolidated financial statements, the IASB has issued a number of 

amendments, new standards and interpretations which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 

2011 and which have not been adopted in these consolidated financial statements. These include the following 

which may be relevant to the Group.

Effective for accounting

periods beginning on or after

Amendments to IAS 12, Income taxes – Deferred tax:

 Recovery of underlying assets

1 January 2012

Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of financial statements

 – Presentation of items of other comprehensive income

1 July 2012

IFRS 10, Consolidated financial statements 1 January 2013

IFRS 13, Fair value measurement 1 January 2013

IAS 27, Separate financial statements (2011) 1 January 2013

Revised IAS 19, Employee benefits 1 January 2013

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these amendments is expected 

to be in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a 

significant impact on the Group’s results of operations and financial position.

32 COMPARAtivE fiGuREs

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to confirm to the current year’s presentation to facilitate 

comparison.
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In response to the Auditors’ qualified opinion on the transactions, the following sets forth the explanations from the 

executive Director and the senior management of the Group and the opinion of the Audit Committee on each of the 

transactions following its independent review.

All of the following transactions were engaged by the Group after Listing and in the course of business expansion 

of the Group applying the net proceeds raised from the initial public offering. The following transactions may also 

be classified as (1) prepayments under decoration agreements for the department stores planned to be opened 

by the Group (transactions (a) and (b) below), (2) payments of deposit or prepayments for the acquisition of 

properties for the department stores planned to be opened by the Group (transactions (c), (d) and (e) below), and 

(3) payments received from suppliers and payments made for the procurement of goods (transaction (f) below and 

the cash advances from certain suppliers). The executive Director and the senior management of the Group confirm 

that transaction under (1) and (3) were conducted as part of the ordinary course of business of the Group and 

transactions with similar nature were engaged by the Group before and after the Listing. The amount involved in 

those transactions following the Listing was significantly higher than the amount involved prior to the Listing, as the 

Group planned to expand its business rapidly in 2011 with the net proceeds raised from the initial public offering. 

Except for one property acquisition transaction conducted by the Group more than 10 years ago, no member of the 

Group entered into any property acquisition transactions as the Group usually leased properties for its department 

stores prior to the Listing.

Following the occurrence of the transactions below, the Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors 

who are the members of the Audit Committee) consider that the Group will need to improve its internal control 

procedures despite the fact that the sponsor to the Listing had confirmed, as part of the Listing in the sponsor’s 

declaration, that “the Company has established procedures, systems and controls (including accounting and 

management systems) which are adequate having regard to the obligations of the Company and its Directors to 

comply with the Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory requirements”. The Audit Committee also 

considers that the internal control procedures are not adequate for the rapid business expansion of the Group, 

particularly following the retirement of the chief executive officer of the Group in November  2011. In this connection, 

the Group has implemented the improvement measures set forth in the section headed “Internal control procedures” 

in the corporate governance report. The Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors who are the 

members of the Audit Committee) confirm that the Group will continue to improve the internal control measures 

following the receipt of further recommendations from Moore Stephens (or other independent internal control 

advisers) upon their periodic reviews on the Group’s internal control procedures in the future.
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(i) tRAnsACtiOns invOLvinG PREPAYMEnts AnD DEPOsits

These transactions include (a) a prepayment of RMB21.0 million for the decoration of the property for the 

Meizhou Store, (b) a prepayment of RMB34.3 million for the decoration of the property for the Haifeng Store, 

(c) a payment of deposit of RMB41.25 million for the acquisition of a distribution centre in Shenzhen, (d) a 

prepayment of RMB131.25 million for the acquisition of a three-storey commercial property in Shenzhen, (e) a 

prepayment of RMB84.0 million for the acquisition of a property in Haifeng County for the Haifeng Store, and (f) 

a prepayment of RMB152.5 million made to the suppliers of the Group for the procurement of goods.

a. Prepayment of RMB21.0 million for the decoration of the property for the Meizhou store

Background information

The Group commenced the discussions with the property developer in August 2011 on the proposed lease 

and acquisition of various properties for the Meizhou Store. The lease and the acquisition of the property 

for the Meizhou Store consisted of a proposed lease and a proposed acquisition of the phase two of 

the property (the “Phase 2 Property”) and the phase three of the property (the “Phase 3 Property”) at 

which the Meizhou Store was planned to be established. The Group conducted on-site inspections of the 

properties to ensure that both the building structure and the location of the properties are suitable for the 

proposed department stores of the Group. The inspections were accompanied by selected decoration 

companies to ensure that the building structure of the properties are suitable for the proposed fit-out of the 

department stores. The Directors confirm that there was no formal rental/acquisition agreement entered 

into for Meizhou Store.

Phase 2 Property

A framework sale and purchase agreement was entered into on 27 September 2011 for the acquisition of 

the shops on the street level. A framework rental agreement was also entered into on 27 September 2011 

for the lease of the building. Pursuant to the framework sale and purchase agreement, the valuation of the 

property was completed in November 2011 and both parties reached an initial agreement on the purchase 

price for the street-level shops in early December 2011.



Shirble Department Store holDingS (China) limiteD • aNNUaL rEPOrT 2011

108

Response from the Directors and the Opinion of the Audit 
Committee following its Independent Review of the Transactions

Phase 2 framework sale and purchase agreement

The principal terms of the framework sale and purchase agreement are set forth below:–

Location: Street-level shops of Huang Jia Ming Dian Phase II Project, Zheng Xing Road, 

Meizhou

Purchase price and 

 payment:

– The purchase price for the property, as determined by an independent 

third party valuation firm recognised in Hong Kong and the PRC, shall 

be set forth in the confirmation letter.

– The confirmation letter shall be entered into and the purchase price shall 

be determined within 45 days of the effective date of the framework 

agreement.

– The formal sale and purchase agreement shall be signed within 10 days 

of the receipt of notice from the vendor that it has obtained the property 

pre-purchase conditions.

– Payment method and arrangement shall be set forth in the formal sale 

and purchase agreement.

– The deposit of RMB1.0 million shall be paid by the buyer within three 

business days from the signing of the framework agreement.

Condition of property: – The vendor undertakes that the property will fulfil the pre-purchase 

conditions on or before 31 December 2011. Upon any delay, the 

vendor agrees to return the deposit plus interest calculated based on 

the lending interest rate of the bank for fixed assets to the buyer as 

settlement.

– The vendor shall lawfully obtain the pre-purchase certificate before 

entering into the formal sale and purchase agreement.

termination: The framework agreement shall be automatically terminated if the purchase 

price cannot be agreed upon by the parties and the deposit of RMB1.0 million 

will be refunded without interest.
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Phase 2 framework rental agreement

The principal terms of the framework rental agreement are set forth below:–

Location: Building of Huang Jia Ming Dian Phase II Project, Zheng Xing Road, Meizhou

term: 20 years from the date of rent incurred

Rent: – RMB23 per square metres on a monthly basis (inclusive of property 

management fee except for cleaning, security services and other 

works).

– Beginning from the fourth year after the date of rent incurred, the rent 

shall be increased by 4% every three years.

– Rent-free period: 12 months after delivery of lease property to carry 

out renovation and additional three months during operation period for 

further renovation.

Deposit: The deposit of RMB100,000 shall be paid by the tenant within two business 

days from the signing of the framework agreement.

formal rental 

 agreement:

The parties shall enter into a formal rental agreement within 45 days of the 

effective date of the framework agreement.

The Phase 2 Property was originally planned to be delivered to the Group in December 2011. However, 

after the signing of the framework agreements in September 2011 and completion of valuation of property 

in November 2011, the Group noticed from the valuation report that the building ownership certificate for 

a certain area of the property was not available. Such finding was also subsequently confirmed by the 

vendor. Since the vendor promised the Group that it would obtain the building ownership certificate within 

a short period of time, the Group then decided to continue to enter into the decoration agreement with the 

Contractor A on 18 December 2011 in order to expedite the store opening process. 

No meeting of the Board was held for the approval of the decoration work as the transaction was part of 

the ordinary course of business of the Group, which was only subject to the approvals of the engineering 

director and the vice president of the Group. The Directors (including the independent non-executive 

Directors who are the members of the Audit Committee) confirm that neither the engineering director nor 

the vice president is a member of the Board and both of them are senior management of the Group. The 

Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors who are the members of the Audit Committee) 

consider that the engagement of the decoration contractor and the partial prepayment of the decoration 

cost were part of the normal practice in the PRC and were entered into on normal commercial terms and 

in the interest of the Group as a whole.
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Phase 2 decoration agreement

A summary of the terms of the decoration agreement for Meizhou Store with GFA of 26,000 sq. m. is set 

forth below:–

Project costs: Approximately RMB30.0 million

Prepayments: In order to reduce the decoration cost and the time required with a better 

control of the total cost, Shenzhen Shirble Chain Store agreed to pay the 

Contractor A an amount of RMB21.0 million which is equivalent to 70.0% of 

the estimated total decoration cost for the project as prepayment within seven 

days after the signing of the agreement. The amount equivalent to 30.0% of 

the prepayment, i.e RMB6.3 million, may be paid in cash. The Contractor A 

would use the prepayment for the purchase and procurement of the materials 

and equipment required for the project.

settlement of the 

 remaining costs:

After completion of the construction design, Shenzhen Shirble Chain Store 

and the Contractor A may determine the construction price based on the 

design and the status of the on-site work progress. The parties will then enter 

into a separate contract. Shenzhen Shirble Chain Store shall further pay the 

construction company 20.0% of the consideration, i.e. RMB6.0 million, upon 

90.0% completion of the construction works. After completion of the project, 

Shenzhen Shirble Chain Store and the Contractor A shall carry out settlement 

based on the construction design and the status of the on-site signing of 

certificate.

Materials used: Contractor A shall ensure that the materials used will meet the requirements of 

Shenzhen Shirble Chain Store and the equipment purchased must comply with 

the specifications, models and technical parameters provided by Shenzhen 

Shirble Chain Store.

further negotiations: The decoration agreement also provides that any matters not covered therein 

should be resolved through discussions between the parties in good faith.

As the Group was able to obtain 5.0% discount to the estimated cost by making the prepayment, the 

executive Director and the senior management of the Group considered that the prepayment terms in the 

decoration agreement was acceptable.
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Termination of the decoration agreement for the Phase 2 Property for the Meizhou Store

 After several months from the signing of the decoration agreement in December 2011, the building 

ownership certificate was still not available. The executive Director and the senior management of the 

Group decided, following various discussions with the vendor, not to proceed with the project and 

requested for the termination of the framework rental and sale and purchase agreements. The framework 

rental and sale and purchase agreements were terminated on 18 May 2012 and the Group has received 

full refund of the deposits paid pursuant thereto. Because of the anticipated termination and in order to 

avoid additional costs on decoration design and procurement plan of raw materials being incurred, the 

relevant decoration agreement was also terminated on 25 March 2012. The prepayments paid to the 

Contractor A was refunded to the Group in March and April 2012 because the Contractor A was able to 

use the purchased materials (cement, etc.) for other projects not related to the Group.

Phase 3 Property

A framework sale and purchase agreement was entered into on 27 September 2011 for the acquisition 

of the shops on the street level. A framework rental agreement was entered into on 27 September 2011 

for the lease of the building. As the development of the Phase 3 Property had yet to commence and the 

Group would still proceed with the Phase 3 project, the Group and the vendor/landlord re-negotiated a 

change in the layout of the first/ground floor of the Phase 3 Property, which was initially planned to be 

sub-divided into individual street-level shops as reflected by the framework sale and purchase agreement 

dated 27 September 2011 above. Instead of acquiring the street-level shops, the Group would only lease 

the street-level shops, which will no longer be subdivided into individual units. Together with the second 

floor which is to be leased under the framework rental agreement dated 27 September 2011, the Group 

terminated all the framework agreements for Phase 3 Property and a letter of intent was entered into on 

22 March 2012 for the lease of ground floor (which was initially planned as subdivided individual stores 

on the street level on the Phase 3 premises under the framework sale and purchase agreement dated 

27 September 2011) and second floor of the building being part of the Phase 3 Property. No decoration 

contractors were appointed and no decoration agreement was entered into for the Phase 3 Property as of 

the date of this report.
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Phase 3 framework sale and purchase agreement

The principal terms of the framework sale and purchase agreement are set forth below:–

Location: Street-level shops of Huang Jia Ming Dian Phase 3 project

Purchase price and 

 payment:

– The purchase price for the property, as determined by an independent 

third party valuation firm recognised in Hong Kong and the PRC, shall 

be set forth in a confirmation letter.

– The confirmation letter shall be entered into and the purchase price shall 

be determined within 45 days of the effective date of the framework 

sale and purchase agreement.

– The formal sale and purchase agreement shall be signed within 10 days 

of the receipt of notice from the vendor that it has obtained the property 

pre-purchase conditions.

– Payment method and arrangement shall be set forth in the formal sale 

and purchase agreement.

– The deposit of RMB1.0 million shall be paid by the purchaser within 

three business days from the signing of the framework agreement.

Condition of property: – The vendor undertakes that the property will fulfil the pre-purchase 

conditions on or before 31 December 2012. Upon any delay, the 

vendor agrees to return the deposit plus interest calculated based on 

the lending interest rate of the bank for fixed assets to the buyer as 

settlement.

– The vendor shall lawfully obtain the pre-purchase certificate before 

entering into the formal sale and purchase agreement.

termination: The framework agreement shall be automatically terminated if the purchase 

price cannot be agreed upon by the parties and the deposit of RMB1.0 million 

will be refunded without interest.
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Phase 3 framework rental agreement

The principal terms of the framework rental agreement are set forth below:–

Location: Building of Meizhou, Phase III Project, Zheng Xing Road, Huang Jia Ming Dian

term: 20 years from the date of rent incurred

Rent: – RMB28 per square metres on a monthly basis (inclusive of property 

management fee except for cleaning, security services and other 

works).

– Beginning from the fourth year after the date of rent incurred, the rent 

shall be increased by 4% every three years.

– Rent-free period: 12 months after delivery of lease property to carry 

out renovation and additional three months during operation period for 

additional renovation.

Deposit: The deposit of RMB200,000 shall be paid by the tenant within two business 

days from the signing of the framework agreement.

formal rental 

 agreement:

The parties shall enter into a formal rental agreement within 45 days of the 

effective date of the framework agreement.

Nature of the transaction being the subject matter of the qualified opinion of the Auditors

The Auditors noted that the decoration agreement in relation to Phase 2 Property was entered into prior 

to the signing of the formal sale and purchase agreement and 70.0% of the contracted sum was paid as 

deposit. Further, the decoration work did not commenced during the course of their audit.

As such, the Audit Committee has conducted an independent review of the documents available to it and 

has meetings with the executive Director and senior management of the Group. The principal factors and 

reasons the Audit Committee have taken into account in assessing the commercial basis for the decoration 

agreement are set forth below.
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The Audit Committee’s consideration of the commercial basis for entering into the decoration 

agreement prior to the signing of the formal sale and purchase agreement

As disclosed in the Prospectus, the Group planned to expand its retail chain in Shenzhen and the 

neighboring regions. As further set forth in the 2011 Interim Report, the Group targeted to open four to 

five department stores in 2012 and intended to establish a network of department stores in the second- 

to third-tier cities in Guangdong Province and Hunan Province. Since Meizhou is a third-tier city in 

Guangdong Province, the Audit Committee considers that opening a store in Meizhou is consistent with 

the business plan of the Group.

In order to execute the business plan, Shirble Department Store (Shenzhen) entered into the framework 

agreements on 27 September 2011 for the lease and acquisition of the Phase 2 Property. As discussed 

with the executive Director and the senior management of the Group, the Audit Committee noted that the 

framework sales and purchase agreement was entered into with the purchase price to be determined by 

an independent valuation firm. The formal rental agreement would only be entered into upon the signing of 

the formal sales and purchase agreement as they were complementary to each other.

Upon the signing of the framework agreements for the Phase 2 Property, the Group proceeded to engage 

an independent valuation firm to determine the valuation of the Phase 2 Property. During the course of 

valuation, the Group noticed in the valuation report, and was confirmed by the vendor, that the building 

ownership certificate for a certain area of the Phase 2 Property was not available. Hence, the pre-purchase 

conditions could not be fulfilled. Since the vendor/landlord promised to the Group that it would obtain the 

building ownership certificate within a short period of time, considering that it would take several months 

to undergo the decoration, in order to save time so that the original store opening scheduled in the first 

half of 2012 can be met, the Group entered into a decoration agreement with the Contractor A in order to 

save the preparation time for the opening of the department store. The Audit Committee considers that this 

decision was consistent with the practice of the Group and was justified in light of the then circumstances 

and the normal business practice of the Group.

The Audit Committee understands that the Contractor A was responsible for part of the decoration work of 

a department store of the Group located in Dongguan City and that the decoration work of the department 

store in Dongguan City completed by the Contractor A was satisfactory. In addition, the Audit Committee 

has confirmed that the Contractor A attended the initial inspection of the Phase 2 Property. Hence, the 

Contractor A was selected to undertake the decoration of the Phase 2 Property.
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The Audit Committee’s consideration of the commercial basis for the payment terms under the 

decoration agreement

The Audit Committee noted that the prepayment was paid to the Contractor A so that the Contractor 

A could arrange to purchase materials and equipment in advance in order to save the preparation time 

and to fix the decoration cost and other material costs. In addition, the Group was able to obtain 5.0% 

discount to the estimated project cost. The Audit Committee also noted that prepayment under decoration 

agreement was a common term in other decoration agreements with other contractors of the Group and 

believed that it is the industry practice for prepayments to be paid to decoration companies in order to fix 

the decoration and other material costs.  As the Group has made prepayments to other contractors in the 

past for the same purposes, the Audit Committee considers that the prepayment made to the Contractor 

A was reasonable.

The Audit Committee noted that 70.0% of the estimated project cost was paid by the Group as 

prepayment and 30.0% of the prepayment was settled in cash and the remaining balance of the 

prepayment was settled by telegraphic transfer in December 2011. The Audit Committee considers that 

the amount of the prepayment was insignificant based on the total assets of the Group as of 31 December 

2011. Although the amount was insignificant to the Group, the Audit Committee noted that the prepayment 

was made when the Contractor A had not commenced any decoration work at the property and that the 

Phase 2 Property was not available several months after the signing of the relevant decoration agreement. 

Having considered all the relevant factors set forth above, the insignificant amount of the prepayment, the 

net cash position of the Group and the low gearing ratio of the Group, the Audit Committee considers that 

the prepayment does not result in any material adverse impact on the Group.

The Audit Committee further considered the reasonableness of the amount of the prepayment in light 

of the estimated project cost. The Audit Committee noted that the prepayment represented 70.0% of 

the estimated project cost. By making such prepayment, the Group was offered 5.0% discount to the 

estimated project cost. The Audit Committee also noted that Contractor A has been engaged by the Group 

in the past with satisfactory work quality. In light of these factors and the fact that the amount involved 

was insignificant, the Audit Committee considers that the amount of the prepayment was reasonable in the 

then circumstances.

The Audit Committee’s consideration of the commercial basis for the subsequent termination of the 

decoration agreement

As the decoration agreement is ancillary to the acquisition of the Phase 2 Property, the Audit Committee 

concurs with the view of the executive Director and the senior management of the Group that it would be 

in the interest of the Group as a whole to terminate the decoration agreement as soon as possible as a 

result of termination of the acquisition of the Phase 2 Property.
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Work done by the Audit Committee

To ascertain the representation made by the executive Director and the senior management of the Group, 

the Audit Committee has conducted the following:–

1. Reviewing the market feasibility report and concurring that Meizhou is one of the potential markets 

among third-tier cities in Guangdong Province suitable for the Group to develop the business.

2. Reviewing the framework acquisition agreement for Phase 2 Property and noted that the terms 

for determining the purchase price and the pre-sale conditions are consistent with management 

representations.

3. Reviewing the valuation report prepared by an independent valuation firm and noted that the building 

ownership certificate for certain area of the Phase 2 property was not available.

4. Reviewing the decoration agreement in relation to the decoration of the Phase 2 Property and 

confirmed that the payment to the Contractor A was made in accordance to the payment terms in the 

decoration agreement.

5. Reviewing the previous decoration agreements with other decoration companies in relation to the 

decoration of other department stores of the Group and noted that prepayment was a common term 

in these decoration agreements.

6. Discussing and reviewing the background information of the Contractor A and has obtained the 

independence confirmation signed by each Director that the Contractor A is an Independent Third 

Party.

7. Reviewing the approved contractors list maintained by the Group and noted that the Contractor A is 

one of the approved contractors of the Group.

8. Comparing the amount of the prepayment paid, i.e. RMB21.0 million, with the Group’s cash balance, 

total assets balance and gearing ratio at the time of entering into the decoration agreement.

9. Reviewing the termination agreement signed with the Contractor A and noted that the full refund was 

made in accordance to the termination agreement.

10. Engaging Moore Stephens to perform the agreed-upon procedures to identify the factual issues 

leading to this qualified transaction and any matter that needs to be brought to the attention of the 

Audit Committee.
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The Audit Committee’s conclusion

Having considered the above principal factors and reasons, the Audit Committee considers that the 

entering into, and subsequent termination of, the decoration agreement for the Phase 2 Property had 

commercial basis and was in the normal business practice of the Group. However, the Audit Committee 

considers that the internal control procedures for engaging contractors and cash payments by the Group 

could be improved.

The Audit Committee confirms that the internal control weaknesses identified are (a) selection bias 

(insufficient search was performed before making decision); (b) premature appointment of contractors; (c) 

cash payments and (d) insufficient monitoring on the outsourcing procedures. 

The Audit Committee also noted and agreed with Moore Stephens on the additional internal control 

weaknesses identified by Moore Stephens as detailed below:

(a) Lack of written documentation such as site visit findings report.

(b) Failure to obtain legal advice before entering into agreements.

(c) Internal meeting minutes were not signed by all attendees.

(d) Absence of detailed terms (such as refund or cancellation clauses, expected delivery date, agreed 
design and required materials and equipment) in the decoration agreement.

(e) The date as stated in an official receipt (i.e. the date for fund receipt) was earlier than the date of 
written approval on the fund application forms (for the fund payment).

(f) Absence of detailed written internal control manual regarding the proper initiation, monitoring, 
authorisation and completion of the decoration agreement.

With the conclusion of the Audit Committee mentioned above and the issues identified by the Auditors and 

Moore Stephens, the Audit Committee considers that the following measures are effective to address the 

internal control weakness:–

Internal control improvement measures

(1) Appointment of new engineering director and chief development officer

In order to standardise the procedures for the engagement of decoration contractors, a new 

engineering director, who has over 26 years of experience in the engineering field, has been employed 

by the Group since April 2012. In addition, the development and decoration progress of department 

stores has been supervised by the newly employed engineering director and chief development officer 

who is required to report to the chief executive officer and senior management of the Company on 

a weekly basis to ensure that the projects are proceeding as scheduled. The newly appointed chief 

development officer has experience in management of projects including projects involving property 

acquisitions.
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(2) Formal tendering procedures

The Group has implemented a new set of selection procedures for all contractors, including decoration 

constructors, by way of tender since July 2012. The new procedures introduced general contractor 

and specialist contractor prequalification assessment procedures. The Group would invite contractors 

for review which would be conducted according to the generally accepted industry guidelines. The 

contractors would be classified into two to three levels in accordance to the project size, requirements 

of specialised contractors, and financial standing. The Group would issue an invitation to tender to 

no less than three selected contractors but the number of contractors shall not exceed eight for 

each project. The invitation for tender would set forth the detailed product and service requirements 

including specific materials to be used and completion time. The launched bids would be reviewed 

by at least three staff of the Group, including staff from the engineering department, supervision 

department and assistant to vice president. The bids would be reviewed and analysed in terms of the 

tender price, specifications for the project, requirements for specialised projects and whether there 

are serious errors or omissions. The Group would select the contractor based on the established and 

objective principles. The tendering process is supervised by a registered professional engaged by the 

Group. In addition, the assessment procedures would be properly documented (including the basis 

on selection of each contractor, copies of the qualification of the contractors, etc.) to support the 

decision of the Group as suggested by Moore Stephens.

(3) Cash payments

The Group established a cash management policy in June 2012. As part of the new cash management 

policy, no cash payments would be made for amounts over RMB500,000. Cash payments under or 

equivalent to the amount of RMB500,000 would require the approvals from the chief executive officer, 

the chief operating officer and the procurement director or the engineering director or any other 

departmental senior personnel (depending on the nature of the relevant transaction).

(4) Engagement of contractors

The Group will only enter into formal contracts with contractors after the bidding process when the 

formal lease agreement or sale and purchase agreement has been entered into for future projects. 

Moore Stephens concur with view of the Audit Committee that such measure would be effective to 

address the internal control weakness.

The Audit Committee’s opinion on the internal control measures

The Audit Committee confirms that the internal control measures set forth above, together with the internal 

control improvement measures proposed by Moore Stephens, which have already been implemented, 

are sufficient based on their review of the issues identified by the Auditors, the documents reviewed, the 

discussions with the executive Director and senior management of the Group and the Moore Stephens 

Review Report.
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b. Prepayment of RMB34.3 million for the decoration of the property for the haifeng store

Background information

The Group discussed with the property developer in late 2010 on the proposed acquisition of property 

for the Haifeng Store. The acquisition of the property for the Haifeng Store was approved by all Directors 

(including the independent non-executive Directors who are the members of the Audit Committee) prior 

to signing of the sale and purchase agreement. The sale and purchase agreement was entered into on 28 

December 2011, and the Company issued an announcement on 28 December 2011. In anticipation of the 

new department store, a decoration agreement for the Haifeng Store was entered into with the Contractor 

B on 8 December 2011.

A summary of the principal terms of the decoration agreement for Haifeng Store with GFA of 19,000 sq. m. 

is set forth below:–

Project costs: Approximately RMB49.0 million

Prepayments: In order to reduce the decoration cost and time required and with a better 

control of the total cost, Shenzhen Shirble Chain Store agreed to pay the 

Contractor B an amount of RMB34.3 million which is equivalent to 70.0% of 

the estimated contract sum for the project as prepayment within seven days 

after the signing of the agreement. The amount equivalent to 30.0% of the 

prepayment, i.e RMB10.29 million, may be paid in cash. The Contractor B 

would use the prepayment for the purchase and procurement of the materials 

and equipment required for the project.

settlement of the 

 remaining costs:

After completion of the construction design, Shenzhen Shirble Chain Store 

and the Contractor B may determine the construction price based on the 

design and the status of the on-site work progress. The parties will then enter 

into a separate contract. Shenzhen Shirble Chain Store shall further pay the 

construction company 20.0% of the consideration, i.e. RMB9.8 million, upon 

90.0% completion of the construction works. After completion of the project, 

Shenzhen Shirble Chain Store and the Contractor B shall carry out settlement 

based on the construction design and the status of the on-site signing of 

certificate.

Materials used: The Contractor B shall ensure that the materials used wil l meet the 

requirements of Shenzhen Shirble Chain Store and the equipment purchased 

must comply with the specifications, models and technical parameters 

provided by Shenzhen Shirble Chain Store.

further negotiations: The decoration agreement also provides that any matters not covered therein 

should be resolved through discussions between the parties in good faith.
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Termination of the decoration agreement for the property for the Haifeng Store

The property for the Haifeng Store was originally planned to be delivered to the Group in January 2012. 

However, additional structural modifications to the property would be required according to the delivery 

standards. The delivery schedule has been postponed to 21 June 2012. Due to the delayed delivery of the 

property and the new implementation of the contractor selection procedures of the Group, the decoration 

agreement was terminated by the Group on 26 March 2012. The prepayment paid to the Contractor B 

was used by it to purchase the materials and equipment. However, the Group was able to receive a full 

refund of the prepayments because the Contractor B was able to use the materials purchased (cement, 

etc.) for other projects not related to the Group. The refund of the prepayment made under the decoration 

agreement was made in March and April 2012.

No meeting of the Board was held for the approval of the decoration work as the transaction was 

considered to be part of the ordinary course of business of the Group, which was only subject to the 

approvals of the engineering director and the vice president of the Group. The Directors (including the 

independent non-executive Directors who are the members of the Audit Committee) confirm that neither 

the engineering director nor the vice president is a member of the Board and both of them are senior 

management of the Group. The Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors who are 

the members of the Audit Committee) consider that the engagement of decoration companies and the 

prepayment were industry practice in the PRC and were entered into on normal commercial terms and in 

the interest of the Group as a whole. 

In order to standardise the procedures for engagement of decoration contractors, the Group has already 

implemented the new selection process and selected a new decoration company, which is an Independent 

Third Party, the new decoration agreement of which has been entered into in July 2012. The Audit 

Committee has reviewed the relevant agreement with the new decoration company and the tendering 

process and is satisfied that the entire process was conducted in accordance with the new selection 

process. The Haifeng Store has commenced its business in November 2012.

Nature of the transaction being the subject matter of the qualified opinion of the Auditors

The Auditors noted that the decoration agreement was entered into before the signing of the sale and 

purchase agreement for the property for the Haifeng Store and that 70.0% of the contracted sum was paid 

as deposit. Further, the decoration work has not commenced during the course of their audit.

As such, the Audit Committee has conducted an independent review of the documents available to it and 

has meetings with the executive Director and senior management of the Group. The principal factors and 

reasons the Audit Committee have taken into account in assessing the commercial basis for the decoration 

agreement are set forth below:–
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The Audit Committee’s consideration of the commercial basis for entering into the decoration 

agreement prior to the signing of the formal sale and purchase agreement

The Group has planned to open a new department store in Haifeng County and has been negotiating 

with the property developer of the Haifeng Store since late 2010 for acquisition of properties for the 

Haifeng Store. In early December 2011, the negotiation on the terms of the sale and purchase agreement 

for the Haifeng Store reached the final stage. In anticipation of the acquisition of the new department 

store, a decoration agreement for the Haifeng Store was entered into on 8 December 2011. After the 

approval of the Board, the sale and purchase agreement for property to be used as the Haifeng Store was 

subsequently entered into on 28 December 2011. The Audit Committee considers that the decoration 

agreement was entered into in anticipation of the signing of the relevant sale and purchase agreement for 

the property. Hence, the Audit Committee is of the view that such short time difference would not result in 

any material internal control issue or any additional liability to the Group.

In considering whether the decoration agreement of Haifeng Store was entered into with commercial basis, 

the Audit Committee has taken into consideration (a) the Group’s past and current business relationship 

with the Contractor B; (b) the payment terms with other decoration companies engaged by the Group and 

(c) the payment terms in other decoration agreements with the Contractor B.

The Audit Committee noted that the Constructor B was responsible for the decoration works of two 

department stores of the Group in Shenzhen which were opened in August 2010 and December 2010, 

respectively. Contractor B was also responsible for part of the decoration work of a department store of 

the Group located in Dongguan City, which was opened in March 2012. The Audit Committee has also 

been informed by the executive Director and the senior management of the Group that the decoration work 

of the two department stores in Shenzhen and the decoration work of the department store in Dongguan 

City completed by the Contractor B were satisfactory. Based on the above, the Audit Committee considers 

that the engagement of the Contractor B for the decoration work of the Haifeng Store were made under 

normal business practice.

The Audit Committee’s consideration of the commercial basis for the payment terms under the 

decoration agreement

The Audit Committee noted that the prepayment was paid to the Contractor B so that the Contractor B 

could arrange to purchase materials and equipment in advance in order to save the preparation time and to 

fix the decoration cost and other material costs. In addition, the Group was able to obtain 5.0% discount 

to the estimated project cost. The Audit Committee also noted that prepayments under the decoration 

agreements was a common term in other decoration agreements with other contractors of the Group and 

believed that it is the industry practice for prepayments to be paid to decoration companies in order to fix 

the decoration and other material costs. As the Group has made prepayments to other contractors in the 

past for the same purposes, the Audit Committee considers that the prepayment made to the Contractor 

B was reasonable.
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The Audit Committee noted that 70.0% of the estimated project cost was paid by the Group as 
prepayment and 30.0% of such amount was settled in cash and the remaining balance of the prepayment 
was settled by telegraphic transfer in December 2011. The Audit Committee considers that the amount of 
the prepayment was insignificant to the total assets of the Group as of 31 December 2011. Although the 
amount was insignificant to the Group, the Audit Committee noted that the prepayment was made when 
the Contractor B had not commenced any decoration work at the property and that the Group had not 
entered into any legally binding agreement for the purchase of the property at the time of entering into the 
decoration agreement. Having considered all the relevant factors set forth above, the insignificant amount 
of the prepayment, the net cash position of the Group and the low gearing ratio of the Group, the Audit 
Committee considers that the prepayment does not result in any material adverse impact on the Group.

The Audit Committee further considered the reasonableness of the amount of the prepayment in light 
of the estimated project cost. The Audit Committee noted that the prepayment represented 70.0% 
of the estimated project cost. By making such prepayment, the Group was offered 5.0% discount to 
the estimated project cost. The Audit Committee also noted that Contractor B had completed various 
decoration projects for the Group with satisfactory work quality. In light of these factors and the fact that 
the amount involved was insignificant, the Audit Committee considers that amount of the prepayment was 
reasonable in the then circumstances.

The Audit Committee’s consideration of the commercial basis for the subsequent termination of the 
decoration agreement

The Audit Committee noted the proposed design of the Haifeng Store and noted that additional structural 
modifications to the property would be necessary according to the delivery standards so that the property 
can be used as department stores of the Group. Hence, the delivery schedule had been postponed to 
21 June 2012. The decoration agreement with the Contractor B was terminated because of the delayed 
delivery of the property and the implementation of the new contractors selection procedures of the Group. 
The Audit Committee also noted that even though the prepayments paid to the Contractor B were used by 
the Contractor B to purchase the materials and equipment for the decoration work, the Group was able to 
obtain a full refund of the prepayments because the Contractor B was able to use the materials purchased 
for other projects not related to the Group. In view of the above, the Audit Committee considers that the 
termination of the decoration agreement was reasonable and was consistent with the normal business 
practice of the Group.

Work done by the Audit Committee

To ascertain the representation made by the executive Director and senior management, the Audit 
Committee has conducted the following:–

1. Reviewing the proposed design of the property and updating subsequent progress of the project 
and confirmed that the delayed store delivery time and the estimated store opening schedule is 
reasonable.

2. Reviewing the decoration agreement in relation to the decoration of Haifeng Store and confirmed that 
the payment to the Contractor B was made in accordance to the payment terms in the decoration 
agreement.
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3. Reviewed the previous decoration agreements with Contractor B and other decoration companies in 
relation to the decoration of other department stores of the Group and noted that prepayment is a 
common term in those decoration agreements.

4. Discussing and reviewing the background information of the Contractor B and has obtained 
independence confirmation signed by each of the Directors of the Company confirming that 
Contractor B is an Independent Third Party.

5. Reviewing the approved contractors list maintained by the Group and noted that the Contractor B is 
one of the approved contractors of the Group.

6. Comparing the amount of prepayment paid, i.e. RMB34.3 million, with the Group’s cash balance, total 
assets balance and gearing ratio at the time of entering into the decoration agreement.

7. Reviewing the termination agreement signed with the Contractor B and noted that the full refund is 
made in accordance to the termination agreement.

8. Engaging Moore Stephens to perform the agreed-upon procedures to identify the factual issues 
leading to this qualified transaction and any matter that needs to be brought to the attention of the 
Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee’s conclusion

Having considered the above factors, the Audit Committee considers that there were justified reasons for 
the Group to enter into the decoration agreement even though the date of the decoration agreement was 
shortly before the signing of the formal sale and purchase agreement. The Audit Committee considers 
that the internal control procedures for engaging contractors and cash payments by the Group could be 
improved.

The Audit Committee also noted and agreed with Moore Stephens on the additional internal control 
weaknesses identified by Moore Stephens as detailed below:

(a) Lack of written documentation such as site visit findings report and written feasibility reports.

(b) Failure to obtain legal advice before entering into agreements.

(c) Absence of detailed terms (such as refund or cancellation clauses, expected delivery date, agreed 
design and required materials and equipment) in the decoration agreement.

(d) Absence of detailed written internal control manual regarding the proper initiation, monitoring, 
authorisation and completion of the decoration agreement.

The internal control weakness and the improvement measures adopted by the Group in response to 
this conclusion of the Audit Committee and Moore Stephens are set forth in the paragraphs under  
“(i) Transactions involving prepayments and deposits – a. Prepayment of RMB21.0 million for the decoration 
of the property for the Meizhou Store – Internal control weakness and improvement measures” above.

The Audit Committee’s opinion on the internal control measures

The Audit Committee confirms that the internal control measures set forth above, together with the internal 
control improvement measures set forth in the Moore Stephens Review Report, which have already been 
implemented, are sufficient based on their review of the issues identified by the Auditors, the documents 
reviewed, the discussions with the executive Director and senior management of the Group and the Moore 
Stephens Review Report.
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c. Payment of deposit of RMB41.25 million for the acquisition of a distribution centre in 
shenzhen

Background information

In November 2010, Shirble Department Store (Shenzhen) entered into a letter of intent with an Independent 
Third Party to acquire a distribution centre to be constructed in Shenzhen. The proposed acquisition 
of the distribution centre was approved by all the Directors prior to the signing of the letter of intent. 
Subsequently, Shirble Department Store (Shenzhen) was informed by the local government that the land 
where the distribution centre intend to be constructed was categorised as “returned land for requisitioned 
land” (徵地返還用地) and hence, additional time would be required for the application of licences required 
for the development of the parcel of land. In view of the risk of non-delivery of the distribution centre, the 
Group started to explore other alternatives and entered into supplementary agreements with the vendor 
to (a) postpone the time for entering into formal sales and purchase agreement and (b) allow Shirble 
Department Store (Shenzhen) to terminate the letter of intent before 30 May 2012 by written notice. In 
contemplation of entering into a lease of another distribution centre in Shenzhen, the Group terminated 
the relevant non-binding letter of intent on 25 March 2012. On 9 April 2012, the Group has leased another 
distribution centre in Shenzhen (lease term is five years starting from 16 June 2012), with approximately 
RMB26 per sq. m. (monthly rental: RMB0.9 million, 34,146.38 sq. m.) and lower cost of transportation and 
a larger car park available to the Group.

The executive Director and the senior management of the Group considered the acquisition of a distribution 
centre enables the Group to increase its storage capacity and to upgrade its logistics system in light of the 
Group’s expansion plans. The letter of intent was therefore entered into in the ordinary course of business 
of the Group.

Nature of the transaction being the subject matter of the qualified opinion of the Auditors

The Auditors noted that even though a letter of intent was entered into between the parties in November 
2010, no construction work of the distribution center has been commenced.

As such, the Audit Committee has conducted an independent review of the documents available to it and 
has meetings with the executive Director and senior management of the Group. The principal factors and 
reasons the Audit Committee have taken into account in assessing the commercial basis for the acquisition 
of the distribution centre are set forth below.

The Audit Committee’s consideration of the commercial basis for entering into a letter of intent for the 
acquisition of the distribution centre

The Audit Committee has taken into consideration the approval of the Board prior to the acquisition and 
the specific terms of the letter of intent as supplemented by the supplemental agreements. The Audit 
Committee noted that all the Directors had approved the acquisition of the distribution centre prior to 
the signing of the letter of intent. The Audit Committee further noted the specific terms of the letter of 
intent as supplemented by the supplemental agreements, in particular, the terms in relation to the option 
for Shirble Department Store (Shenzhen) to terminate the letter of intent and the fully refundable deposit 
made pursuant to the letter of intent. As such, the Audit Committee were of the view that the transaction 
in respect of the acquisition of a distribution centre and the letter of intent (and the relevant supplemental 
agreements) were entered in the interest of the Group as a whole.
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The Audit Committee’s consideration for the commercial basis for termination of the acquisition of the 
distribution centre

In 2011, Shirble Department Store (Shenzhen) was informed by the local government that the land for 
the construction of the distribution centre was categorised as “returned land for requisitioned land” (徵
地返還用地) and hence, additional time would be required for the application of licenses required for the 
development of the parcel of land. In view of the risk of non-delivery of the distribution centre, the Group 
started to explore other alternatives and also entered into supplementary agreements with the vendor to 
postpone the time for entering into the formal sales and purchase agreement, as well as to allow Shirble 
Department Store (Shenzhen) to explore other alternatives. Pursuant to the non-binding letter of intent, the 
deposit was refundable and was fully repaid to Shirble Department Store (Shenzhen) in March 2012.

As Shirble Department Store (Shenzhen) was able to obtain full refund of the deposit made pursuant to 
the letter of intent and that the Group had entered into a lease agreement on 9 April 2012 for another 
new distribution centre, the Audit Committee is of the view that the termination of the acquisition of 
the distribution centre was reasonable. It would give the Group additional flexibility in planning the 
establishment of the distribution centre without any significant liability.

Work done by the Audit Committee

To ascertain the representation made by the executive Director and senior management, the Audit 
Committee has conducted the following:–

1. Reviewing the board minutes and confirmed that the letter of intent entered into in November 2010 
contains the term providing that the deposit would be fully refundable should no formal sales and 
purchase agreement be entered into before the agreed period.

2. Reviewing the letter issued by the Planning and Land Resources Committee Bao’an Sub-bureau 
(規劃和國土資源委員會寶安管理局) and noted that the land where the distribution centre intend to 
be constructed was categorised as “returned land for requisition land” (徵地返還用地) and hence, 
additional time would be required for the application of required licences, which is consistent with 
management representation.

3. Reviewing the supplemental agreements with the vendor entered into in June 2011 and August 2011 
and noted that the representations made by the executive Director and the senior management of 
the Group are correct. The Audit Committee concurred with the view of the executive Director and 
the senior management of the Group that the financial position of the Group will not be adversely 
affected as the deposit could be fully refundable under the supplemental agreements and that the 
supplemental agreements which provide the option to terminate the letter of intent were entered into 
in the interest of the Group as a whole.

4. Reviewing the lease agreement dated 9 April 2012 in respect of another new distribution center and 
concurred that it is a better alternative for the Group. The Audit Committee also noted the fact that 
the new distribution centre is in operation as of the date of this report.

5. Engaging Moore Stephens to perform the agreed-upon procedures to identify the factual issues 
leading to this qualified transaction and any matter that needs to be brought to the attention of the 
Audit Committee.
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The Audit Committee’s conclusion

Having considered the above documents and the then prevailing circumstances, the Audit Committee 

considers that it was reasonable for the Group to terminate the proposed acquisition of the distribution 

centre.

During the process involving acquisitions of properties by the Group, the Audit Committee identified certain 

internal control weaknesses which the Group would need to implement as improvement measures. The 

Audit Committee confirms that the internal control weaknesses identified include insufficient information 

obtained before making decision.

The Audit Committee also noted and agreed with Moore Stephens on the additional internal control 
weaknesses identified by Moore Stephens as detailed below:

(a) Lack of written documentation such as site visit findings report and minutes, as well as internal 
records in relation to the decision making process and the negotiation of the consideration and the 
approval of agreements.

(b) Lack of proper review procedures before finalisation and signing of agreements.

(c) Lack of experienced staff in property acquisition to oversee the whole property acquisition process.

(d) Absence of detailed written internal control manual and checklists regarding the proper initiation, 
monitoring, authorisation and completion of the property acquisition agreement, with some 
inconsistencies and deviation from the internal control procedures.

In order to avoid similar situations in the future, the Group has established a legal department since 
February 2012. The responsibility of the legal department includes the review of the draft agreements and 
contracts proposed to be entered into by the Group, and to keep records of all documents in relation 
to the major transactions entered into by the Group. Together with the Group’s existing development 
department, which is mainly responsible for market studies and search for potential stores and acquisition 
opportunities, as well as the external legal advisers retained by the Group, proper due diligence will be 
done on the land that the Group proposed to lease/acquire. In particular, any regulations/usage that would 
hinder the expansion plans/operations after agreements entered into and transactions completed, as well 
as other relevant information, such as valuation report and legal opinion, will be presented to management 
for decision-making to assess the associated risks and contingent costs.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with the above measures and considers that it would be able to identify 
any legal issue or other risks arising from future transactions at the initial stage.

The Audit Committee’s opinion on the internal control measures

The Audit Committee confirms that the internal control measures set forth above, together with the internal 
control improvement measures set forth in the Moore Stephens Review Report, which have already been 
implemented, are sufficient based on their review of the issues identified by the Auditors, the documents 
reviewed, the discussions with the executive Director and senior management of the Group and the Moore 
Stephens Review Report.
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d. Prepayment of RMB131.25 million for the acquisition of a three-storey commercial 
property in shenzhen

Background information

The commercial property was expected to be used by the Group as a new department store.  Pursuant 
to the Shenzhen Sale and Purchase Agreement, the Group may request changes in the property design 
if the original design does not comply with the major decoration standards. The vendor, Shenzhen 
Hexinglong, which is also the developer of the property, must obtain the Group’s written approval for 
certain modifications to the construction and floor plan of the property. If the Group does not agree to 
such modification, the Group has the right to terminate the agreement and Shenzhen Hexinglong shall pay 
a penalty to the Group. If any subsequent changes are agreed between the parties, Shenzhen Hexinglong 
will notify the relevant government departments and apply for the required approvals.

After the entering into the Shenzhen Sale and Purchase Agreement, the Group requested for modifications 
to the original structural design by separating the department store from the hotel building. Shenzhen 
Hexinglong agreed to change the design according to the Group’s requirements. The modified design 
was then submitted to the Group for review. The Group subsequently requested for further changes to 
the design. However, such changes would increase the construction cost of Shenzhen Hexinglong and 
hence, Shenzhen Hexinglong requested to increase the purchase price of the property. Following various 
negotiations, the Group and Shenzhen Hexinglong were not able to reach an agreement on the increased 
purchase price. In March 2012, both parties agreed on the conditions of the termination and Shenzhen 
Hexinglong returned the deposit with no penalty payable by the Group.

 The proposed acquisition of the property in Shenzhen was approved by all the Directors prior to the 

signing of the Shenzhen Sale and Purchase Agreement.

Nature of the transaction being the subject matter of the qualified opinion of the Auditors

The Auditors noted that even though the three-storey commercial property in Shenzhen was required 

to be delivered by August 2013, no construction works of the three-storey commercial property had 

commenced.

As such, the Audit Committee has conducted an independent review of the documents available to it and 

has meetings with the executive Director and senior management of the Group. The principal factors and 

reasons the Audit Committee have taken into account in assessing the commercial basis for the Shenzhen 

Sale and Purchase Agreement are set forth below.
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The Audit Committee’s consideration of the commercial basis for entering into the Shenzhen Sale and 

Purchase Agreement

The Audit Committee noted that the Company issued an announcement on 9 May 2011 and agrees 

that the Group would require such property in Shenzhen for the expansion of the department store 

network. The Audit Committee also noted that the purchase price under the Shenzhen Sale and Purchase 

Agreement was lower than the appraised value of the commercial building proposed to be erected. Also, 

if there were any non-delivery on the part of the property developer, the Group would have obtained 

refund or the relevant parcel of land of which the commercial building would be erected. Given that the 

commercial building was proposed to be used as one of the department stores of the Group, the Audit 

Committee agrees that the proposed acquisition was part of the ordinary course of business of the Group.

The Audit Committee further noted that all the Directors approved the acquisition of a three-storey 

commercial property located in Shenzhen prior to the Shenzhen Sale and Purchase Agreement. Before 

entering into the Shenzhen Sale and Purchase Agreement, the Directors had considered the risk due 

to the preliminary development stage of the property. The terms of the Shenzhen Sale and Purchase 

Agreement provided that if Shenzhen Hexinglong does not refund the prepayment paid by the Group upon 

non-delivery of the property, the Group has the right to take possession of the land where the property 

proposed to be erected. The Audit Committee considers that this term provides sufficient protection to the 

Group.

The Audit Committee noted that Mr. JIANG Hongkai, an independent non-executive Director, who has PRC 

legal background and is able to provide an initial assessment on the legal risks involved in the acquisition 

of pre-constructed buildings, was involved in the process in respect of the acquisition for the commercial 

property in Shenzhen, in particular, had attended a site visit prior to entering into the Shenzhen Sale and 

Purchase Agreement. 

An independent property valuer was also appointed by the Group to conduct valuation on the three-storey 

commercial property located in Shenzhen by comparing the market value of other comparable properties. 

The value stated in the valuation report was higher than the purchase price under the Shenzhen Sale and 

Purchase Agreement.

In light of the above factors and following the review of the documents, the Audit Committee considers 

that the Group has fully assessed the relevant risks involved before entering into the Shenzhen Sale and 

Purchase Agreement. In addition, the relevant provisions in the Shenzhen Sale and Purchase Agreement 

also gives sufficient protection to the Group in the event that the transactions contemplated thereunder 

could not be proceeded with.
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The Audit Committee’s consideration of the commercial basis for subsequent termination of the 

Shenzhen Sale and Purchase Agreement

After entering into the Shenzhen Sale and Purchase Agreement, the Group requested for modifications 

to the design of the property, and such modifications would result in proposed increase in the purchase 

price. When the Group and Shenzhen Hexinglong were unable to agree on the increased purchase price 

under the Shenzhen Sale and Purchase Agreement, the prepayment of RMB131.25 million was refunded 

to the Group without penalty. The Directors also learnt that Shenzhen Hexinglong may sell the property at 

a higher price to third parties after the termination of the Shenzhen Sale and Purchase Agreement. Hence, 

Shenzhen Hexinglong refunded the prepayment without requesting for any penalty.

The Audit Committee agrees with the executive Director and senior management of the Group that the 

Group should not pay a higher price for the commercial property. This is particularly relevant that the 

Group is engaged in department store business, and not investments in real property. Hence, the Audit 

Committee considers that the termination of the Shenzhen Sale and Purchase Agreement was reasonable 

and in the interest of the Group as a whole.

Work done by the Audit Committee

To ascertain the representation made by the executive Director and senior management, the Audit 

Committee has conducted the following:–

1. An independent non-executive Director has attended a site visit prior to entering into the Shenzhen 

Sale and Purchase Agreement, thus confirming the existence of the land and can provide an initial 

assessment on the land condition.

2. Reviewing the PRC legal opinion in respect of the acquisition, the land-use right certificate (土地證), 

construction land planning permit (建設用地規劃許可證), construction works planning permit (建設工程
規劃許可證) and construction works commencement permit (建設工程施工許可證) to ensure that the 

vendor/developer has the proper right to the title of the land and the right to construct a three-storey 

commercial property on the land.

3. Reviewing the valuation report conducted by an independent property valuer, the value of which 

as stated in the valuation report appraised by an independent property valuer was higher than the 

consideration under the Shenzhen Sale and Purchase Agreement. The Audit Committee agreed that 

the original purchase price under the Shenzhen Sale and Purchase Agreement was in favour to the 

Group.

4. Reviewing the Shenzhen Sale and Purchase Agreement and noted that the modifications terms were 

consistent with management representations, and considers that the right for the Group to take 

possession of the land in case of non-delivery provides sufficient protection to the Group.

5. Engaging Moore Stephens to perform the agreed-upon procedures to identify the factual issues 

leading to this qualified transaction and any matter that needs to be brought to the attention of the 

Audit Committee.
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The Audit Committee’s conclusion

During the process involving acquisitions of properties by the Group, the Audit Committee identified certain 
internal control issues which the Group needed to implement improvement measures.

In light of the above, the Directors noted the risks relating to (a) unreasonable delay in completion of 
project; (b) inefficient management of resources caused by modification of design and/or termination of 
contracts; (c) initial research on design plan and approval procedures for significant modification changes 
and (d) recoverability due to preliminary development stage of the property would need to be managed. 
The Audit Committee also noted and agreed with Moore Stephens on the additional internal control 
weaknesses identified by Moore Stephens including the (a) lack of written documentation such as site 
visit findings report and written feasibility report; (b) lack of experienced staff in property acquisition to 
oversee the whole property acquisition process and (c) absence of detailed written internal control manual 
and checklist regarding the proper initiation, monitoring, authorisation and completion of the property 
acquisition agreement, with some inconsistencies and deviation from the internal control procedures. 
In addition, details in some appendices to the formal sale and purchase agreement were also yet to be 
agreed with the vendor before signing the formal sale and purchase agreement. The Audit Committee 
agrees such risks should have been fully addressed with stringent internal control measures, particularly 
before the signing of the Shenzhen Sale and Purchase Agreement.

Starting from July 2012, the Group has implemented new procedures for entering into formal property 
acquisition agreement. The Group would conduct thorough due diligence (including obtaining legal advice 
and performing background searches on counterparties) on the properties before entering into any formal 
agreement for future acquisitions. The due diligence work would include the review of construction plan 
of the properties and on-site inspection to ensure that the designs in the detail construction plans and 
the floor plans will be suitable for the requirement of the Group. Capital expenditure budget would be 
prepared for each property transaction and approved before entering into of any formal agreements. 
Written documentations will be prepared throughout the transaction process and any decision-making 
(including board meetings) and approvals process will also be documented. The structural design plan will 
be submitted to the Board for approval. The approved structural design plan will then be submitted to the 
vendor. The final agreement will be signed only when the approved structural plan has been accepted by 
the vendor and approved by the relevant government authorities. The final agreement would be approved 
by the Group’s legal department to ensure that the terms are reasonable and in the interests of the Group, 
in particular, terms relating to recoverability risks for non-delivery. Development stages and milestones 
would be stated in the agreement and the progress of the projects will be monitored by the Group’s newly 
employed chief development officer, who is required to report to the chief executive officer on a weekly 
basis to ensure that the projects proceed as scheduled, to prevent unreasonable delay in completion 
of projects. The chief development officer will comply with the procedures set out in the internal control 
manual, which would include procedures of the proper initiation, monitoring, authorisation  and completion 
of transactions. The Audit Committee considers that the above measures are sufficient to reduce the risks 
faced by the Group in entering into acquisition of property transactions in the future.

The Audit Committee’s opinion on the internal control measures

The Audit Committee confirms that the internal control measures set forth above, together with the internal 
control improvement measures proposed by Moore Stephens, which have already been implemented, 
are sufficient based on their review of the issues identified by the Auditors, the documents reviewed, the 
discussions with the executive Director and senior management of the Group and the Moore Stephens 
Review Report.
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e. Prepayment of RMB84.0 million for the acquisition of a property in haifeng County for 
the haifeng store

Background information

Shanwei Shirble and Haifeng Wanye entered into the Haifeng Sale and Purchase Agreement on 28 
December 2011 for the acquisition of a property in Haifeng County at RMB168.0 million. Subsequently, 
Shanwei Shirble and Haifeng Wanye commenced the online signing procedures with the local government 
authorities in the PRC (for the purpose of applying for the building ownership certificate). The consideration 
for the property was stated as RMB100.0 million in the form submitted to the local government on 22 
March 2012. The lower amount was stated upon the request of Haifeng Wanye, which was one of the 
signing parties of the registration form. Haifeng Wanye confirmed to Shanwei Shirble that upon full payment 
of the consideration of RMB168.0 million by Shanwei Shirble to Haifeng Wanye, all the documents to be 
submitted to local government authorities and the licences to be issued will reflect that the consideration 
paid by the Group was RMB168.0 million. In order to ensure that Shanwei Shirble will obtain the building 
ownership certificate in its name, the Group settled RMB163.0 million and Haifeng Wanye agreed to 
process with the re-submission of online signing procedures with consideration of RMB168.0 million. The 
remaining balance of RMB5.0 million will be paid after issuance of the building ownership certificate.

The executive Director and the senior management of the Group were informed by Haifeng Wanye that the 
above arrangements were intended to be made for Haifeng Wanye’s tax planning purpose. At that time, the 
Group sought verbal legal advice from its PRC legal advisers and was advised that the consideration for 
the property registered with the government authorities should be the same as the consideration stipulated 
in the Haifeng Sale and Purchase Agreement. The PRC legal advisers also advised that there would be 
no legal or tax consequence for the Group if, upon full payment of the consideration of RMB168.0 million 
by the Group to Haifeng Wanye, all the documents to be submitted to local government authorities and 
the related certificates, would reflect the total amount of consideration of RMB168.0 million. Because the 
arrangement did not expose the Group to any additional payment obligation, the Group accepted the 
requests made by Haifeng Wanye.

As certain conditions under the Haifeng Sale and Purchase Agreement were not satisfied according to the 
delivery standards and additional structural modifications to the property, the consideration of RMB163.0 
million (being the amount to be paid for the processing of re-submission of online registration documents) 
was not paid by the Group at the time. Accordingly, the online registration documents which reflect the 
total amount of consideration of RMB168.0 million were not re-submitted promptly. The Directors confirm 
that the Group has settled the consideration of RMB163.0 million in July 2012 and the online registration 
documents with the updated consideration of RMB168.0 million was re-submitted on 1 August 2012. 
Pursuant to the Haifeng Sale and Purchase Agreement, the remaining balance of RMB5.0 million is 
expected to be made in around December 2012, when the building ownership certificate is expected to be 
available.

After the signing of the Haifeng Sale and Purchase Agreement, Shanwei Shirble and Haifeng Wanye agreed 
to reduce the amount of the first instalment from RMB89.0 million to RMB84.0 million. The Haifeng Sale 
and Purchase Agreement does not provide details of the adjustments to the amount of the first instalment. 
The Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors who are the members of the Audit 
Committee) confirm that the reduction of the amount of the first instalment does not constitute a material 
change as it is a change in the payment schedule. The Directors (including the independent non-executive 
Directors who are the members of the Audit Committee) confirm that the Company has complied with Rule 
14.36 of the Listing Rules in this regard. 
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The payment of RMB84.0 million was settled by the Group in two tranches: an amount of RMB16.0 million 
was paid by the Group to Haifeng Wanye in the PRC and the remaining balance of RMB68.0 million 
was paid by the Company in Hong Kong to three individuals and one company in their respective bank 
accounts in Hong Kong in accordance with the instructions given by Haifeng Wanye. These payments 
were made by the Group in November 2011 and were consistent with the terms of the payment method 
under the Haifeng Sale and Purchase Agreement which stated that the consideration would be paid to 
bank accounts as designated by Haifeng Wanye and approved by the Board. The executive Director and 
the senior management of the Group confirm that the payments made to Haifeng Wanye and its nominated 
persons were made upon the request of Haifeng Wanye. The Group was only provided with the written 
instructions but was not informed as to the relationships between the three offshore individuals, the offshore 
company and Haifeng Wanye.

In January 2012, the Group obtained the approval for fund transfer onshore after capital injection into 
the PRC to Shanwei Shirble. The Group, upon further discussions with Haifeng Wanye, made a further 
payment of RMB79.0 million (which included RMB11.0 million as partial settlement of second installment 
and RMB68.0 million, being the same amount originally paid in offshore) to Haifeng Wanye in the PRC on 
1 April 2012, and Haifeng Wanye refunded an amount of RMB68.0 million to the Group outside the PRC 
through the three offshore individuals and the offshore company during the period from 11 April 2012 to 13 
April 2012. In July 2012, the Group made a further payment of RMB68.0 million to Haifeng Wanye, so that 
a total of RMB163.0 million has been settled. The remaining balance of RMB5.0 million is expected to be 
made in around December 2012, which is the expected issuance date of the building ownership certificate 
pursuant to the Haifeng Sale and Purchase Agreement.

The Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors who are the members of the Audit 
Committee), to their best knowledge and having made reasonable enquiry, confirm that other than the 
acquisition of the property in Haifeng County, there was no prior business dealing or other relationship 
between each of the designated accounts holders (and their respective ultimate beneficial owners) and 
the Company, its subsidiaries and connected persons. The Directors (including the independent non-
executive Directors who are the members of the Audit Committee), however, consider that the Group may 
have business dealings with the holders of the designated bank accounts in the future if it is in the interest 
of the Group and Shareholders and such transaction(s) will be conducted in accordance with the PRC law 
and regulations and the Listing Rules.

The Group will continue to complete the acquisition under the Haifeng Sale and Purchase Agreement.

Nature of the transaction being the subject matter of the qualified opinion of the Auditors

The Auditors noted that part of the payment for the acquisition of property under the Haifeng Sale and 
Purchase Agreement was made to individuals and entities other than the developer and that the agreed 
consideration of RMB168.0 million was RMB68.0 million more than the consideration registered with the 
relevant government authorities and RMB32.0 million more than the valuation of the property carried out 
by one of the qualified valuers engaged by the Group for valuation of the Haifeng Property.

As such, the Audit Committee has conducted an independent review of the documents available to it and 
has meetings with the executive Director and senior management of the Group. The principal factors and 
reasons the Audit Committee have taken into account in assessing the commercial basis for the Haifeng 
Sale and Purchase Agreement are set forth below:–
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The Audit Committee’s consideration of the commercial basis for entering into the Haifeng Sale and 
Purchase Agreement

The Audit Committee noted that the property would be used by the Group for the opening of a new 
department store. The Group is engaged in the business of operating and managing department stores in 
the PRC. The acquisition of a property in Haifeng County was to enable the Group to establish its business 
presence in second- and third-tier cities in Guangdong Province. The Audit Committee therefore considers 
that the transaction was entered into in the interest of the Group within its ordinary course of business.

In considering whether the acquisition of a property located in Haifeng County was entered into under 
normal business practice, the Audit Committee has taken into consideration (a) the expansion plans of the 
Group as disclosed in the Prospectus and announcement in relation to the acquisition of the property in 
Haifeng County dated 28 December 2011 (the “haifeng Announcement”); (b) the payment terms under 
the Haifeng Sale and Purchase Agreement and (c) the PRC legal opinion in respect of the acquisition.

The Audit Committee noted that the expansion plans of the Group as disclosed in the Prospectus and the 
2011 Interim Report included plans to establish four to five new department stores in 2012 and intended 
to establish a network of department stores in the second- to third-tier cities in Guangdong Province and 
Hunan Province. It was further noted that after detailed feasibility study of the construction project for the 
property in Haifeng County and review of the Group’s financial condition, the Directors considered that it 
would be in the interest of the Group to acquire the property as disclosed in the Haifeng Announcement 
under section headed “Reasons for entering into the property transfer agreement”. The Audit Committee 
was further updated on the progress of the development of the Haifeng Store in Haifeng Country and 
it was noted that the Haifeng Store is opened in November 2012. The Audit Committee considers that 
there was commercial basis for the Group to enter into the Haifeng Sale and Purchase Agreement. The 
consideration under the Haifeng Sale and Purchase Agreement was negotiated on an arm’s length basis 
and hence, the Audit Committee, after reviewing two valuation reports of the relevant property conducted 
by Property Valuer A and Property Valuer B (one of which has a higher valuation than the consideration 
and one lower than the consideration), considers that the discrepancy of the two valuation reports of 
the relevant property should be considered as a discrepancy in the market comparables used, but not 
an indication that the consideration was substantially higher than the market value of the comparable 
properties.

The Audit Committee’s consideration of the commercial basis for the filing discrepancy and the 
payment arrangement under the Haifeng Agreement

The Audit Committee noted the discrepancy between the agreed amount of the consideration under the 
Haifeng Sale and Purchase Agreement and the amount stated in the online filing. The Audit Committee, 
following discussions with the executive Director and the senior management of the Group, noted that 
such discrepancy was insisted upon by Haifeng Wanye as one of the signing parties. The Audit Committee 
agrees that such arrangement was not satisfactory, but it would not result in any benefit to the Group and 
hence, there would be no incentive for the Group to be engaged in such practice. With the advice from 
the PRC Legal Advisers, there would be no legal or tax consequence on the Group if the correct amount 
of consideration will be updated in the final online filings. The Audit Committee is of the view that there 
was internal control weakness in this regard, and the Group should have rejected the request of Haifeng 

Wanye.
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The Audit Committee noted that the payment terms specified in the Haifeng Sale and Purchase Agreement, 

in particular, the payment arrangement which stated that the consideration shall be paid to bank accounts 

as designated by Haifeng Wanye. Hence, the Audit Committee considers that the payments made to 

Haifeng Wanye and its nominated persons were in strict compliance with the Haifeng Sale and Purchase 

Agreement and upon the request made by Haifeng Wanye, which is not inconsistent with the terms of the 

Haifeng Sale and Purchase Agreement.

Recent development of the acquisition

In July 2012, the Group made a further payment to Haifeng Wanye of RMB68.0 million and as a result, 

the Group has settled an amount of RMB163.0 million. The remaining balance of RMB5.0 million would be 

payable by the Group upon the issuance of the building ownership certificate of the property in the name 

of Shanwei Shirble, pursuant to the Haifeng Sale and Purchase Agreement, in around December 2012. The 

online registration documents reflecting the purchase price of RMB168.0 million were also re-submitted 

on 1 August 2012. The Haifeng Store was opened on 13 November 2012. The PRC legal advisers of the 

Group has confirmed that the commencement of business of the Haifeng Store is in compliance with the 

relevant PRC laws and regulations, and the opening and operation of the Haifeng Store is not contingent 

on obtaining the building ownership certificate.

Work done by the Audit Committee

To ascertain the representation made by the executive Director and senior management, the Audit 

Committee has conducted the following:–

1. Reviewing the Haifeng Sale and Purchase Agreement and confirming that the payment arrangement 

were made in accordance with the agreement and upon the request made by Haifeng Wanye.

2. Reviewing both valuation reports conducted by Property Valuer A and Property Valuer B (one of which 

has a valuation higher than the purchase price, and one lower than the purchase price) and the bases 

of their preparation and understand that the discrepancies were mainly due to the difference in market 

comparables.

3. Reviewing the PRC legal opinion in respect of the acquisition of Haifeng Store, and assess on the 

legal or tax consequence for the Group.

4. Reviewing the re-submitted online registration documents which reflect a total consideration of 

RMB168.0 million, and noted that all payments were made in accordance to the Haifeng Sale and 

Purchase Agreement.

5. Engaging Moore Stephens to perform the agreed-upon procedures to identify the factual issues 

leading to this qualified transaction and any matter that needs to be brought to the attention of the 

Audit Committee.
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The Audit Committee’s conclusion

The Audit Committee identified certain internal control issues which the Group needed to implement 

improvement measures. The Audit Committee also noted and agreed with Moore Stephens on the 

additional internal control weaknesses identified by Moore Stephens including the (a) lack of written 

documentation such as site visit findings report and written feasibility report; (b) lack of comprehensive 

consultation when a lower consideration of RMB100.0 million was submitted to the local government when 

the actual consideration was RMB168.0 million; (c) insufficient monitoring on the acquisition process which 

may have resulted in the delay in the project and pre-mature engagement of decoration contractor for the 

project; (d) lack of inexperienced staff in property acquisition to oversee the whole property acquisition 

process and (e) absence of detailed written internal control manual and checklists regarding the proper 

initiation, monitoring, authorisation and completion of the property acquisition agreement.

The Group sought legal and tax advices on issues related to its performance of agreements that may 

have legal or tax consequences on the Group from July 2012 onwards. The executive Director and senior 

management of the Group confirm that all future payments made by the Group pursuant to agreements 

will be made according to the terms of the agreements and directly to counterparties of the agreement. In 

addition, any required registration or reporting of the terms of agreements (including purchase price, etc.) 

to government authorities will be made strictly according to the terms of the agreements.

The Audit Committee’s opinion on the internal control measures

The Audit Committee confirms that the internal control measures set forth above, together with the internal 

control improvement measures proposed by Moore Stephens, which have already been implemented since 

July 2012, are sufficient based on their review of the issues identified by the Auditors, the documents 

reviewed, the discussions with the executive Director and senior management of the Group and the Moore 

Stephens Review Report.

f. Prepayment of RMB152.5 million made to the suppliers of the Group for the 
procurement of goods

Background information

Payments were made prior to the peak seasons, including the RMB110.0 million paid in January 2012, 

under three one-year agreements entered into by Shirble Department Store (Shenzhen) with three suppliers 

for procurement of goods, such as wine and food, before the peak seasons. The executive Director and 

the senior management of the Group confirmed that the purpose of entering into procurement agreements 

was to secure the supply of goods of high demand at competitive prices. The procurement of goods from 

the three suppliers in 2011 was made in contemplation of the Group’s then proposed expansion plans 

of the five new department stores in total in the fourth quarter of 2011 and the first quarter of 2012, in 

which one new department store commenced business in September 2011, two in December 2011, one 

in January 2012 and one in March 2012. Hence, the Group made the prepayment to the three suppliers 

for the purpose of securing sufficient supply (or at more competitive prices) of the goods which have high 

demand. 
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To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiry, all 

the three suppliers and their respective ultimate beneficial owners are Independent Third Parties. The 

prepayments to these three suppliers were made pursuant to the payment terms of the supplemental 

procurement agreements which required prepayment to be made before 31 December 2011 or 30 June 

2012 (as the case may be). All prepayments were made in accordance with the payment terms of the 

relevant supplemental procurement agreements except for one late prepayment of RMB10.0 million which 

was settled in January 2012.

Procurement agreements

The procurement agreements (as supplemented by the supplemental procurement agreements) were 

entered into between Shirble Department Store (Shenzhen) and the three suppliers on 26 August 2011, 

31 August 2011 and 16 September 2011, respectively. A summary of the terms of the procurement 

agreements (as supplemented by the supplemental procurement agreements) entered into with these three 

suppliers is set forth below:–

Prices and type 

 of goods:

The prices of the goods will be determined by the price list provided by the 

suppliers and accepted by Shirble Department Store (Shenzhen). The sample, 

specifications, model numbers, the place of manufacturer, grade, and price 

etc. of the goods shall be determined and accepted by Shirble Department 

Store (Shenzhen). The suppliers will provide the variety and type of goods 

that it has previously provided and a list of the latest offered goods to Shirble 

Department Store (Shenzhen) in order to determine the details and the 

purchase volume of the goods before signing the formal agreement.

term: One year from the respective date of the procurement agreements.

Payment: Prepayment may be made to the suppliers to secure specified order or 

discounted prices for particular goods. Otherwise, payment shall be made by 

cheque transfer upon delivery of goods.

The Group received some goods sourced from the three suppliers at more competitive prices. However, 

due to the market volatility and the fact that the supply and delivery time required by the suppliers did 

not satisfy the requirements of the Group, the suppliers agreed to refund the prepayments following 

various discussions with the Group. No termination agreements were entered into with the three suppliers. 

However, the executive Director and the senior management of the Group confirm that the Group has 

stopped procuring goods from the three suppliers since February 2012. The refund of the prepayments 

from the three suppliers were made on 31 December 2011, in March 2012 and April 2012.
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Following the termination of sourcing goods from the three suppliers, the Group sought alternative supply 

in order to secure sufficient supply of goods to customers at the peak season. The impact of the unfulfilled 

supplies on the operation of the Group was mitigated by the additional time required for the five new 

department stores to fully penetrate into the relevant local market. As three out of the five new department 

stores were opened in the fourth quarter of 2011, the business of the five new stores were not fully 

developed by the end of 2011. The level of demand was not as strong as the Group expected when the 

procurement agreements were signed and the cancellation of the sourcing arrangement only resulted in the 

loss of insignificant amount of potential sales. Hence, the executive Director and the senior management 

of the Group do not consider that the termination of the procurement agreements would have any material 

adverse impact on the Group.

No meeting of the Board was held for the approval of the procurement of goods as the transactions were 

part of the ordinary course of business of the Group, which were only subject to the approvals of the 

procurement director and the vice president. The Directors confirm that neither the procurement director 

nor the vice president is a member of the Board and both of them are senior management of the Group. 

No penalty was imposed as a result of early termination of the procurement agreements as there was no 

such provision in the agreements.

Nature of the transaction being the subject matter of the qualified opinion of the Auditors

The Auditors noted that during 2011, gross payments totalled RMB296.9 million were made to the three 

suppliers compared to RMB33.4 millions of goods received and that further payments totalling RMB110.0 

million were made by the Group to the relevant suppliers in January 2012, increasing the balance of 

prepayments to the three suppliers to RMB262.5 million. 

As such, the Audit Committee has conducted an independent review of the documents available to it 

and has meetings with the executive Director and senior management of the Group. The principal factors 

and reasons the Audit Committee have taken into account in assessing the commercial basis for the 

prepayments under the procurement contracts are set forth below.

The Audit Committee’s consideration of the commercial basis for making the prepayments under the 

procurement contracts

The Audit Committee considers that prepayments for procurement of goods is part of the ordinary course 

of business of the Group. Those goods, such as wine and food, are of high demand and the prepayments 

by Shirble Department Store (Shenzhen) were considered by the Audit Committee to be necessary for 

securing the supply of these goods at competitive prices. The Audit Committee also noted that the 

practice of making prepayment is not uncommon in the PRC, particularly for seasonal merchandise and 

gifts. Hence, the Audit Committee is of the view that the practice of prepayment for securing supply of 

goods would not create any concern on the commercial basis of such transactions.
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The Audit Committee further noted that the Group had policy in place for selecting suppliers. The Group 

will consider various factors, such as the reliability in terms of product quality, pricing, after-sales service 

and promotional back-up services. Suppliers are required by the Group to comply with the standard 

purchase terms and conditions of the Group. The Audit Committee noted that the three suppliers have 

been selected in accordance with the Group’s formal procedures for selection of suppliers, and consider 

that it is reasonable to explore new suppliers instead of the existing suppliers to increase the possibility 

of the procurement of goods at more competitive prices, and to procure for new stores situating in new 

markets.

The Audit Committee also compared the prices of goods procured from the three suppliers and the prices 

of goods offered by other suppliers. The Audit Committee confirms that the prices of goods offered by the 

three suppliers were generally lower than those offered by other suppliers.

Based on the above, the Audit Committee is of the view that the transactions in respect of the 

procurement of goods from the three suppliers have commercial basis and were conducted as part of the 

ordinary course of business of the Group.

Work done by the Audit Committee

To ascertain the representation made by the executive Director and senior management, the Audit 

Committee has conducted the following:–

1. Discussing and reviewing the background information of the three suppliers and has obtained the 

independence confirmation signed by each of the Directors of the Company confirming that the three 

suppliers are Independent Third Parties.

2. Reviewing the company search results which include information such as paid-up capital and 

shareholders of the three suppliers, and confirmed the existence of the three entities.

3. Reviewing the price and inventory list provided by the three suppliers and noted that they are able to 

provide goods at more competitive prices, or goods with tight supply but significant demand, though 

the supply level did not satisfy the requirement of the Group.

4. Reviewing the procurement contracts with the three suppliers and noted that the contracts are 

standard procurement contracts signed with all the suppliers of the Group.

5. Reviewing the supplemental procurement agreements with each of the three suppliers and noted that 

the refund from the suppliers were made in accordance to the supplemental agreements in the case 

of unsatisfied supply of goods.

6. Engaging Moore Stephens to perform the agreed-upon procedures to identify the factual issues 

leading to this qualified transaction and any matter that needs to be brought to the attention of the 

Audit Committee.
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The Audit Committee’s conclusion

Although the Audit Committee agrees that the transactions had their commercial basis, it is of the view 

that the entering into the procurement agreements with the three suppliers involved a number of risks. 

These risks include the risks on (a) the prepayment made to the Group’s suppliers without any assurance 

or security; (b) the lack of detailed research on the suppliers in advance; (c) the lack of prepayment 

approval procedures; (d) the lack of the formal termination of procurement agreements and (e) the lack of 

periodic updates to the approved list of suppliers. The Audit Committee also noted and agreed with Moore 

Stephens on the additional internal control weaknesses identified by Moore Stephens including the (a) lack 

of indication for the reviewed information in the supplier management system such that the reviewed and 

approved information cannot be distinguished from unapproved information; (b) loose supplier selection 

procedure where some information was omitted on the supplier assessment forms which may lead to poor 

procurement decisions and (c) absence of detailed written internal control manual and checklist regarding 

the proper initiation, monitoring, authorisation and completion of the whole procurement process, with 

some inconsistencies and deviation from the then internal control procedures. The following sets forth the 

new or enhanced internal control measures adopted by the Group in response to the risks.

(1) Prepayment approval procedures

The Group has implemented the following approval procedures for similar future transactions since 

June 2012. For prepayments under RMB3.0 million, approvals from the procurement director, financial 

director and the chief operating officer would be required prior to execution of relevant agreements. All 

prepayments between RMB3.0 million and RMB5.0 million would require additional approval from the 

chief financial officer. For prepayments over RMB5.0 million, additional approvals must be sought from 

the chief executive officer and a majority of the Directors before the signing of the agreements. The 

approval procedures will be subject to annual review by the Board to ensure that appropriate levels of 

approvals have been obtained for each transaction.

(2) Appointment of logistic director and procurement director

The Group also has employed a new logistic director in May 2012 to review and make appropriate 

improvement on the inventory and supply chain management of the Group with a view to reduce risks 

relating to returns and stagnant goods. A new procurement director was appointed in February 2012 

to improve the procurement process and implement related internal control improvement measures.

(3) Selection and updates of approved suppliers

The Group has enhanced the updating and control procedures on the information on suppliers and 

vendors. Although such information has been maintained by the Group since its establishment, there 

were no formal procedures adopted by the Group to ensure that the information was updated and 

correct. The Group has assigned the procurement department to monitor and perform regular checks 

and updates on the database since June 2012. The Group has also enhanced the assessment 

procedures of the suppliers which will be recorded in a standard formal assessment form and be 

submitted by procurement managers and reviewed and approved by the procurement director. All 

reviews and approvals will be clearly documented, including assessments on past transactions, so 

as to facilitate future decisions of the Group. The Group is in the process of updating its enterprise 
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resources management system and conducting training for various departments on the new enterprise 

resources management system. The trial operation of the enterprise resources management system 

has begun in October 2012. The updated system includes modules on supplier management which 

provide efficient update to the supplier information and standing and detect vendors of same name 

in the supplier database. The system would also allow a signatory function to distinguish reviewed 

information. Procurement procedures are included in a control manual which would include initiation, 

monitoring and completion of the procurement process.

(4) Establishment of legal department

The Group has established a legal department to ensure that all agreements to be entered into by the 

Group would be reviewed by qualified lawyers.

The Audit Committee’s opinion on the internal control measures

The Audit Committee confirms that the internal control measures set forth above, together with the internal 

control improvement measures proposed by Moore Stephens, which have already been implemented, 

are sufficient based on their review of the issues identified by the Auditors, the documents reviewed, the 

discussions with the executive Director and senior management of the Group and the Moore Stephens 

Review Report.

(ii) DEtAiLs On An inDiviDuAL whO wAs EithER DiRECtOR OR LEGAL REPREsEntAtivE 
fOR thREE EntitiEs whiCh wERE COuntERPARtiEs tO tRAnsACtiOns EntERED 
intO BY thE GROuP

Background information

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiry, Mr. A is 

an Independent Third Party. Mr. A acted on behalf of the counterparties under certain transactions set forth 

above, namely the transactions for (i)(c) the acquisition of land for the construction of the distribution centre in 

Shenzhen; (i)(d) the acquisition of the three-storey commercial property in Shenzhen from Shenzhen Hexinglong 

and (i)(f) the procurement of goods from one of the Group’s suppliers.

The executive Director confirms that Mr. A is a businessman in China and is one of his business acquaintance. 

The executive Director also confirms that Mr. A approached him in around 2010 for potential business 

cooperation. Mr. A is the director, legal representative or supervisor of a number of companies in the PRC 

engaging in different types of business activities.

Based on the public information obtained independently, Mr. A owns 87.5% of the equity interest in one of 

the Group’s suppliers. Shenzhen Hexinglong is owned by a company in which Mr. A holds 50% of the equity 

interest. Neither Mr. A nor any of his associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) is a shareholder of the vendor 

of the land for the construction of the distribution centre, but he is the supervisor of the vendor. The terms of 

the respective contracts in respect of the acquisition of the land for the construction of the distribution centre 

and the acquisition of a three-storey commercial property located in Shenzhen, including the payment terms 

set forth therein were approved by the Board. The payments to the three suppliers were not approved by the 

Directors as those transactions were considered to be part of the ordinary course of business of the Group.
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Other than the business relationships set forth above, the executive Director confirms that the Group does not 

have any other business with the companies with which Mr. A is related to.

Nature of the transaction being the subject matter of the qualified opinion of the Auditors

The Auditors noted that Mr. A was either a director or legal representatives of those entities listed above.

As such, the Audit Committee has conducted an independent review of the documents available to it and has 

meetings with the executive Director and the senior management of the Group.

The Audit Committee’s consideration of the nature of the transactions and the background of Mr. A

The Audit Committee’s review is focusing on whether those transactions were genuine transactions given the 

common control of the counterparties and whether Mr. A is an Independent Third Party.

The Audit Committee noted that, from the public information obtained independently, Mr. A is engaged in a 

wide range of businesses from property development to trading of goods and that to the best knowledge, 

information and belief of each of the Directors, having made all reasonable enquiry, Mr. A is an Independent 

Third Party. Based on the previous work done by the Audit Committee, the transactions involving Mr. A 

engaged by the Group were all supported by different commercial bases even though they were not completed 

as originally anticipated by the executive Director and the senior management of the Group.

Work done by the Audit Committee

In addition to meetings with the executive Director and the senior management of the Group, the Audit 

Committee has reviewed the relevant documents relating to the transactions involving Mr. A, directly and 

indirectly, namely the documents relating to the proposed acquisition of a distribution centre in Shenzhen and 

a commercial property in Shenzhen and the relevant procurement agreement. The Audit Committee has also 

reviewed information on the ownership of Shenzhen Hexinglong, the said supplier controlled by Mr. A and the 

vendor of the land for the construction of the distribution centre obtained from independent source and the 

independence confirmations signed by each of the Directors.

In addition, Moore Stephens were engaged by the Audit Committee to perform agreed-upon procedures to 

identify the factual issues of the background of Mr. A and any other matter that needs to be brought to the 

attention of the Audit Committee. The review indicates that the representations made by the executive Director 

and the senior management of the Group are correct. Moore Stephens are not aware of any connection 

between Mr. A and any Director or senior management of the Group, or is otherwise involved in other qualified 

transactions. 
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The Audit Committee’s conclusion

The review by the Audit Committee indicates that there was no particular risk involved in those transactions 

except as disclosed above, albeit that those transactions were engaged with Mr. A, directly or indirectly. The 

Audit Committee is of the view that business relationships in the PRC are important, but at the same time, the 

Group should strictly follow the established internal control procedures so that all transactions engaged by the 

Group will be conducted on an arm’s length basis upon normal commercial terms. Moore Stephens concur with 

the views adopted by the Audit Committee that the Group should strictly follow the internal control procedures 

so that all transactions engaged by the Group will be conducted on normal commercial terms when selecting 

the suppliers and vendors. Hence, the Audit Committee understands that the Group has implemented the 

following procedures.

The executive Director and the senior management of the Group confirm that the Group selects suppliers and 

vendors in accordance with its formal procedures. Suppliers must be reviewed under the selection process 

which includes due diligence check and analysis based on suppliers’ asking price, reputation, adequacy of 

stock and business history with the Group (if any). Assessments of the suppliers have been recorded on 

a standard formal assessment form which would be reviewed and approved by procurement director. The 

Directors confirm that the Group is in the process of upgrading its supplier and vendor management system 

which is expected to be able to provide comprehensive information on the background of the suppliers, 

including the detection and indication of same name in the vendor and supplier database.

The Audit Committee’s opinion on the internal control measures

In reply to the concern raised by the Auditors, the Audit Committee reviewed the related agreements for the 

transactions that involved Mr. A directly or indirectly. The Audit Committee did not identify any irregularity in 

those agreements or any unusual favourable terms provided to the companies involving Mr. A. The termination 

of those transactions was also made with sound commercial basis according to the review of the relevant 

documents and meetings with the executive Director and the senior management of the Group. In the absence 

of any specific issue raised by the Auditors and Moore Stephens, the Audit Committee is of the opinion that the 

internal control issues set forth above are sufficient. The mere fact that there were various transactions engaged 

by the Group with companies involving Mr. A is not a significant issue of concern from the Audit Committee.

(iii) QuALifiED tRAnsACtiOn invOLvinG ADvAnCEs fROM suPPLiERs tO thE GROuP

The balance represented the receipts from suppliers for provision of promotion and advertising services. Due 

to the implementation of more stringent policy by the PRC government in December 2011 – 商秩發[2011]485

號《清理整頓大型零售企業向供應商違規收費工作方案》 (the “notice”), Shirble Department Store (Shenzhen) will 

soon be subject to more stringent measures in the receipt of payments for certain promotion and advertising 

services as it has satisfied the two out of three conditions of being a large retailer as defined in the policy. 

Hence, Shirble Department Store (Shenzhen) refunded certain receipts to the suppliers in order to comply with 

the relevant regulation. The Directors consider that the Group can avoid the risk exposure to this regulation by 

returning these receipts to the suppliers subsequently. As of the date of this report, an amount of RMB63.6 
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million out of the RMB69.6 million has been refunded to the suppliers. The total amount of RMB63.6 million 

were refunded to the suppliers during the period between March and September 2012. The Group is currently 

in the process of negotiating with the suppliers on the refund schedule of the remaining balance, which is 

expected to be fully refunded to the suppliers by the end of March 2013.

No meeting of the Board was held for the approval of receipt of such amount as such fees are within the 

standard terms in all suppliers’ agreements as part of the ordinary course of business of the Group. Such 

transactions were only subject to procurement managers’ and vice presidents’ approval according to the 

Group’s internal operation manual.

Nature of the transaction being the subject matter of the qualified opinion of the Auditors

The Auditors noted that the advances from suppliers were received close to the financial reporting date, 

and that subsequent to 31 December 2011, an amount of RMB63.6 million out of the amount received was 

recorded as having been returned to the suppliers.

As such, the Audit Committee has conducted an independent review of the documents available to it and has 

meetings with the executive Director and the senior management of the Group.

Work done by the Audit Committee

To ascertain the representation made by the executive Director and the senior management of the Group, the 

Audit Committee has conducted the following:

1. Reviewing the lists of suppliers with the amount paid to the Group and the independence confirmation 

signed by each of the Directors of the Company, and noted that the Group has had continuous business 

relationships with 42 suppliers out of the 57 suppliers under the qualified transaction, and all of the 57 

suppliers and their respective ultimate beneficial owners are Independent Third Parties.

2. Reviewing the standard supplier’s agreements, and note that all the suppliers have entered into the 

standard supplier’s agreement with the Group and the advances from suppliers were received in 

accordance with the respective supplier’s agreements and are under ordinary course of business.

3. Reviewing the Notice, and note that the transaction involving advances from suppliers received by the 

Group in late 2011 represented receipts from suppliers for provision of promotion and advertising services 

by the Group. The Audit Committee further noted that receipt of fees for such services are considered 

accepted and usual practices of department stores and hypermarkets in the PRC.

4. Engaging Moore Stephens to perform the agreed-upon procedures to identify the factual issues leading to 

this qualified transaction and any matter that needs to be brought to the attention of the Audit Committee.
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The Audit Committee’s conclusion

The Audit Committee has taken into consideration (a) the Notice and (b) the list of suppliers with the advances 

received.

The Audit Committee noted that the qualified transaction involving advances from suppliers received by the 

Group in late 2011 represented receipts from suppliers for provision of promotion and advertising services by 

the Group. The Audit Committee noted that receipt of fees for such services are considered accepted and 

usual practices of department stores and hypermarkets in the PRC. The Audit Committee further noted that the 

suppliers have entered into the standard supplier’s agreement with the Group respectively and the advances 

from suppliers were received in accordance with the supplier’s agreements and are under ordinary course of 

business.

It was also noted by the Audit Committee that the Group has had continuous business relationships with 42 

suppliers out of the 57 suppliers under the qualified transaction. To the best of each Directors’ knowledge, 

information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiry, the Directors confirm that all of the 57 suppliers and 

their respective ultimate beneficial owners are Independent Third Parties.

The Audit Committee noted that the advances from the suppliers were received close to the financial reporting 

date and were returned subsequently from December 2011 to June 2012 due to the implementation of the 

more stringent policy imposed by the PRC government in December 2011.

Based on the above and the published timetable for the implementation of the Notice, the Audit Committee 

considers that it is reasonable for the Group to discuss with the suppliers to resolve the issues relating to 

the payment of fees. The fact that most of the transactions were completed around the year-end is a matter 

of coincidence in light of the published timetable for the implementation of the Notice. Hence, the Audit 

Committee considers that the transactions have their commercial basis and are part of the ordinary course of 

business of the Group. Nevertheless, the Audit Committee notes that certain internal control weakness and 

corresponding improvement measures identified by Moore Stephens could be implemented. Moore Stephens 

noted that there was an absence of a detailed written internal control manual regarding the proper initiation, 

monitoring, authorisation and completion of the payment cycle, with some inconsistencies and deviation from 

the internal control procedures being noted.
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The Audit Committee has engaged Moore Stephens, a firm of independent accountants, to review the circumstances 

leading to and the reasons for the transactions in the Auditors’ qualified opinion and the internal control improvement 

measures recommended to be taken by the Group. Moore Stephens have issued the Moore Stephens Review 

Report to the Audit Committee and the Audit Committee has reviewed the Moore Stephens Review Report. The 

following sets forth a summary of the procedures conducted by Moore Stephens in the preparation of the Moore 

Stephens Review Report and the recommendations from Moore Stephens to the Group.

PROCEDuREs COnDuCtED BY MOORE stEPhEns

The purpose of the Moore Stephens Review Report is to assist the Audit Committee to identify (a) the factual issues 

leading to the qualified transactions, (b) any matter that needs to be brought to the attention of the Audit Committee, 

and (c) internal control weaknesses in respect of the qualified transactions. Moore Stephens have confirmed in 

writing that they are satisfied on the scope of the procedures and the information received, so as to allow them to 

issue the Moore Stephens Review Report with the internal control improvement measures contained therein. Moore 

Stephens have performed the following:–

1. obtained from the management of the Group a list of the qualified transactions, all the relevant supporting 

documents for the transactions and the explanations for each of the qualified transactions;

2. reviewed the contents of the announcement;

3. visited the offices of the Group in Hong Kong and China and obtained such information and explanations from 

the management of the Group for the purpose of identifying the reasons for the qualified transactions and the 

termination of such transactions;

4. reviewed the relevant information provided relating to each of the qualified transactions, such as, inspection of 

the original documents, where applicable;

5. performed detailed walk-through procedures to understand/identify the flows for each of the qualified 

transactions and the factual consequences leading to the subsequent termination of the transactions;

6. discussed with the management of the Group their explanations for the events surrounding the qualified 

transactions and obtained further supporting information from the management of the Group so as to obtain a 

preliminary understanding of the factual circumstances on the qualified transactions;

7. reviewed the documents received in relation to the qualified transactions in order to identify any inconsistencies 

between these documents and the representations made by the management of the Group (including all the 

factual information set forth in the announcement);

8. provided their views on each of the qualified transactions and the factors taken into account in formulating their 

views;
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9. checked whether the factual circumstances identified are consistent with the understanding of those qualified 

transactions amongst members of the Audit Committee and set forth in the announcement;

10. checked whether there are other material facts or documents leading to any of the qualified transactions and 

the subsequent termination thereof that the members of the Audit Committee were not aware of as set forth in 

the announcement;

11. determined whether the qualified transactions were primarily caused by internal control weaknesses of the 

Group and/or other reasons, such as inexperience in handling all required legal procedures and legal due 

diligence in acquiring properties for business purposes;

12. identified the internal control weaknesses of the Group;

13. assessed the adequacy of the new internal control improvement measures as set forth in the announcement;

14. commented on the remedial measures in the circumstances where the reasons for the qualified transactions are 

not related to internal control weaknesses;

15. obtained from the management of the Group and the Directors a list of their related parties as defined 

under Hong Kong Accounting Standard 24 (Revised) “Related Party Disclosures” issued by the HKICPA and 

connected persons as defined under Listing Rule 14A.11 in order to identify any related parties or connected 

persons involved in the qualified transactions;

16. performed litigation search and engaged independent search consultants to carry out background searches 

on each of the counterparties of the qualified transactions and the key management personnel, including the 

Directors, on a sampling basis;

17. compared the lists of related parties and connected persons of key management personnel, including 

the Directors, obtained from the management of the Group with the list of counterparties to the qualified 

transactions in order to identify whether the counterparties to the qualified transactions and the lists obtained 

have common parties;

18. sent confirmation letters to the key management personnel and the Directors to confirm their relationship with 

the counterparties to the qualified transactions; and

19. discussed with the management of the Group and obtained relevant documents, such as written control 

manuals, for the new internal control improvement measures and conducted a review of the implementation of 

the new measures by selecting transactions and the new internal control improvement measures.
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suMMARY Of finDinGs

Moore Stephens have confirmed to the Audit Committee that, with the above scope of work and the information 

received, they have obtained sufficient information for the issue of the Moore Stephens Review Report. The following 

sets forth a summary of the findings of each of the qualified transactions:

(a) Prepayment of RMB21.0 million for the decoration of the property for the Meizhou store

Moore Stephens consider that the early engagement of the decoration company for the property and the 

prepayment of the RMB21.0 million was not exceptional as the Group has made prepayments for other 

decoration contractors previously. Moore Stephens also consider that the engagement of the decoration 

company, which is one of the approved contractors of the Group and has been engaged by the Group for 

other project in the past, by the Group at that time was clearly supported by a reasonable anticipation that the 

Group would be able to purchase the property for the Meizhou Store. In addition, Moore Stephens understand 

that prior to 2012, the Group’s decision for making prepayments to decoration contractors was mainly based 

on the Group’s business considerations with no standard policy in place. Hence Moore Stephens consider that 

the Group’s prepayment of 70% of the contract sum was not exceptional and under normal business practice 

of the Group. Notwithstanding the above, Moore Stephens consider that the prepayment was made, in the 

context of internal control procedures implemented by the Group on the engagement of decoration contractors 

and the purchase of property for the department stores of the Group at the time of qualified transactions, were 

not adequate. For details of the additional internal control weaknesses identified by Moore Stephens, please 

refer to the paragraph headed “The Audit Committee’s Conclusion” under this qualified transaction in Section 

“Response from the Directors” of this report.

(b) Prepayment of RMB34.3 million for the decoration of the property for the haifeng store

Moore Stephens consider that the internal control weakness in this regard was identical to the weakness set 

forth in (a) above. There was reasonable anticipation that the Group would be able to acquire the property for 

the Haifeng Store. Hence, it would be reasonable for the Group to engage a decoration company, which is 

one of the approved contractors of the Group and has been engaged by the Group for other projects in the 

past, in order to shorten the time required for interior decoration of the property. The prepayment of 70% of the 

contract sum was also not exceptional and under normal business practice of the Group. Notwithstanding the 

above, Moore Stephens consider that the prepayment was made, in the context of internal control procedures 

implemented by the Group on the engagement of decoration contractors and the purchase of property for the 

department stores of the Group at the time of the qualified transactions, were not adequate. For details of the 

additional internal control weaknesses identified by Moore Stephens, please refer to the paragraph headed “The 

Audit Committee’s Conclusion” under this qualified transaction in Section “Response from the Directors” of this 

report.
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(c) Payment of deposit of RMB41.25 million for the acquisition of a distribution centre in 
shenzhen

Having reviewed all the supporting documents, Moore Stephens are of the view that the payment of deposit 

of RMB41.25 million was made with reasonable anticipation that the Group would proceed to acquire the 

property for the Group’s distribution centre in Shenzhen. The subsequent termination of the acquisition of the 

property reflected (i) the lack of experience of the management of the Group in handling all the required legal 

procedures and legal due diligence in acquiring properties for business purposes and (ii) the lack of internal and 

approvals procedures for the purchase of property. The Group’s failure to identify the relevant legal defects prior 

to entering into legally binding agreements also highlights that the Group needs to improve the internal control 

improvement measures related to capital investment projects. For details of the additional internal control 

weaknesses identified by Moore Stephens, please refer to the paragraph headed “The Audit Committee’s 

Conclusion” under this qualified transaction in Section “Response from the Directors” of this report.

(d) Prepayment of RMB131.25 million for the acquisition of a three-storey commercial property 
in shenzhen

Moore Stephens consider that the reason for the cancellation of the acquisition of a three-storey commercial 

property in Shenzhen was primarily due to the lack of experience of the management of the Group in handling 

the legal process and identifying the legal pitfalls in property acquisition transactions. The lack of experience, 

together with the Group’s aggressive plan for expansion of the department store network with inadequate 

procedures and measures on internal control, were the primary reasons for the Group’s failure to identify 

the relevant legal defects prior to entering into legally binding agreements. For details of the additional 

internal control weaknesses identified by Moore Stephens, please refer to the paragraph headed “The Audit 

Committee’s Conclusion” under this qualified transaction in Section “Response from the Directors” of this 

report.

(e) Prepayment of RMB84.0 million for the acquisition of a property in haifeng County for the 
haifeng store

On the prepayment of RMB84.0 million for the acquisition of a property in Haifeng County for the Haifeng Store, 

Moore Stephens consider that the primary reasons for the discrepancy between the purchase consideration 

and the consideration in the initial online registration document submitted to local government, as well as the 

payments to non-contracting parties, were due to the lack of experience of the management of the Group 

in handling the required legal procedures and in understanding the legal implications that may arise from 

the requests from the vendor. For details of the additional internal control weaknesses identified by Moore 

Stephens, please refer to the paragraph headed “The Audit Committee’s Conclusion” under this qualified 

transaction in Section “Response from the Directors” of this report.
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(f) Prepayment of RMB152.5 million made to the suppliers of the Group for the procurement of 
goods

Regarding the prepayment of RMB152.5 million to the suppliers of the Group for the procurement of goods, 

Moore Stephens consider that the procurement of goods were part of the ordinary course of business of 

the Group. The prepayments were made with the background that the Group has an expanded network of 

department stores and the anticipated high demand for the merchandises during the holiday seasons. There 

was a lack of internal control improvement measures, and an unsystematic assessment, filings and collection of 

suppliers’ information. For details of the additional internal control weaknesses identified by Moore Stephens, 

please refer to the paragraph headed “The Audit Committee’s Conclusion” under this qualified transaction in 

Section “Response from the Directors” of this report.

(g) Details on an individual who was either director or legal representative for three entities 
which were counterparties to transactions entered into by the Group

Regarding the individual, Mr. A, Moore Stephens noted that he has 50.0% of the equity interest in a company 

which owns Shenzhen Hexinglong. Mr. A is also the legal representative and the director of Shenzhen 

Hexinglong. In addition, Mr. A owns 87.5% of the equity interest in one of the Group’s suppliers and is the legal 

representative of such supplier. Mr. A is also the supervisor of the vendor of the land for the construction of 

the distribution centre in Shenzhen. From the independent search report conducted by an independent search 

consultants on Mr. A, Moore Stephens are not aware of any connection between Mr. A and the Group or any of 

the key management personnel, including the Directors, or is otherwise involved in other qualified transactions. 

Mr. A is a business acquaintance of the Group. Moore Stephens concur with the views adopted by the Audit 

Committee that the Group should strictly follow the internal control procedures so that all transactions engaged 

by the Group will be conducted on normal commercial terms when selecting the suppliers and vendors.

(h) Qualified transaction involving advances from suppliers to the Group

The receipt of the advances from suppliers to the Group, despite the fact that the advances were part of the 

ordinary course of business of the Group as the Group has received these advances in the past, did not cease 

even after the introduction of the new laws and regulations. Moore Stephens consider that the reasons for the 

qualified transactions were primarily due to the inadequate internal control procedures implemented by the 

Group at the time of qualified transactions. For details of the additional internal control weaknesses identified by 

Moore Stephens, please refer to the paragraph headed “The Audit Committee’s Conclusion” under this qualified 

transaction in Section “Response from the Directors” of this report.

(i) independence background search

Independent search consultants were engaged by Moore Stephens to carry out background searches on such 

counterparties for each of the qualified transactions so as to allow Moore Stephens to form their opinion. 

Background searches were also conducted by the independent search consultants on the key management 

personnel, including the Directors, on a selection basis based on their position and date of employment/

appointment. No irregularities relating to the Group or any of the key management personnel, including the 

Directors of the Group or any special connection between the counterparties and the Group or any of the key 

management personnel, including the Directors, are noted.
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COnCLusiOn

Moore Stephens’ views are that the Group’s internal control would need to be improved in light of the qualified 

transactions. All the qualified transactions were primarily due to the inadequate internal control procedures 

implemented by the Group at the time of the qualified transactions. Moore Stephens have reviewed the findings of 

the Audit Committee and concurs with the Audit Committee that the findings represented the factual circumstances 

leading to the qualified transactions.

Moore Stephens confirm that nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the Group has 

not implemented all the internal control improvement measures as detailed in the Moore Stephens Review Report. 

Based on their work performed and their past experience and expertise on internal control, Moore Stephens do not 

consider that the steps performed are ineffective and insufficient to identify the causes of the qualified transactions. 

Including the internal control improvements measures identified by Moore Stephens, they are not aware that the 

internal control improvement measures are inadequate based on their expertise and past experience on internal 

control.

Copies of the Moore Stephens Review Report will be available for inspection at the principal office of the Company 

in Hong Kong at Suite 1402, Dah Sing Financial Centre, 108 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong during normal 

business hours from the date of the announcement up to seven days thereafter.
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